
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 

a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 23 June 2022 

Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: 

 

The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

15 June 2022 

 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

ii) Other Interests 
 

 

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6) 

4. Revised Corporate Enforcement Policy and Environmental Enforcement Policy 
(Pages 7 - 30) 

5. In-Person/Remote Committee Meetings Update (Pages 31 - 36) 

6. Scrutiny Review (Pages 37 - 56) 

7. Review of Age Designation Accommodation & Older Persons Services Report 
(Pages 57 - 64) 

8. Appointment to Outside Bodies (Pages 65 - 66) 

9. High Peak Local Plan Review (Pages 67 - 172) 

10. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 

items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

PART 2 

11. Levelling Up Fund  

 (Paragraph 3, 5 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information)  

Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 
be maintained in legal proceedings. ) 

 

Public Document Pack



 

12. Update on the Norse Joint Venture (Pages 173 - 192) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 
 

 
MARK TRILLO 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of The Executive 

Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor A Barrow Councillor F Sloman 

Councillor J Todd  
 



 
 

 

 
THE EXECUTIVE 

 
Meeting: Thursday, 7 April 2022 at 6.00 pm in The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, 

Buxton 

 

Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair)   
 

 Councillors A Barrow and J Todd 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors T Ashton, 

D Greenhalgh and F Sloman 
 

Councillor J Collins was in attendance. 

 
22/56 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

(Agenda Item 2) 
 

There were no declarations made. 

 
22/57 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 3) 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2022 be approved as a 

correct record. 
 

22/58 ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

The purpose of the report is to present the Council’s Annual Report for 
2020/21, this is a core document which compares High Peak’s performance 
and costs with councils in the East Midlands region and nationally, and 

highlights further action where needed.  The report had been considered by 
Corporate Select Committee on 28 March 2022. 

 
Options considered: This report was for information with no decision 
required of the Committee. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the findings of the benchmarking exercises and the additional priority 
actions for the Corporate Plan suggested for the following 12 months be 

noted. 
 

22/59 PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK 2022/25 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 

The report provided members with an opportunity to scrutinise the draft 
Performance Framework and associated targets for 2022/25.  The report 

had been considered at a Performance Framework Workshop on 14 March 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive 
Thursday, 7 April 2022 

 

 
 

and Corporate Select Committee on 28 March, and the additional 
recommendations made were set out within the report. 
 

Options considered: Members are asked to consider the proposed targets 
and to suggest amendments if they consider that they are necessary. A 

Performance Framework Workshop took place on 14 March where it was 
resolved that a new measure around housing land supply should be 
included. 

 
It was noted that pending further discussion, there may be some 

amendments to the monitoring and reporting on climate change measures. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That, subject to the inclusion of the recommendations from Corporate Select 

Committee set out at paragraph 3.3 of the report, the Performance 
Framework for 2022/25 be approved. 
 

22/60 REVIEW OF EQUALITY OBJECTIVES 

(Agenda Item 6) 
 

The report proposed revised Equality Objectives for the Council and the 
adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance’s (“HRA”) 

definition of antisemitism.  The report had been considered by Corporate 
Select Committee on 28 March 2022. 
 

Options considered: To approve, or not, the recommendations within the 
report 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the revised Equality Objectives be adopted; and 
2. That the IHRA definition of antisemitism, together with its illustrative 

examples, be adopted incorporating it as an appendix to the Council’s 
Equality and Diversity Policy. 

 
22/61 REVISED PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING RENEWAL ASSISTANCE 

POLICY 2021-26 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 

The report set out the draft revised Private Sector Housing Renewal 

Assistance Policy for High Peak Borough Council following public 
consultation.  The draft Strategy had been considered by Community Select 

Committee on 9 March 2022. 
 
Options considered: Public consultation had been undertaken on the draft 

Policy, the details of which were set out in the report. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the revised High Peak Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance 

Policy for 2021 – 26 be approved. 
 Page 4



The Executive 
Thursday, 7 April 2022 

 

 
 

22/62 TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM 
THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE 
DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 

PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972. 

(Agenda Item 8) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business as there may be disclosure of 

exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

22/63 TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2022 be 
approved as a correct record. 

 
22/64 JOHN BETTS 

 

Councillor Barrow thanked John Betts on behalf of the Executive for all his 
work for the Council and conveyed their best wishes for the future. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 6.24 pm 

 
 
 

 
 
CHAIR 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

23 June 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendices Attached - Appendix A – Revised Corporate Enforcement Policy; 
Appendix B - Revised Environmental Enforcement Policy 

 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 The report presents an updated Corporate Enforcement Policy which sets out 
the Council’s general approach to enforcement. It also presents a revised 
policy on enforcing environmental crimes. 

 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Executive approves the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy at 

Appendix A. 

 
2.2 That the Executive approves the revised Policy on Enforcement of 

Environmental Crimes provided at Appendix B. 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The Council engages in regulatory enforcement when delivering certain 

functions including environmental health, environmental crime, licensing, 
development control, housing and finance.  

 
3.2 The Council’s Corporate Enforcement Policy is intended to be an over-arching 

document which can be supplemented by enforcement policies specific to 

each area of the Council’s enforcement activity.  
 

3.3 As a whole, the Council’s enforcement policies are a guide for businesses and 
individuals who may be subject to regulation. The documents set out what 
they can expect from the Council’s regulatory services, as well as providing 

TITLE: Revised Corporate Enforcement Policy and 
Environmental Enforcement Policy  

 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Alan Barrow – Corporate Services 
and Finance 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Paul Rushworth Head of Legal Services and 
David Smith Head of Communities and 

Climate Change 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  All   

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



  

the public with a statement of the Council’s intent on enforcement. To this end 
the policies, once approved, will be publicised on the Council’s website and 
elsewhere as appropriate. 

 
3.4 The Council has reviewed and updated its Corporate Enforcement Policy, to 

reflect revised regulatory guidance, and a copy can be found at Appendix A.  
 

3.5 The Council’s Environmental Enforcement Policy was adopted in 2017. The 

Corporate Plan 2019-2023 committed to reviewing the policy as a means of 
taking steps to further reduce dog fouling and littering. 

 
3.6 The revised policy, which can be found at Appendix B, confirms the Council’s 

triple-track approach to responding to environmental crimes that consists of 

Education, Enforcement and Cleansing. The policy recognises the Council’s 
changed operating model following the creation of Alliance Environmental 

Services (AES) and the role of Council services in delivering the policy 
following internal restructuring. 
 

4. How this report links to Corporate Aims:  

 

4.1 This report supports the Corporate aims of: 

 supporting communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High 

Peak.  

 a responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward-thinking 

Council. 

 protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth. 

 protect and improve the environment.  

 

4.2 It also fulfils the commitment within the corporate plan to review the Council’s 

Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes to take steps to further reduce 

dog fouling and littering. 

 

5. Options and Analysis 

 

5.1 There are no options to consider in this report because to be an effective 

regulator the Council needs to have a robust enforcement policies in place. 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



  

6. Implications 

 

6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

Section 17 of The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires Local 

Authorities to exercise their functions with due regard to the likely 

effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to 

prevent, crime and disorder. The Enforcement Policy will support 

those statutory requirements.   

 

6.2 Workforce 

There are no significant impacts on the workforce.  

 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 

An impact assessment has been completed.   

 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

None  

    

6.5 Legal 

The polices presented in this report are consistent with the 

Regulators’ Code 2014, which was published pursuant to Section 

23 of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. The policies 

will support consistent decision taking in enforcement action in the 

interests of certainty for those affected by such action.   

  

6.6 Sustainability 

The Council’s enforcement policies will be used to protect from 

harm and preserve the environment in the Borough, supporting the 

Council’s climate change ambitions. 

 

6.7 

 

Consultation 

The service areas with regulatory functions have been consulted 

ahead of drafting this report.  

Page 9



  

 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

None  

 

Mark Trillo 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Governance & Commissioning) 

 

Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

The Regulators Code 

2014  

Weblink  Paul Rushworth  

paul.rushworth@highpeak.gov.uk 

David Smith 

david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 

 

7 Detail 

 

7.1 The principle legislative Act regarding enforcement by the Council is the 

Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 which endeavours to ensure 

that local authority regulatory enforcement is carried out in a way which is 

transparent, proportionate, consistent and targeted only at cases in which 

action is needed. The Council’s policies are periodically reviewed to take into 

account legislative changes and to ensure the policies are aligned with the 

Council’s corporate objectives and evolving service delivery models.    

 

7.2 The revised policy on enforcing environmental crimes confirms the Council’s 

triple-track approach to responding to such crimes that consists of Education, 

Enforcement and Cleansing. It emphasises the importance of targeted action 

by Council Officers, and the importance of targeting activity in those areas that 

are experiencing the greatest problems. The revised policy recognises the 

Council’s changed operating model following the creation of Alliance 

Environmental Services (AES) and the role of Council services in delivering 

the policy following internal restructuring. 

 

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code


  

7.3 The Council’s other service areas with enforcement activity will revise their 

service specific policies to ensure they are consistent with the overarching 

themes in the policies attached to this report. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

High Peak Borough Council 

 

Corporate Enforcement Policy 

 

1 Introduction  

 

The Council carries out a range of different enforcement activity with the aim of making 

sure that: 

 

 compliance with those laws that fall within the Authority’s remit is promoted 

and encouraged; 

 law abiding businesses, individuals and others are not disadvantaged. 

 the risks and harm to the community are reduced by dealing effectively with 

breaches of the law; and  

 offenders are held to account where appropriate. 

 

This policy sets out the Council’s general approach to enforcement. It is not intended to 

provide procedures for any particular action that may be contemplated or taking place. 

The Council may produce more specific policies on certain areas or aspects of 

enforcement and this policy should be read in conjunction with any such guidance. 

 

The protocol has been drawn up with regard to the Regulators’ Code (published by the 

Department for Business Innovation & Skills) that came into statutory effect on 6 April 

2014; the earlier Regulators’ Compliance Code (2008) and Enforcement Concordat 

(1998), the Code for Crown Prosecutors and other enabling legislation and guidance.  

 

The enforcement policy reflects the principles of the Council's Corporate Aims: 

 supporting communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak.  

 a responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward-thinking Council. 

 protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth. 

 protect and improve the environment.  

Page 13



 2 

 

2 The Principles of Enforcement 

 

The Council believes in firm but fair enforcement of the law. It will apply the following 

principles when engaging in enforcement activity: 

 

 Openness. We will be open about how we work and about the rules that we 

apply. We will discuss compliance failures or problems with anyone experiencing 

difficulties. We will seek to establish mechanisms to engage with those that we 

regulate, residents and others and allow them to contribute to the development of 

our policies and service standards. Before changing policies, practices or service 

standards, we will consider the impact on any affected groups and engage with 

those groups where possible and appropriate. 

 

 Avoid unnecessary regulatory burdens.
 

We will seek to carry out our activities 

in a way that supports those that we regulate to comply and grow. We will take 

steps to understand and minimise negative economic impacts of enforcement 

activity, minimise the costs of compliance, and encourage and promote 

compliance.  

 

 Consistency. Whilst officers are expected to exercise judgement in individual 

cases, we will strive to carry out our duties in a fair, equitable and consistent 

manner. 

 

 Helpfulness. We believe that prevention is better than cure and our role involves 

working with businesses, individuals and others to advise on, and assist with, 

compliance where possible.  We will seek to provide advice and guidance to help 

people understand and meet their responsibilities. We will consider providing an 

opportunity for discussion before taking formal enforcement action; although there 

may be times when immediate enforcement action is required to prevent or 

Page 14



 3 

respond to a serious breach or where providing such an opportunity would be 

likely to defeat the purpose of the proposed enforcement action. 

 

 Clarity. We will clearly explain what the non-compliant activity, item, behaviour, 

etc is; the advice being given; actions required, or decisions taken; and the 

reasons for these. Where appropriate, we will clearly explain the potential 

consequences of failing to comply with the law. We will distinguish wherever 

necessary between legal requirements (“must do”) and good practice advice 

(“should do”).  

 

 Targeted activity based on risk. The Council will take an evidence based 

approach to determining the priority risks and allocate resources where they would 

be most effective in addressing those priority risks. The Council will prioritise those 

persons or activities that give rise to the most serious risks or where hazards are 

least well controlled. it will focus on those who are responsible for the breach of 

legislation and those who are best placed to control or prevent it. Poorly managed 

businesses or other areas of high risk are likely to receive more frequent 

inspections so that the Council can give public assurance that such risks are 

properly controlled. 

 

 Proportionality. Any enforcement action will be proportionate to the risks to 

health, safety and wellbeing, or to the seriousness of any breach, which includes 

any actual or potential harm arising from the breach. We will take account of how 

far an offender has fallen short of what the law requires and any steps that have 

been taken to prevent or remedy the breach. 

 

 Partnership approach. The Council will seek to provide a joined-up approach to 

enforcement by taking account of the complaints received, and actions taken, by 

our partners and other Council services. Where the law allows, we will share 

information with others to help target resources and minimise duplication. 

 

Page 15



 4 

 

3 Relevant Factors 

 

Decisions on enforcement action are largely discretionary, involving judgements by the 

officer in charge of the case. Officers will consider a range of factors when considering 

action including:  

 

Factors relating to the offence committed: 

 

 Seriousness of the offence, especially involving risk to the public. 

 The age of the offence and, particularly, whether it falls outside any limits on taking 

legal action. 

 Whether the offence is likely to be continued or repeated. 

 Whether the offence has come to light as the result of a complaint or information 

from an outside body. 

 Whether there has been a blatant disregard of legislation. 

 Whether previous action has been unable to resolve the problem. 

 Whether the offence undermines the Council’s Corporate aims and objectives 

including the protection and improvement of the environment (for example fly 

tipping and dog fouling).  

 

Factors relating to the victim: 

 

 The impact on the safety, quality of life, etc of the people affected. 

 Whether the victim was a staff member (the Authority will not tolerate abuse, 

violence, etc directed at staff members and will normally prosecute in such 

circumstances). 

 The views of the aggrieved person/people. 

 Impact on the wider community. 

 

Factors relating to the offender: 

Page 16



 5 

 

 The circumstances, state of mind and attitude of the offender. 

 Whether the offender has taken any action to resolve the problem.  

 Whether there has been an element of fraud, negligence or recklessness in the 

commission of the offence.  

 Past conduct and previous history of the offender including previous similar 

convictions or cautions.  

 

Legal considerations: 

 

 Alternative remedies.  

 The likely penalty as opposed to the cost of investigation. 

 The effect of likely defences and mitigation.  

 Whether a prosecution could test an important legal point or set a precedent. 

 Whether it would be in the public interest, having regard to all the circumstances of 

the case, to institute legal proceedings. 

 

Officers should be mindful of the principles set out in this protocol when taking any 

action and the relevant factors outlined above. Any deviation from this approach should 

only take place where an officer believes that a specific provision is not applicable or is 

outweighed by another relevant consideration. Such decisions should be made on the 

basis of material evidence and officers should clearly record the reasons for the 

decision. 

 

4 Enforcement Options 

 

Where there has been an alleged breach of legislation, there are several alternatives for 

action depending on the nature, seriousness and public interest of the alleged 

infringement. The possible courses of action include (not all actions are available to all 

areas of enforcement):  

 

Page 17



 6 

 providing oral and written information and advice (which may include warnings that 

in the opinion of the Council there is a failure to comply with the law and setting out 

the potential consequences of such activity/behaviour); 

 seeking improvements or cessation of activity; 

 taking immediate or subsequent direct action to remedy the breach; 

 prohibiting activities or withdrawing approval of their continuance; 

 varying conditions or exemptions in licences;  

 issuing fixed penalty notices; 

 formal cautions. A caution will only be issued if there is sufficient evidence of guilt, 

the offender is over eighteen years old, the offender admits the offence, and 

consents to the caution. 

 immediate or direct action. 

 prosecution thought the courts if there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic 

prospect of conviction and the Authority decides that prosecution would be in the 

public interest; and 

 injunctions and other civil sanctions. 

 

Council employees carry out important functions on behalf of local communities and 

often in difficult circumstances. The Council recognises that it has a duty to protect its 

staff members and therefore wants to send a clear message that any physical or verbal 

assaults on Council officers whilst carrying out their duties will not be tolerated. The 

Council will generally seek to prosecute anyone assaulting or otherwise abusing its 

workforce by either liaising with the local police or by taking a private prosecution. 

 

5 Appointment, Training and Development of Officers 

 

All officers will undergo a rigorous recruitment and selection process prior to 

appointment to make sure that they are able to meet the Council’s expectations in terms 

of professionalism, discretion, impartiality, balanced decision-making, etc. 

 

Page 18



 7 

Appropriate training will be provided to officers to ensure that they have the skills and 

knowledge to perform their role competently. 

The performance of officers will be monitored and steps will be taken to address any 

deviation from expected standards. 

 

6 Shared Regulatory Roles 

 

The Council recognises that problems experienced by members of the community may 

be complex and require the input of several sections of the Council to resolve. The 

Council will seek to provide a joined-up response wherever possible. This means that 

the local authority will: 

 

 Identify a single point of contact, so that members of the public do not have to 

speak to multiple Council officers about their problem; 

 Check with other Council services to see if they have had any involvement with the 

reported issue; 

 Seek to use the full range of powers available to the Authority to resolve problems. 

 

7 Role of Councillors 

 

Councillors play an important role in supporting enforcement activity by the local 

authority, such as by: 

 

 Developing the Authority’s enforcement policies and reviewing their 

implementation; 

 Serving on regulatory committees, such as those covering planning and licensing 

functions; 

 Responding to constituents’ concerns about enforcement action including cases 

where the Authority decides not to take action; and 

 Encouraging members of the public to report breaches of the law where 

appropriate. 

Page 19



 8 

 

8 Reporting problems 

 

The trigger for enforcement action will often be the receipt of a complaint from a 

member of the public about a problem that is affecting them. We encourage people to 

report problems and they can do so by completing one of the “Do it online” forms on the 

Council’s website, by calling 0345 605 3010 or 01538 395400, or by writing to Buxton 

Town Hall, Buxton, SK17 6DZ.  

 

Complainants will be asked to give their full contact details and to describe in detail the 

nature of the problem. Where the Council can lawfully refuse to disclose information, 

details will not be made known to anyone other than those professional officers dealing 

with the case. Complainant’s details are confidential and, as personal information under 

the General Data Protection Regulation and the Data Protection Act 2018, are exempt 

from release under Section 40 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 

We will acknowledge your enquiry within 5 working days of receiving the complaint. Our 

officers will then carry out an initial investigation of the problem. We will keep you aware 

of the progress of our investigations and, where applicable, any subsequent 

enforcement action. 

 

9 Complaints process 

 

Many of the pieces of legislation under which the Council enforces contain procedures 

for appeal against enforcement decisions to independent bodies such as the Planning 

Inspectorate and Magistrates’ Court. Any such appeal mechanisms will be 

communicated at the time of enforcement action.  

 

Anyone wishing to complain about the Council’s services or officers can do so by 

contacting the Council’s Complaints Officer. This can be done by completing our on-line 

Page 20



 9 

complaints form at www.highpeak.gov.uk or by writing to the Complaints Officer at 

Buxton Town Hall, Buxton, SK17 6DZ.   

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes 

 

1 Introduction 

This policy has been produced to support the Councils’ commitment to protect and 

improve the environment. The Councils believes that: 

 Tackling environmental crimes is a priority for local communities in both local 

authority area.  

 Environmental crimes are unsightly and make our towns, villages and other 

areas less attractive for residents and visitors alike. 

 Environmental crimes can result in negative perceptions of an area and make it 

feel unsafe and uncared for. 

 Maintaining clean neighbourhoods benefits the local economy by improving the 

image of the area and thereby attracting more visitors and customers, 

encouraging investment in local businesses, increasing house prices and 

assisting businesses to retain employees. 

 The cost to residents of clearing up after environmental crime is considerable. 

 Waste can take years to degrade and can be costly to remove. It can be 

harmful to health and, for example, lead to cuts, puncture wounds and 

subsequent infections for children and others that come into contact with it. 

Waste can harm wildlife and habitats, and can attract pigeons and vermin such 

as rats. 

The Councils operate a triple-track approach to responding to environmental crimes 

involving:  

• Education - educating the public, such as through signage, use of warnings, 

action days and publicity campaigns; 

• Enforcement – environmental crimes are illegal, which means that 

enforcement action will be pursued where necessary and appropriate; and 

• Cleansing – Alliance Environmental Services (AES) carry out a routine 

programme of cleansing adopted highways and other public spaces, such as 

parks and play areas on behalf. This is supplemented by responsive action to 

Page 23



reported problems and extra sweeping when needed (for instance in busy 

visitor areas or after major events). 

The purpose of the policy is to set out the Councils’ approaches to enforcement of 

environmental crime. It is intended to ensure that the Councils follows a standard 

approach that is consistent, balanced, fair, transparent, and proportional.  

The policy recognises that each incident of environmental crime is unique and must 

be considered on its own merits but sets out the general principles that will be 

applied by the Councils’ officers.  

This document should be read in conjunction with the Councils’ General Policy 

Statements on Enforcement and any relevant policies relating to individual 

environmental crimes.  

2 What is Environmental Crime? 

Environmental crime is generally used to describe any illegal activity that harms the 

environment1 but there is no universally agreed definition. In the broadest sense, it 

includes waste crime and activities such as wildlife crime, illegal resource extraction, 

and fraud around sustainability and carbon trading permits. In addition to 

environmental impacts, it can also have serious human health and social impacts. 

High Peak Borough Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council have 

adopted a pragmatic approach to defining environmental crime based upon their 

remit and concerns of residents. The Councils defines environmental crime as 

encompassing: 

 Abandoning vehicles 

 Accumulations of waste 

 Dog fouling 

 Fly-posting 

 Fly-tipping/depositing waste 

 Graffiti; and 

 Littering 

                                                                 
1
 Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology (2017)  

Page 24



3 The Council's Approach to Enforcement 

Experience has shown that enforcement action is most effective where it is targeted 

in the right places at the right times, and carried out by suitably equipped officers 

with the capacity and appropriate training to undertake enforcement activity. The 

Council recognises that the safety of officers is paramount. 

Environmental Crime Enforcement Officers are allocated with a body-worn video 

camera for use when carrying out patrols and enforcement activity. This will be 

switched on, where possible, as soon as the officers suspect an offence has been 

committed, or is about to be committed, and will be kept on until the interaction has 

ended. For the avoidance of doubt, the lack of a body worn video camera, or failure 

to record on a particular occasion, would not preclude the council from pursuing 

enforcement action if there is sufficient evidence and it is in the public interest to do 

so. The cameras are intended to both assist with evidence gathering but also to 

protect the officer from physical of verbal abuse and can be used in the event of 

complaints against an officer. 

Other Council and AES officers, particularly operational officers working in the 

community, are expected to provide intelligence to enable enforcement activity to be 

effectively targeted. This could include providing evidence of people discarding litter 

from vehicles or notifying the Environmental Enforcement Officers if a suspected 

abandoned vehicle remains in a reported location. 

AES Officers provide the initial response to complaints about waste being deposited 

on relevant land, ie land in the open air that is under direct control of the Councils 

and to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access with or without 

payment (this includes highways in agreement with the relevant County Council). 

AES Officers examine the waste for any evidence and, where such evidence exists, 

record the information and pass it on to the relevant Council service.  

Where the complaint does not relate to relevant land and where the Council has a 

statutory duty to investigate, or it is in the public interest and appropriate to do so, 

the deposit of waste will be investigated by the appropriate Council service. 

Where the Council receives a complaint that: 

Page 25



 material accumulated or deposited is prejudicial to health or a nuisance, then 

the Council is required to take reasonable steps to investigate whether the 

complaint amounts to a statutory nuisance and, if satisfied that a statutory 

nuisance exists (or is likely to occur or recur) issue a notice under Section 80 

of the Environmental protection Act 1990; or 

 significant harm (or possibility of such harm) is being caused to land or 

pollution of controlled waters, then the Council must consider whether it 

amounts to contamination of land under Part IIA of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990. 

Where the above does not apply, the deposit, treatment or disposal of waste will be 

investigated under the appropriate legislation such as: 

 a potential “fly-tip” under Sections 33 and 34 of the Environmental Protection 

Act 1990;  

 littering under Section 87 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; 

 “unreasonable conduct” under Section 42 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime 

and Policing Act 2014 (Community Protection Notices), where the conduct of 

an individual body that is having a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 

those in the locality; or 

 as an “untidy site” under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, where the condition of land in the Councils’ area adversely affects the 

amenity of part of the Council’s area, or of an adjoining area. 

Targeting Activity 

It is important that enforcement activity is targeted in those areas where 

environmental crimes are occurring. The council keeps records of problems reported 

by members of the public and these can be analysed to produce maps of problem 

areas. Information about ‘hot spot’ areas can also be provided by councillors and 

frontline council workers. 

Response 

Officers will normally issue a fixed penalty notice where an offence of abandoning a 

vehicle, littering, fly-tipping, fly-posting or dog fouling has occurred. The Council may 

also seek to recover the cost of removal. This reflects the zero-tolerance approach 

being taken by each Council to tackle environmental crimes. The FPN is issued as 

Page 26



an alternative to prosecution. If an FPN is issued then the offender has 14 days to 

discharge their full liability for the offence by paying the FPN. The Council will 

normally seek to prosecute if someone fails to pay the FPN within the specified 

timescale. 

Where the defacement of an area by waste is detrimental to the amenity of the 

locality, but not a statutory nuisance, then this would normally be dealt with through a 

Community Protection Notice, or under Section 215 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as appropriate. This includes areas where there is recurrent 

defacement by litter of open land in the vicinity of commercial or retail premises. A 

breach of a Community Protection Notice may result in either a fixed penalty notice 

being issued or prosecution. Failure to comply with a Section 215 Notice is an 

offence and would be dealt with by means of a prosecution. 

If a person fails to comply with a Community Protection Notice then the authority also 

has the power to apply to court for seizure or forfeiture of items used in commission 

of the offence. 

There are several situations when the Council would consider that the issuing of a 

fixed penalty notice may not be appropriate and instead would seek to prosecute 

under the relevant legislation. This includes: 

• Large-scale depositing of waste items, which will normally be dealt with by 

means of prosecution for littering (Section 87 Environmental Protection Act 

1990), fly-tipping (Section 33 Environmental Protection Act) or failure to keep 

proper control of controlled waste (Section 34); 

• Statutory nuisances- where the condition or activity is prejudicial to health or a 

nuisance (Section 79 of the Environmental Health Act 1990); 

• When the offence is committed by someone that has previously received a 

fixed penalty notice for the same offence; and 

• Where the offender is aggressive to the Enforcement Officer (or other staff 

member) and/or refuses to provide their name and address.  

Payment by instalments 

Page 27



The option to pay in instalments will be offered if requested by the alleged offender 

and provided that they can adequately demonstrate to the authority that one or more 

of the following criteria applies: 

 A fixed penalty notice has been issued to a young person (aged under 18); 

 The alleged offender is on benefits; and 

 There is a proven case of financial hardship. 

The Councils must commence prosecution for a summary offence within six months 

from the date of occurrence. Instalment payments will thus be spread over a 

maximum of three months to retain the option of prosecuting for the offence if the 

alleged offender fails to pay all instalments. 

If the offender pays the initial instalment but then fails to pay one or more of the 

subsequent instalments, then the local authority would normally seek to prosecute 

the individual for the original offence. 

Young People 

The Councils recognise that all sections of society can be responsible for littering 

and that the age of criminal responsibility in England is 10. The Councils also 

recognise that littering can be a particular problem around schools and along routes 

to school premises. 

If the Councils intend to carry out targeted enforcement activity close to a school in 

response to reported problems, then they will endeavour to undertake an education 

initiative at the school prior to enforcement patrols taking place. The Councils, 

however, recognise that there may be occasions where an enforcement officer 

observes a young person aged 17 or under littering during their normal duties and 

not as part of targeted action. 

The Councils think that it is important that officers respond to littering by young 

people and send out the message that littering is unacceptable and will not be 

tolerated. If the Council does not take action in such circumstances, then it may be 

seen to be: i) giving out the wrong message and suggesting that the law does not 

apply to young people, and ii) not adequately responding to public concern about 

littering. Officers will, therefore, issue fixed penalty fines to anyone aged 11 or over 

Page 28



(corresponding to secondary school age) who is found to commit an offence or 

prosecute as described above. 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

23 June 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

In-Person/Remote Committee Meetings 
Update 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Barrow – Corporate Services and 
Finance 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Linden Vernon – Head of Democratic 

Services 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
Non-Specific 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The report provides an update to councillors on the conduct of online and in-

person committee meetings. 
 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Council continues to use online meetings where feasible and 

investigates the technology and meeting room requirements in order to 
introduce hybrid meetings. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 As a result of restrictions put in place to tackle the Coronavirus pandemic in 

March 2020 it was not possible for council meetings to take place in person.  
In response the Government brought into force regulations that enabled local 
authorities to hold remote meetings.  These expired on 7 May 2021 and the 

Government had concluded that it was not possible to bring forward 
emergency legislation to extend the original regulation. 

 
3.2 The Council responded to a call for evidence launched by the Government on 

the use of virtual meeting arrangements to gather views on the question of 

whether there should be permanent arrangements for remote meetings and, if 
so, for which meetings.  The Council supported the view that Council’s should 

have the ability to determine if any of their meetings should be held remotely.  
This may include circumstances where adverse weather may otherwise mean 
that a meeting needs to be cancelled and that such circumstances should be 

governed by rules of procedure agreed by each council. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



  

 
3.3 The Government has not yet formally responded to the call for evidence, 

however, it has repeated its previous view that any permanent change that 

allows remote meetings to take place would require changes to primary 
legislation. 

 
3.4 Following the expiry of the regulations the Council has continued to conduct 

meetings where feasible in line with government guidance which helps to 

reduce costs and carbon emissions.  This allows the Council to continue to 
stream such meetings to the public via its website to maximise accessibility. 

 
3.5 At present the Council does not yet have the equipment required to conduct 

“hybrid” meetings which allow attendees to join and participate at committees 

both in person and online.  In order to achieve this the Council could consider 
the use of a webcast system that would include the installation of cameras in 

meeting rooms which would then integrate with video and audio of attendees 
participating in the meeting online.   

 

3.6 The Council is currently updating its microphone system used for meetings 
which was introduced in 2011. In order to future proof the system the 

specification includes a requirement to integrate to a webcast system should 
the Council wish to implement such technology. 

 

3.7 The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 23 May 
2022.  Members supported the desire to continue to use virtual meetings 
where possible.  The principle of hybrid meetings was also supported, subject 

to appropriate technology and meeting room space being made available.   
 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

 Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable whilst 
offering value for money. 

 Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time”. 

 Use innovation, technology and partnership with others to help improve the 
efficiency of services, improve customer satisfaction and reduce our impact 

on the environment. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 As detailed in the report. 
 
 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (Governance and Commissioning) 

 
 

Page 32



  

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

Information Digest 

Individual Executive Decision 
LGA Survey - Impact of in-person council meetings 

Linden Vernon 

Head of Democratic Services 
Linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
01538 395613 

 
 
 

6. Detail 
 

6.1 As a result of restrictions put in place to tackle the Coronavirus pandemic in 
March 2020 it was not possible for council meetings to take place in person.  
In response the Government brought into force regulations that enabled local 

authorities to hold remote meetings (The Local Authorities and Police and 
Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and 

Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 (SI 2020/392), 
made under section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020). 

 

6.2 These regulations applied to all local authorities in England and Wales, 
including parish and town councils. They specified that a ‘meeting’ of a local 

authority could lawfully take place online, with members ‘in remote attendance’ 
who can hear and be heard by, and if possible see and be seen by, other 
members. 

 
6.3 An Information Digest was issued on 27 May 2021 that provided councillors 

with an overview on the use of remote or virtual meetings by the Council.  This 
reported that financial savings of £12,000 had been achieved whilst utilising 
online meetings.  This included a reduction of expenses claimed by councillors 

and associated room hire costs etc.  Taking into account the typical mileage 
claimed by councillors each year (6,131 miles) this also equated to an annual 

reduction of 1.69 tonnes of CO2.   
 
6.4 The Digest also reported that there had been a total of 1,931 views of HPBC 

committee meetings via the Council’s YouTube channel since remote 
meetings started, with an average of 35 views per meeting.  Meetings of Full 

Council attracted the most views on average (72 per meeting) followed by 
Development Control Committee (67 per meeting).  Whilst meetings had been 
conducted remotely there had also been an increase in the number of non-

committee members attending meetings indicating that remote meetings were 
also more accessible for councillors. 

 
6.5 Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020 only permitted regulations to apply to 

council meetings that took place before 7 May 2021, primary legislation would 

be needed to extend this ability. Luke Hall MP, the Minister of State for Local 
Growth and Local Government, wrote to council leaders on 25 March 2021 to 

confirm that the Government had concluded that it was not possible to bring 
forward emergency legislation to extend the original regulation.  High Court 

proceedings were instituted last year by Lawyers in Local Government and 

the Association of Democratic Services Officers with regards to this view. The 
Court stated that it was for Parliament to change laws not the courts. 

 

Page 33

https://democracy.highpeak.gov.uk/documents/s25017/ID%20Remote%20Committee%20Meetings.pdf
https://democracy.highpeak.gov.uk/documents/s23537/HPBC%20Delegated%20Report%20-%20Remote%20Meetings%20AEM.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Impact%20of%20in-person%20council%20meetings%20survey%20October%20-%20November%202021%20WEB.pdf


  

6.6 The Government launched a call for evidence on the use of virtual meeting 
arrangements to gather views on the question of whether there should be 
permanent arrangements for remote meetings and, if so, for which meetings.  

The Council formally responded to the call for evidence (response contained in 
the Individual Executive Decision issued 11 June 2021) which supported the 

view that Councils should have the ability to determine if any of their meetings 
should be held remotely.  This may include circumstances where adverse 
weather may otherwise mean that a meeting needs to be cancelled and that 

such circumstances should be governed by rules of procedure agreed by each 
council.   

 
6.7 If any changes to legislation are made as a result of this call for evidence they 

would apply to England only. The Welsh Government passed the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 which came into force on 1 May 
and made express provision for Welsh local authorities to meet remotely. 

Scottish local authorities had express provision to meet remotely prior to the 
pandemic. 

 

6.8 Between October and November 2021, the Local Government Association 
(LGA) conducted a survey of councils in England. The purpose of the survey 

was to gather information on the impact of in-person council meetings for 
statutory and decision-making meetings, and how this may affect councils in 
the short-to long-term. The survey asked about a range of topics including 

councillor attendance at meetings, public engagement, benefits and 
challenges, as well as costs incurred.  Key findings of the survey included: 

 

 Almost three-quarters of respondents (72 per cent) thought that councillor 
attendance was lower since returning to in-person meetings.  

 Almost three-quarters of respondents (73 per cent) thought that attendance 
by members of the public was lower since returning to in-person council 

meetings.  

 More than half of respondents (53 per cent) thought that engagement by 

members of the public with council meetings was lower since returning to 
in-person meetings.  

 

6.9 A number of organisations have continued to lobby the Government for the re-
introduction of remote meetings and campaigned to give councils the ability to 

decide what works best for them.  The supporting bodies have included: 
 

 The Local Government Association (LGA) 

 The Association of Democratic Services Officers (ADSO) 

 Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) 

 Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) 

 National Association of Local Councils (NALC) 

 Society of Local Council Clerks (SLCC) 
 

6.10 A recent petition organised by ADSO and LLG that called on the government 
to create Parliamentary time to agree a change in the law to allow councils in 
England to meet remotely if they wish attracted nearly 11,000 signatures. 

 

Page 34



  

6.11 The Government has not yet formally responded to the call for evidence, 
however, Kemi Badenoch, Minister of State for Equalities and Levelling Up 
Communities wrote to ADSO in November 2021 and repeated the 

Government’s previous statement that “any permanent change that allows 
remote meetings to take place would require changes to primary legislation, 

and such passage would depend on the agreement of Parliament and the 
timetabling and pressures of Parliamentary business.” 

 

6.12 In response to a question asked in the House of Commons on 24 January 
2022 to allow parish councils to sit in virtual or hybrid format to increase and 

widen access and to help them work to the best of their ability the Secretary of 
State Michael Gove MP replied: 

 

“If during the pandemic we had not allowed councils to meet virtually, not only 
would we have impaired the effective working of local government, but we 

would never have known about Jackie Weaver and the country would have 
been the poorer for it. I commend the work of parish councils and others. I am 
strongly in sympathy with the view that hybrid meetings should continue in 

order to ensure the maximum amount of efficiency. There is a case for saying 
that certain significant local authority meetings should occur with all councillors 

present, but I want to proceed with the maximum amount of consensus to 
reflect the maximum level of efficiency and in particular of sensitivity to those 
who serve in constituencies such as my hon. Friend’s, where the rurality and 

dispersed nature of representation are important.” 
 
6.13 Following the expiry of the regulations the Council has continued to conduct 

meetings where feasible in line with government guidance which helps to 
reduce costs and carbon emissions.  This allows the Council to continue to 

stream such meetings to the public via its website to maximise accessibility. 
 
6.14 At present the Council does not yet have the equipment required to conduct 

“hybrid” meetings which allow attendees to join and participate at committees 
both in person and online.  In order to achieve this the Council could consider 

the use of a webcast system that would include the installation of cameras in 
meeting rooms which would then integrate with video and audio of attendees 
participating in the meeting online.  Such a system would offer a more robust 

system to broadcast council meetings, improve the integration of online 
meetings with the Council’s website and enhance the experience of viewers. 

 
6.15 The Council is currently updating its microphone system used for meetings 

which was introduced in 2011. It is anticipated that the costs for this will be 

met from recent underspends in the service budget.  In order to future proof 
the system the specification includes a requirement to integrate to a webcast 

system should the Council wish to implement such technology and take 
advantage of automatic camera control functionality.  The new system is also 
likely to be wireless to maximise flexibility leading to much shorter set up times 

and potentially offer other additional functions such as electronic voting. 
 

6.16 The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 23 May 
2022.  Members supported the desire to continue to use virtual meetings 
where possible.  The principle of hybrid meetings was also supported, subject 

Page 35



  

to appropriate technology and meeting room space being made available.   
 
 

Page 36



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL  

  

The Executive 

  

23 June 2022 

  

 

TITLE: 
 

Scrutiny Review 
 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 
 

Councillor Anthony McKeown – Leader of 

the Council 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Andrew Stokes – Chief Executive 
 

WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

Non-Specific 

 

  

Appendices Attached  

Appendix A – Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) – Scrutiny Review 

Appendix B – CfGS Recommendations – Suggested Response    

  

  

1.  Reason for the Report  

  

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the Council’s response  

to the feedback provided by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) 

following completion of their review of the Council’s Scrutiny arrangements. 

 

1.2 The report has been considered by the overview and scrutiny review group 

and by the Corporate Select Committee to ensure a wider consideration of the 

recommendations.  

  

2.  Recommendations  

  

2.1      It is recommended that the Executive:   

  

 Consider the feedback from CfGS as detailed in Appendix A; and   

 Consider the suggested response to the recommendations set out in 

Appendix B along with the responses by the Corporate Select Committee 

when it was considered there. 

 

2.2 Consider what further investigation (if any) are needed to meet the terms of 

reference for the review of arrangements for overview and scrutiny within the 

Council. 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



2.3 Request the Councils Constitution sub group to meet and consider any 

required changes to the select committee procedure rules to meet the 

supported  changes.    

  

  

 

 

 

3.  Executive Summary  

  

3.1  CfGS were commissioned to conduct a review of the Council’s Overview & 

Scrutiny arrangements. The review was intended to give the Council an 

external perspective on how well the current model is functioning.   

  

3.2 CfGS made recommendations across 8 areas of work for improvement. In 

order to assist members of the Sub-Committee with their considerations 

attached at Appendix B is a summary of CfGS’s recommendations within a 

suggested response.    

 

3.3 The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 28 March 

2022.  Although the Committee recommended that the current structure of 

three select committees be retained members broadly supported the 

remaining suggested responses in Appendix B of the report.  

 

  

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities   

  

4.1 Effective scrutiny is essential in order that the Council can successfully 

achieve its objectives and priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.  

  

  

5. Alternative Options  

 

5.1 The report offers a range of options for consideration by members. 

  

  

6.  Implications  

  

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)  

No relevant implications at this time. 

  

6.2  Workforce  

No relevant implications at this time. 

  

6.3  Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment  

No relevant implications at this time. 

  

Page 38



6.4  Financial Considerations  

No relevant implications at this time. 

  

6.5  Legal  

 A number of the suggested responses may require changes to the 

Council’s constitution which would need to be considered by the 

Council’s Constitution Sub-Committee.  

  

6.6  Climate Change 

 No relevant implications at this time. 

  

 

 

6.7  Consultation 

The proposals from the CfGS include a section on improving public 

engagement. 

 

6.8  Risk Assessment  

 No relevant implications at this time. 

 

  

ANDREW P STOKES  

Chief Executive  

  

     

Background Papers Contact details 

As attached to the report 

 

Andrew Stokes  
Chief Executive 
Andrew.stokes@highpeak.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 39



7. Detail 

 

7.1  Maintaining effective scrutiny is a challenge for all local authorities and no 

council can profess excellence in scrutiny across the board – there are always 

areas of weakness which, left untended, can develop into flaws in scrutiny 

which can have a more significant impact on effectiveness overall.   

  

7.2  At the first meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Review Sub Committee the 

following aspects were put forward for the review: 

 

 To ensure that the Council continues to make the best use of its resources 

 The revised guidance published by the Ministry for Housing, Communities 

and Local Government and the “Good Scrutiny Guide” issued by the 

Centre for Public Scrutiny. 

 The changing environment in which the Council operates. 

 To investigate ways that the scrutiny process can better involve and 

engage local residents as part of the policy development and decision 

making process. 

 Enable the Council to better support the role of ward members and its 

representatives on outside bodies by considering options around: 

 

 how scrutiny considers ward issues 

 how members appointed to outside bodies can better feed-in 

information from those bodies 

  

7.3  The Local Government Association (LGA) were approached to ascertain the 

most appropriate way forward for conducting a review. The LGA referred the 

Council to the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS).   

  

7.4  The CfGC provides external support to give assurance and advice on 

improving governance in local authorities. They offer a number of 

improvement reviews which help local authorities to evaluate and improve 

their overview and scrutiny functions – governed by the fundamental [“four 

principles” of good scrutiny] that were first developed nearly twenty years ago.   

  

7.5  During the COVID-19 pandemic, CfGS developed ‘step back reviews’. These 

reviews are geared to give the opportunity for councils to conduct short, sharp 

reviews to identify lessons learned to inform the approach to any new 

arrangements that emerge for the ‘new normal’. The review is designed to be 

challenging, but essentially also to be constructive in suggesting ways to drive 

forward improvement.   

  

7.6  Consequently with the support of the Council’s political group leaders, CfGS 

were commissioned to conduct a ‘step back’ review. The LGA agreed to fund 

50% of the cost of conducting the review.  

 

 

Page 40



  

8.  CfGS Review  

   

8.1  The review was a short and simple ‘step-back’ review based on assessing the 

following:   

  

• Culture. The relationships, communication and behaviours underpinning 

the operation of the overview and scrutiny process. This also involved the 

Council’s corporate approach, organisational commitment, and status of 

scrutiny.   
• Member engagement. Are members motivated and engaged. How do 

they participate, take responsibility, and self-manage their role?   

• Member skills and application. Are skills up-to-date and can Members 

participate fully or are there development gaps?   
• Information. How information is prepared, shared, accessed and used in 

the service of the scrutiny function.   
• Impact. Ways to ensure that scrutiny is effective, that it makes a tangible 

and positive difference to the effectiveness of the council, and to local 

people.    
• Focus. How prioritisation, timeliness and relevance of the work 

programme and agendas lead to value-adding and productivity.    
• Structure. Formats used by scrutiny to carry out its works and their 

effectiveness.    

   

8.2 The review involved conversations with 18 Members and 4 Officers, including 

the Council Leader, Group Leaders, Select Committee Chairs, Vice Chairs, 

Members of the Select Committees, the Council’s senior leadership team and 

Head of Democratic Services, observation of meetings (recordings or live 

online), a review of key documents; agendas, work programmes etc and a 

short member survey.   

   

8.3 This methodology aligns with both latest statutory guidance and best practice 

experience accumulated by CfGS over many years. This review therefore 

evaluated the Council’s approach to scrutiny in the light of the guidance and 

best-practice with a view to help to explore with members ways to improve 

scrutiny.   

  

   

9  Outcome from the Review  

  

9.1  CfGS’s report back to the Council following completion of the review is 

attached at Appendix A.  

  

9.2  CfGS concluded that ‘Scrutiny’s role as part of the democratic decision-

making process is respected and valued in the Council’ and that ‘political 

leaders and Executive Members are supportive. We noted from our 

interviews that the scrutiny function at HPBC is held in a relatively high 

Page 41



regard by the Council overall, further evidenced by Director level 

support for each Select Committee.’ 

   

9.3  The review further noted, that scrutiny has a good relationship with the 

executive, that there is a cross party approach to scrutiny and that our task 

and finish groups were particularly productive. 

   

9.4  CfGS provided feedback and recommendations for further improvement on 8 

areas:  

  

 The focus and priorities of scrutiny 

 Scrutiny’s impact 

 Work programming  

 Member development  

 Meeting management 

 Committee structure 

 Public engagement 

 Support and resourcing for scrutiny 

 

 These are further detailed in the report attached at Appendix A. 

 

 9.5 CfGS also provided guidance / workflow processes for scrutiny from 3 other 

councils, and these are listed as appendixes to the CfGS report: 

 

 Waverley Borough Council – Selection Criteria for Overview and Scrutiny 

topics 

 South Cambridgeshire District Council – PAPER Analysis 

 Warwickshire County Council – Scrutiny Review Process 

  

  

10.  Taking the Recommendations Forward  

  

10.1  Attached at Appendix B is a summary of CfGS’s recommendations within a 

suggested response/action.  

  

10.2 The suggested improvements are as follows: 

 

  The focus and priority of scrutiny 

 Establish Select Committee Programming Group consisting of the 

Executive/Select Committee & Audit and Regulatory Committee Chairs / 

Opposition Group Leaders 

 Consider Executive Work Programme and agree forward plan of scrutiny 

work 

 

  Scrutiny’s Impact 

 Annual scrutiny workshop to confirm work programmes 

Page 42



 Review of Annual Report to include a focus/section on changes – 

improvements made as a result of scrutiny 

 

Work Programming   

 Review Executive / Scrutiny Protocol 

 Consider development of a methodology for work programme selection 

and prioritisation 

 Reorder Scrutiny Committee agendas to consider work programming at 

the start of the meeting to give it a greater focus 

 

 Member development 

 Programme of training / development for non-executive councillors   

 Ongoing training and development for Chairs / Vice Chairs of Scrutiny  

  

Meeting Management 

 Develop approach with Chairs of Scrutiny Committees 

 

Committee Structure 

 Review number of Select Committees 

 Consider structure of Committees and potential to create standing 

sub/working-groups to focus on specific areas of work 

 

  Public Engagement 

 Develop approach with Chairs of Panels 

 Introduce an open to public scrutiny review suggestion scheme 

 Explore and experiment with ways to allow greater public access, 

openness and involvement   

 

  Support and Resourcing for Scrutiny 

 Officer support for scrutiny to be considered as part of the review of the 

Democratic Services team structure 

 

10.3 The overview and scrutiny review group considered the below aspects: 

 

 Review the need to pre-scrutinise all non-major decisions to be made by 
the Executive. 

 Frequency of meetings - scrutiny to take place earlier in the process with 
the possible introduction of informal pre-meetings (attended virtually). 

 Consider how member development could improve scrutiny (e.g. 
questioning skills) and the level of engagement with councillors. 

 Public engagement could be problematic dependent on the topic under 
consideration.  Views could be captured by future resident surveys. 

 Prioritisation of the work programme – councillors supported the use of the 
PAPER Analysis referred to in the CfGS review and an annual workshop. 

 The future structure of the Council’s select committees – there was limited 

support for any reduction in the current number of Select Committees. 

Page 43



 That a future Programming Group should be created with the inclusion of 
the Audit and Regulatory Committee. 

 

10.4 This report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 28 March 

2022 in order to enable the Council’s wider membership to comment on the 

proposed areas for improvement and consider which areas should be 

prioritised for action.  Councillors were also asked to consider how the 

proposed areas for improvement met the original terms of reference and what 

additional works or actions were needed to complete the review.  Although the 

Committee recommended that the current structure of three select committees 

be retained members broadly supported the remaining suggested responses 

in Appendix B of the report and made the following comments: 

 

 Induction training for new members – possibly after they have attended 

their first scrutiny meeting 

 Mentoring scheme around scrutiny with more experienced councillors 

acting as mentors for new councillors 

 Ensure reports are accessible for councillors in terms of language etc and 

ask for feedback 

 Retain 3 committees recognising that there are many cross-cutting issues 

 Make greater use of the categories within scrutiny including holding to 

account and policy development  

 Consider ways to improve engagement with residents 

 Identify 3 or 4 key issues for the committee to scrutinise each year and 
members to take more charge of the agenda 

 Suggested that appointment of chairs be made at Annual Council to help 
with the planning process 

 Need for scrutiny members to be more pro-active 

 Look at how things are judged and quantified 

 Look at more work jointly between committees 

 

10.5  Depending on the approach taken with the suggested areas for improvement, 

any actions that need changes to be made to the Council’s constitution will 

need to be considered with the Council’s Constitution Sub-Committee.  

 

 

  

Page 44



 

 

Andrew Stokes 
Chief Executive 
High Peak Borough Council 

December 2020  

 
Dear Chief Executive, 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Short Scrutiny Improvement Review – CfGS consultancy support 

I am writing to provide feedback following your recent review to reflect our findings and offer some 
suggestions on how the council could develop its scrutiny process. We would like the opportunity as 
part of this process to facilitate a workshop with Members and Officers to reflect on this review and 
to discuss options for improvement. 

Background
 
High Peak Borough Council (HPBC) commissioned the Centre for Governance & Scrutiny (CfGS) 
[formerly CfPS], to review the Council’s scrutiny arrangements through its Select Committees. The 
purpose of the review was to give the Council an external perspective on how well the current model 
is functioning and fulfilling its essential role of policy shaping, holding the executive to account and 
reviewing issues of importance to local communities. 
 
CfGS undertook a review of the current scrutiny arrangements, involving two days of evidence 
gathering through conversations with Members and Officers on 28th and 29th September 2020. In 
addition, we observed Select Committee meetings, reviewed key documents, and created and 
analysed a Member survey. 
 
CfGS met with 18 Members and 4 Officers, including the Council Leader, Group Leaders, Select 
Committee Chairs, Vice Chairs, Members of the Select Committees, the Council’s senior leadership 
team and Head of Democratic & Community Services. 
 
The review was conducted by the CfGS staff: 
• Ian Parry – Head of Consultancy - Centre for Governance and Scrutiny. 
• Kate Grigg – Senior Research Officer – Centre for Governance and Scrutiny. 

 
The findings and recommendations presented in this letter are intended to advise HPBC in 
strengthening the quality of scrutiny activities, and through its Members, to develop a strong and 
shared understanding of the role and capability of the scrutiny function. 
 

 
Summary of findings 
 
1. Positive areas to build on 
 

1.1 Scrutiny has support from the Council overall 

Scrutiny’s role as part of the democratic decision-making process is respected and valued in the 
Council - political leaders and Executive Members are supportive. We noted from our interviews that 
the scrutiny function at HPBC is held in a relatively high regard by the Council overall, further 

Page 45



 

 

evidenced by Director level support for each Select Committee.  
 

1.2 Scrutiny has a good relationship with the Executive 
 
HPBC has good attendance from the Executive at Select Committee meetings, they are open to 
presenting their reports, answering questions, and being robustly challenged. It was also made clear 
to us through our interviews that the Executive is open to suggestions for improvement from Select 
Committees and takes an encouraging approach to this.  
 

1.3 Cross-party approach to scrutiny 

From our observations and interviews it is clear that the different political parties at HPBC work well 
together, and the Select Committees are not characterised as adversarial or confrontational. In 
general, there is a constructive cross-party working atmosphere that seeks broad consensus. There 
is little evidence of political management activity and Member behaviour is cordial and respectful. 
 
1.4 Productive task and finish group work 
 
It was highlighted in our conversations with Members and Officers that some of the best examples of 
recent scrutiny work have been undertaken in task and finish groups (T&F), the Waste Sub-
Committee a specific case in point. Scrutiny’s T&F work has been used effectively, and this type of 
more in-depth scrutiny can be highly productive and useful to HPBC. These T&F assignments or 
similar focused ‘project scrutiny’ can build further versatility and agility for scrutiny. It is essential 
however, that these are limited to a small number per year (perhaps 1-2), have a detailed scope and 
timeframe (suggest max 8 weeks) and have a clear objective which delivers a useful product. 
 
2. Suggestions for further improvement 
 
There is a clear realisation and commitment from Members and Officers that scrutiny activity at 
HPBC could be more effective and productive. Everyone interviewed welcomed the opportunity to 
make changes and improvements and supported the need for scrutiny to develop further and make 
a greater impact. 

To build upon the existing support for scrutiny, HPBC could adopt a Scrutiny - Executive protocol, 
this would outline how Select Committees, the Executive and Officers would work together to ensure 
each part works collaboratively and ensure council wide ownership and support for the sustained 
success of scrutiny. 

 
2.1 The focus and priorities of scrutiny 

From our observations and evidence gathering, the Select Committees may benefit from ensuring 
greater clarity about what they are trying to achieve or what impact they are aiming to make. 
Similarly, the process for deciding what is important to scrutinise and what is not, is sometimes 
unclear. It seems that by convention every single executive decision goes through Select 
Committee, without much regard to prioritisation. Scrutiny cannot examine everything, nor is it 
necessary to do so, therefore establishing realistic priorities based on clear objectives is essential.  
 
Select Committees do make every effort to be strategic and focus on areas of importance, although 
in practice it sometimes falls short of this ambition. Select Committees can be too operational and 
council performance focused. It is therefore necessary to ‘let go’ of KPI concentrated work, and 
focus resource on strategy and policy. 
 
 

Page 46



 

 

2.2 Scrutiny’s impact 
 
There is scope for each Select Committee to review its agendas to ensure that they maintain a focus 
on crucial issues. Agendas can often become overburdened with routine reporting and discussion-
led topics, leaving less capacity for the matters that can make a real impact.  
 
It was highlighted to us that Select Committees are very useful at conveying the views of different 
Members to the Executive, but it is hard to see how that translates into policy changes. Early access 
to information is important for scrutiny to operate as an integral part of policy and decision-making 
activities. The ability for Select Committees to engage early in the process of policy development will 
also assist scrutiny in making a greater impact.  
 
Scrutiny often has greater impact when it applies its efforts to pre-decision scrutiny. This is partially 
practiced at High Peak, although it is usually too close to the decision by the executive to play a 
useful shaping role and is limited to a binary choice of “for or against” pending Executive decisions. 
If scrutiny operated more up-stream, as policy and decisions were in a less advanced stage, it could 
provide useful insight, constructive challenge and creative input at a more strategic and forward-
looking level. 

 
2.3 Work programming 
  
There is a positive working relationship between the Executive and Select Committees, but the 
relationship has been described as a bit ‘too close’ at times, with the Executive having perhaps too 
much influence and involvement on Select Committee work programming and agendas. Whilst 
regular communication between the Executive and Select Committees is important, and suggestions 
for topics on the work programme or agenda should be welcomed, the scrutiny process does need 
to be independent. 
 
It is also noted that there has been some significant senior Officer time spent in supporting Members 
with the process of work programming, so it would be recommended that Members, led by 
committee Chairs switch the emphasis of work planning to be more Member-led where possible. 

To avoid low priority issues making their way onto the work programme and to ensure focus on high 
impact items, Select Committee Members might consider developing a methodology for their work 
programme selection and prioritisation, given that the sources to choose from (including Council 
Plan, MTFS, Delivery Plans, Executive forward plan/key decisions etc.) provide an extensive menu 
of options. The need to rationalise selection could be helped by a simple scoring or prioritisation 
process. 
 
Some examples of other local authority tools to prioritise and select items for scrutiny are included in 
the Appendix to this short report. 

 
 

2.4 Member development 

Training and development were issues raised by some Members, who were clearly aware of the 
gaps in their knowledge and understanding. It has been noted that there has been a relatively big 
turnover of Members at the last election in High Peak, so many are new to the role of being an 
elected councillor and to the role of scrutiny, who would benefit from further training and 
development. 

 
Whilst most Members take the opportunity to speak at committee, the engagement and contribution 
is varied. Some Members tend to ask information-gathering questions, rather than questions which 
explore and challenge issues, with often just a few members asking most of the more probing 

Page 47



 

 

questions. Members may benefit from more training and experience in the area of questioning 
techniques. 
 
2.5 Meeting management 

It has been highlighted that meetings could adopt a more logical approach in organising their line of 
enquiry. Currently just the Chair and Vice Chair have a pre-meet without any organised input from 
other committee Members (aside from the pre-meetings that occur in political groupings). 
 
Select Committees at HPBC might consider ways to give more time to planning and organising 
scrutiny meetings as a ‘team’, to set objectives and the agenda, as well as developing appropriate 
lines of enquiry. By using a brief pre-meeting, committees could effectively set a questioning 
strategy and decide who they would require to appear at the meeting, as well as the expectations on 
information needed. 
 
2.6 Committee structure 

The council has three Select Committees, which is not unusual, but there is a growing trend towards 
less committees, especially if work can be prioritised well and focused on strategic issues. Scrutiny’s 
productivity is not measured by the volume of activity but the quality of its outputs, such as - 
constructive recommendations, ideas and feedback, and holding to account that leads to positive 
improvement. 
 
The council might wish to consider the option of two committees, one with an external focus - 
community impact, resident voice and service performance, and one with an internal focus - as a 
corporate and forward looking, policy and planning scrutiny role. 

 

2.7 Public engagement 

Whilst trying to encourage public engagement is difficult, scrutiny could explore and experiment with 
ways to allow greater access, openness and involvement. This could include:  

• Community listening panels 
• Inviting the public to offer ideas for work programmes 
• Greater use of social media channels 

 
HPBC could also consider inviting external advisors to sit as observer status non-voting members of 
committees to provide additional insight and expertise to the committee. They could be set period 
appointments or invited to a one-off relevant meeting. Payment or reimbursement many encourage 
candidates. Some selection may be necessary, and terms of reference made clear. 
 

 
2.8 Support and resourcing for scrutiny 
 
There is potential to review whether the level of officer resource available to support scrutiny is 
sufficient at HPBC. Whilst the current resource is highly valued, scrutiny would benefit from additional 
capacity, particularly in terms of research and policy support. Not only would this further reinforce a 
strong ongoing commitment to scrutiny across the council, it would also provide a strong platform 
upon which scrutiny could successfully develop. 
 
 
Thank you and acknowledgements 
 
This short review forms part of a Member development programme which includes several training 
and development sessions to be facilitated by CfGS. 

Page 48



 

 

 
We would like to thank the Chairs, Vice-Chairs and Select Committee Members, Executive 
Members, and Officers who took part in interviews, survey and observations, for their time, insights 
and open views.  

 
       Yours sincerely, 
 
       Kate Grigg 
       Senior Research Officer / Review Lead 
 
  

Page 49



 

 

Appendix – Examples of scrutiny work programming selection/prioritisation tools 
 
Waverley Borough Council1 

 

 
1https://www.waverley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5879/selection_criteria_for_overview_and_scrutin
y_topics.pdf 
 

Page 50

https://www.waverley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5879/selection_criteria_for_overview_and_scrutiny_topics.pdf
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5879/selection_criteria_for_overview_and_scrutiny_topics.pdf


 

 

South Cambridgeshire District Council2  
 

  

 
2https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s50149/Criteria%20for%20Scrutiny%20and%20Overview
%20Topic%20Selection.pdf 

Page 51

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s50149/Criteria%20for%20Scrutiny%20and%20Overview%20Topic%20Selection.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s50149/Criteria%20for%20Scrutiny%20and%20Overview%20Topic%20Selection.pdf


 

 

Warwickshire County Council3 

 

 
3 https://api.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/WCCC-970-53 

Page 52

https://api.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/WCCC-970-53


 
 

CfGS – HPBC Scrutiny Review Recommendations – Suggested Response 
 

Area CfGS Recommendations Suggested Response 

The Focus and Priorities of 
Scrutiny 
 

From our observations and evidence gathering, 
the Select Committees may benefit from ensuring 
greater clarity about what they are trying to 
achieve or what impact they are aiming to make. 
Similarly, the process for deciding what is 
important to scrutinise and what is not, is 
sometimes unclear. It seems that by convention 
every single executive decision goes through 
Select Committee, without much regard to 
prioritisation. Scrutiny cannot examine everything, 
nor is it necessary to do so, therefore establishing 
realistic priorities based on clear objectives is 
essential.  
 
Select Committees do make every effort to be 
strategic and focus on areas of importance, 
although in practice it sometimes falls short of this 
ambition. Select Committees can be too 
operational and council performance focused. It is 
therefore necessary to ‘let go’ of KPI 
concentrated work, and focus resource on 
strategy and policy. 
 

 Establish Select Committee 
Programming Group: 
 
o Executive/Select 

Committee & Audit and 
Regulatory Committee 
Chairs/ Opposition Group 
Leaders 
 

 Consider Executive Work 
Programme and agree forward 
plan of scrutiny work 
 

Scrutiny’s impact There is scope for each Select Committee to 
review its agendas to ensure that they maintain a 
focus on crucial issues. Agendas can often 
become overburdened with routine reporting and 
discussion-led topics, leaving less capacity for the 
matters that can make a real impact.  
 
It was highlighted to us that Select Committees 
are very useful at conveying the views of different 
Members to the Executive, but it is hard to see 
how that translates into policy changes. Early 
access to information is important for scrutiny to 
operate as an integral part of policy and decision-
making activities. The ability for Select 
Committees to engage early in the process of 
policy development will also assist scrutiny in 
making a greater impact.  
 
Scrutiny often has greater impact when it applies 
its efforts to pre-decision scrutiny. This is partially 
practiced at High Peak, although it is usually too 
close to the decision by the executive to play a 
useful shaping role and is limited to a binary 
choice of “for or against” pending Executive 
decisions. If scrutiny operated more up-stream, 
as policy and decisions were in a less advanced 
stage, it could provide useful insight, constructive 
challenge and creative input at a more strategic 
and forward-looking level. 
 

 Annual scrutiny workshop to 
confirm work programmes 

 Review of Annual Report to 
include a focus - section on 
changes as a result of scrutiny 

Work Programming There is a positive working relationship between 
the Executive and Select Committees, but the 
relationship has been described as a bit ‘too 
close’ at times, with the Executive having perhaps 
too much influence and involvement on Select 
Committee work programming and agendas. 
Whilst regular communication between the 
Executive and Select Committees is important, 

 Review Executive / Scrutiny 
Protocol 

 Annual scrutiny workshop to 
confirm work programmes 
Consider development of a 
methodology for work 
programme selection and 
prioritisation 

Page 53



Area CfGS Recommendations Suggested Response 
and suggestions for topics on the work 
programme or agenda should be welcomed, the 
scrutiny process does need to be independent. 
 
It is also noted that there has been some 
significant senior Officer time spent in supporting 
Members with the process of work programming, 
so it would be recommended that Members, led 
by committee Chairs switch the emphasis of work 
planning to be more Member-led where possible. 
 
To avoid low priority issues making their way onto 
the work programme and to ensure focus on high 
impact items, Select Committee Members might 
consider developing a methodology for their work 
programme selection and prioritisation, given that 
the sources to choose from (including Council 
Plan, MTFS, Delivery Plans, Executive forward 
plan/key decisions etc.) provide an extensive 
menu of options. The need to rationalise selection 
could be helped by a simple scoring or 
prioritisation process. 
 

Reorder Scrutiny Committee  
agendas to consider work 
programming at the start of the 
meeting to give it a greater 
focus 

Member development It has been noted that there has been a relatively 
big turnover of Members at the last election in 
High Peak, so many are new to the role of being 
an elected councillor and to the role of scrutiny, 
who would benefit from further training and 
development. 
 
Whilst most Members take the opportunity to 
speak at committee, the engagement and 
contribution is varied. Some Members tend to ask 
information-gathering questions, rather than 
questions which explore and challenge issues, 
with often just a few members asking most of the 
more probing questions. Members may benefit 
from more training and experience in the area of 
questioning techniques. 
 

 Programme of training / 
development for non-executive 
councillors  

 Ongoing training and 
development for Chairs / Vice 
Chairs of Scrutiny 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Meeting management It has been highlighted that meetings could adopt 

a more logical approach in organising their line of 
enquiry. Currently just the Chair and Vice Chair 
have a pre-meet without any organised input from 
other committee Members (aside from the pre-
meetings that occur in political groupings). 
 
Select Committees at HPBC might consider ways 
to give more time to planning and organising 
scrutiny meetings as a ‘team’, to set objectives 
and the agenda, as well as developing 
appropriate lines of enquiry. By using a brief pre-
meeting, committees could effectively set a 
questioning strategy and decide who they would 
require to appear at the meeting, as well as the 
expectations on information needed. 

 Develop approach with Chairs 
of Panels 

Committee structure The council has three Select Committees, which 
is not unusual, but there is a growing trend 
towards less committees, especially if work can 
be prioritised well and focused on strategic 
issues. Scrutiny’s productivity is not measured by 
the volume of activity but the quality of its outputs, 
such as - constructive recommendations, ideas 
and feedback, and holding to account that leads 

 Review number of Select 
Committees 

 Consider structure of 
Committees and potential to 
create standing sub/working-
groups to focus on specific 
areas of work  
 

Page 54



Area CfGS Recommendations Suggested Response 
to positive improvement. 
 
The council might wish to consider the option of 
two committees, one with an external focus - 
community impact, resident voice and service 
performance, and one with an internal focus - as 
a corporate and forward looking, policy and 
planning scrutiny role. 
 

Public engagement Whilst trying to encourage public engagement is 
difficult, scrutiny could explore and experiment 
with ways to allow greater access, openness and 
involvement. This could include:  
 

 Community listening panels 

 Inviting the public to offer ideas for work 
programmes 

 Greater use of social media channels 
 
HPBC could also consider inviting external 
advisors to sit as observer status non-voting 
members of committees to provide additional 
insight and expertise to the committee. They 
could be set period appointments or invited to a 
one-off relevant meeting. Payment or 
reimbursement many encourage candidates. 
Some selection may be necessary, and terms of 
reference made clear. 

 Develop approach with Chairs 
of Panels 

 Introduce an open to public 
scrutiny review suggestion 
scheme 

 Explore and experiment with 
ways to allow greater public 
access, openness and 
involvement 

Support and Resourcing for 
Scrutiny 

There is potential to review whether the level of 
officer resource available to support scrutiny is 
sufficient at HPBC. Whilst the current resource is 
highly valued, scrutiny would benefit from 
additional capacity, particularly in terms of 
research and policy support. Not only would this 
further reinforce a strong ongoing commitment to 
scrutiny across the council, it would also provide 
a strong platform upon which scrutiny could 
successfully develop. 
 

 Officer support for scrutiny to 
be considered as part of the 
review of the Democratic 
Services team structure 

 
 
 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Executive 

 
23 June 2022 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix A – Carelink Charging Policy 
 
 

1. Reason for the Report  

 
1.1 This report seeks to review the number of properties designated for the over 

55s, with a view to increasing the volume of general needs accommodation 
available for single/couple households whilst still protecting the income stream 
for the Carelink Service. 

 
1.2 The report further outlines the wider services available to support older people 

in our communities. 
 

 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and that the 

proposed changes are implemented: 

 To redesignate suitable identified properties for those under 55 

 To rebrand the sheltered stock as “Retirement Living” 

 To pilot a “Try Before you Buy” Initiative within the sheltered stock 

 To formally agree the Carelink charging policy (appendix A) 
 

3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The volume of properties designated for the over 55s is disproportionate to 

demand and needs to be addressed. 
 

3.2 These properties will become de-designated on the next occasion they void in 
order to prevent a cliff-edge drop of income for Carelink.    

 

TITLE: Review of Age Designation Accommodation 

& Older Persons Services Report 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR Cllr Fiona Sloman – Executive Councillor for 

Housing & Licensing 

 
CONTACT OFFICERS: Helen Core – Head of Housing Services 

 David Smith – Head of Communities and 
Climate Change 

 

WARDS INVOLVED:  All  

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



3.4 Demand for general needs accommodation is extremely high at present, with 
turnover in family accommodation being particularly low. Increasing demand 
for sheltered accommodation thus freeing up larger properties will assist in 

aiding this. 
 

3.5  Ensuring the approach towards Carelink charging in the remaining designated 
units is clear and transparent before a tenancy is entered into.. 

 

3.4  The Council helps to provide support for older people through its Community 
Support Grants Scheme. This includes the provision of social group activities, 

befriending services, advice and practical support. 
 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 As part of the Corporate Plan aim ‘Supporting our communities to create a 

healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak’.  
 

 

MARTIN OWEN 
Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

 Contact details 

 

n/a 
 

 
 

Helen Core 
Head of Housing Services  
Helen.core@highpeak.gov.uk 
 
David Smith 
Head of Communities and Climate 
Change 
David.smith1@highpeak.gov.uk 

 
 

5. Background and Detail 
 

5.1 There are 1,142 one-bedroomed properties within the Council’s ownership of 

which 860 are designated for over 55s. This equates to 75% designated for 
over 55s and 25% for those under 55.  

 
5.2  There are 571 households on the housing register requiring one-bedroomed 

properties. Of these, 217 are over 55 (38%). 

 
5.3  As outlined above, there is an imbalance between the supply and demand of 

properties for over 55s.  
 
5.4 This can cause issues if tenants accept a property and then do not want the 

Carelink service; especially as, historically, clients have been allowed to “opt 
out”. Currently, 373 properties do not have any charge on the property. A 

revised Carelink charging policy is attached at appendix A.   
 

5.5 The current “Cost of living” crisis is leading more and more tenants to attempt 
to opt-out of the service. This causes particular issues in properties that have 
a hardwired alarm or are part of a dispersed scheme. Redesignating a 

proportion of the stock will help to alleviate this issue.   

Page 58

mailto:Helen.core@highpeak.gov.uk


 
6. Proposal for Redesignation of General Needs Age Restricted 

Accommodation 

 
6.1  It is proposed to redesignate 281 properties over time – at the point they next 

become vacant.  
 
6.2  In financial terms, this would be a reduction of £67k per annum (£1,389.12 x 

48) of Carelink income should all properties become vacant within one 
financial year. This is highly unlikely to occur as the typical attrition rate is 

nearer 5-10%, giving a gradual reduction in income of up to £7k per annum. 
 
6.3  It is considered that this gradual reduction in income can be offset by 

increasing the current Carelink client base. An intensive marketing campaign 
is scheduled for September 2022 in order to promote the service. This is 

timetabled to allow current staff vacancies to be recruited to to ensure 
increased demand for the service is being met.  

 

6.4 Even without growing the current client base, the service generated a gross 
surplus of c.£100k in the financial year 2020/21, increasing to c.£115k in 

2021/22, which fully accommodates the costs involved in this proposal.  
 
6.3  This redesignation would reduce the designation of properties for over 55s to 

579, closer to a 50% / 50% balance.  
 

7.0 Increasing demand for sheltered stock 

 
7.1 In addition, there is a need to increase demand for sheltered accommodation 

within the Borough. 
 

7.2  There is a stigma attached to “sheltered” accommodation with historic 
negative connotations. 

 

7.3  It is proposed that sheltered schemes will be referred to as “Retirement Living 
Complexes” and the current Sheltered Housing Officers rebranded to 

“Retirement Living Officer”. There are no financial implications to this as it is 
only a change in job title and all employment terms and conditions remain the 
same. 

 
7.4 Following discussions with Health colleagues, it has been suggested that 

some clients who would benefit from sheltered accommodation are reticent in 
taking a tenancy; especially those who have always lived in a property they 
own themselves or have been resident in their home for a number of years. It 

is therefore proposed to implement a “Try Before you Buy” initiative allowing 
potential tenants the opportunity to stay in a sheltered flat for 1-2 weeks to 

experience for themselves what it is like.  
 
7.5  To this end, an additional Temporary Accommodation unit has been 

developed within Hartington Gardens. In addition to enabling short term stays 
as outlined above, this also serves as a “Show Flat” and provides a further 

Page 59



temporary accommodation unit for homeless presentations in this vulnerable 
client group.  

 

 

8. Older Persons Services Outside the HRA  
 

8.1 The Borough Council helps to provide support for older people through its 
Community Supports Grant. This funding helps to support the delivery of core 
services by Citizens Advice, The Samaritans, High Peak Community and 

Voluntary Service, Connex Community Support, The Bureau, New Mills 
Volunteer Centre, Glossopdale Furniture Project and Jericho Café. 

 
8.2 The table below provides examples of some of the services that are offered 

across High Peak.  

 

Service Provider 

Delivery of the social connectedness project 
 

Bereavement and loss support groups 
 

Social prescribing (excluding Glossopdale) 
 

High Peak 
Community and 

Voluntary Service 

Community Navigation (NHS funded workers supporting 
people to meet goals and link into activities, support and 

services). 
 

Call Companions (telephone befriending 
 
service for socially isolated or sight impaired people). 

 
Sight loss support. 

 
Peer support group for anyone caring for those living 
with dementia 

 
Befriending and mentoring sessions. 

 
Social groups (informal check in and chat groups 
facilitated by the Community Navigation team). 

The Bureau 

Transport to medical appointments (car scheme 
involving volunteer drivers transporting those unable to 
use public transport). 

 
Chair-based exercise classes. 

 
Minibus transport 
 

IT support (enabling people to access 
Zoom and similar platforms). 

 
Prescription delivery service. 

New Mills Volunteer 
Centre 

Page 60



Service Provider 

Help with garden maintenance, small gardening jobs, 

general tidy ups. 
 
Friday lunch club. 

 
DIY - home safety and security support to older and 

vulnerable people. 
 
Befriending service 

 
Shopping service. 

 
Group Support - provision of dementia friendly, stroke 
support, handicraft social groups. 

Home from Hospital service 
 
Social Group activities (coffee clubs, ‘Meet & Eat’ group, 

art group etc for older and vulnerable people). 
 

Hearing Aid battery distribution (collection point for 
hearing aid batteries for patients registered at the 
audiology clinic at Chesterfield Royal Hospital). 

 
‘Alive & Kickin’ project to encourage and support social 

and physical activities for older and vulnerable people 
 
Befriending 

 
Handy Van service (delivery of the DCC Handy Van 

service across the High Peak (and the whole of north 
Derbyshire). The service provides free home safety and 
security support to older and vulnerable people, and 

installs telecare equipment to enable people to continue 
to live safely and independently). 

 
Care & Support services 

Connex Community 
Support 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Carelink Charging Policy   May 2022 

 
 

High Peak Borough Council 
 

Carelink Charging Policy 

 
Introduction 
 

High Peak Borough Council has a number of dwellings – known as Cat 1 properties - that are 
designated as receiving the Carelink service to ensure that we are able to support residents to live 
independently for as long as possible. 
 
This is clearly explained prior to the tenancy commencing and is an explicit responsibility under the 
terms of the tenancy agreement, extract below: 
 

You must pay all of your rent and any other tenancy charge due from the date your tenancy started. If you 
live in a Carelink designated property then this charge is classed as rent.  We usually charge rent to your 
account every Monday, unless it is a ‘no-collection’ week (when we do not charge rent). However, if you 
owe us rent, you must continue to pay us during these no-collection weeks. There are four no-collection 
weeks each financial year – usually two at Christmas and two at the end of the financial year. You must 
pay your rent every Monday unless you have made a separate agreement with us (for example to pay 
monthly). 

 
Tenants who do not wish to use the service should not be allocated a designated property. Any tenant 
who accepts such a property will not be able to opt-out of the service at a future point and the charge will 
remain payable. 
 
Aims and Objectives 
 

 Protect the sustainability of the Carelink service for those who genuinely require it 

 Ensure best use of the Council’s limited housing stock 

 Comply with all relevant current and future legal and statutory requirements 

 The provision of clear and relevant information to customers regarding their rights and 
responsibilities and those of HPBC as landlord 

 To ensure that the terms and conditions of tenancy agreements are complied with, for the benefit 
of HPBC, customers and the wider community 

 Operate with a firm and consistent approach  
 
 
Operational Principles 
 
The Council will: 

 provide applicants for Carelink properties with detailed and accurate information on the service 
prior to their tenancy commencing  

 ensure that an appropriate unit is installed at the property prior to the tenancy commencing  

 offer a “SIM” unit to tenants who chose not to have a traditional landline installed  

 visit new tenants to gain an insight of their individual support needs  
 
 
 

 

Page 63



 

Carelink Charging Policy   May 2022 

 
Responsible Person/s 

 
The Head of Housing Services has overall responsibility for the implementation of this policy. 
 
 
Review Date 

 

 Every three years  
 or on the introduction of new legislation/guidance  

 or if required for operational reasons 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 64



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

23 June 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Appointments to Outside Bodies 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor A McKeown - Council Leader 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Linden Vernon – Head of Democratic 

Services 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

Non-Specific 

 

 
Appendix A Attached – Outside Bodies 

 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to appoint councillors to Outside Bodies. 
 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That councillors be appointed to the various outside bodies, as detailed in 

Appendix A. 
 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 The Local Government Act 2000 and subsequent regulations prescribe that 
the Executive should make appointments to all those outside bodies whose 

functions are executive functions.  All other appointments should be made by 
Council. 
 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 Provide quality services in partnership with communities. 
 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 Statutory guidance for authorities operating executive arrangements, states 

that the Executive should make appointments to all those outside bodies 

whose functions are executive functions.  All other appointments should be 

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



  

made by Council.  Appendix A lists the organisations for which representatives 
are appointed.   

 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Appendix A – Outside Bodies Linden Vernon 
Head of Democratic Services 

linden.vernon@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 
 

Page 66



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

23 June 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Local Plan Review 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Anthony McKeown - Council 
Leader HPBC 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Mark James - Principal Planning Officer 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

All areas outside of the Peak District National 
Park 

 

 
Appendices Attached –  

 
Appendix A Plan Review Toolkit Part 1 
Appendix B Plan Review Toolkit Part 2 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 To inform the Council of the conclusions from the review of the adopted High 

Peak Local Plan (2016) and to determine if it needs to be updated.  
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive note details of the assessment of the adopted Local Plan 
 

2.2 That the Executive concludes that Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Development), 
Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) and Policy H4 
(Affordable Housing) are deemed out of date for development management 

purposes. 
 

2.3 That the Executive agrees to the commenecement of an update to the Local 
Plan to update Policy S3, S4 and H4 and to consider any consequential 
updates for policies and to reflect corporate priorities, including in particular 

issues around climate change, biodiversity and nutrient nutrality. 
 

2.4 That the Local Plan Steering Group reconvene to consider priorities and 
timecales for the Local Plan update to inform the consideration of a new Local 
Development Scheme by the Executive.  

 
 

 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



  

3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 A review of the Local Plan has been undertaken having regard to new 

evidence, updated and emerging national policy and legislation and monitoring 
information. It has concluded that the adopted Local Plan is partially out of 

date. Updated policies regarding housing (including affordable housing) and 
employment requirements are needed.  
 

3.2 The remainder of the policies in the Local Plan remain broadly in line with 
national policy but will need to be closely monitored as updates to 

development requirements in strategic policies are likely to necessitate 
consequential updates to wider policies such as the spatial stragy and other 
development mangagement policies.  

 
3.3 Updates to wider policies would also provide opportunities for the Council to 

align the plan with its priorities for climate chanage and biodiversity as well as 
the emerging implications of nutrient neutrality.  
 

3.4 Policies that are declared out of date will be given less weight for development 
management purposes. The five year housing land supply calculation must 

also be based on the annual Local Housing Need figure (currently 260) 
calculated using the Government’s standard methodology rather than the out 
of date Local Plan housing requirement of 350.  

 
3.5 It is proposed that the Local Plan Steering Group reconvenes to discuss the 

priorities moving forward in terms of further evidence gathering, wider 

engagement and the development of options and proposals for future policy. 
This would inform the timetable for plan preparation to be set out in a Local 

Development Scheme to be considered for adoption by the Executive.  
 

 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The Local Plan directly links to all four aims of the Corporate Plan. 
 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 Option 1 (recommended) – that the recommendations of this report and the 

conclusions of the Local Plan review assesment are taken forward. This option 

reflects the latest evidence and outcome of the review and provides the 
Council with an opportunity to bring the Local Plan into line with new national 

policy and local priorities.  
 
5.2 Option 2 (not recommended) – that alternative conclusions are drawn on the 

review. This option is less likely to align with the latest evidence and 
assessment of the Local Plan and may not lead to the update of the Local 

Plan to bring it in line with new national policy and local priorities. 
 
 

Page 68



  

6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
No direct implications. 

 
6.2 Workforce 

 

Officers from the Development Services team will lead on the 
review with input from colleagues in other services. 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 

An equalities assessment accompanies this report. 
 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 

In anticipation of the possible need to update the Local Plan, 
£99,230 has been allocated to the Local Plan budget for 2022/23. 

Any Local Plan costs in year in excess will be met from Corporate 
Reserves. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
Under regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) local planning 
authorities must review local plans at least once every 5 years from 

their adoption date to ensure that policies remain relevant and 
effectively address the needs of the local community. 
 

 
6.6 Climate Change 

 
An update to the Local Plan will enable greater consideration of the 
response of planning policy to the climate change emergency as 

declared by the Council. 
 

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

Public consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2019) and local 

planning regulations. Following confirmation of priorities for the 
update of the plan in 2022/23, a timetable for public consultation 
will be set out in a revised Local Development Scheme. 

 
6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

 
The risks associated with the review are set out in this report. 
 

Page 69



  

 
Neil W. Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Adopted Local Plan - 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-

Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-
2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2
016.pdf?m=1514473710280 

 
High Peak Statement of Community Involvement - 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-

SCI-adopted-February-
2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf
?m=1553776998070 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nationalpla

nning-policy-framework--2 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance on Plan Making 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making 
 

Mark James 
Principal Planning Officer 

mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 

7. Detail 
 

Statutory obligations and national policy 

 
7.1  Under regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended), local planning authorities must 
review local plans at least once every 5 years from their adoption date to 
ensure that policies remain relevant and effectively address the needs of the 

local community. 
 

7.2  Paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states: 
“Policies in local plans and spatial development strategies should be reviewed 
to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and 

should then be updated as necessary. Reviews should be completed no later 
than five years from the adoption date of a plan, and should take into account 

changing circumstances affecting the area, or any relevant changes in national 
policy. 
 

7.3  The national planning practice guidance states that “most plans are likely to 
require updating in whole or in part at least every 5 years”. 

 
7.4  If the Council decides to update all or part of the plan, it must publish a new 

Local Development Scheme (LDS) with the timetable for the preparation and 

adoption of the new Local Plan. Alternatively, the Council decides not to 
update the plan or some of the policies, it must publish its reasons for not 

doing so. 
 

7.5  No process is defined for objectors to challenge the Council’s conclusions on 

Page 70

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-SCI-adopted-February-2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf?m=1553776998070
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-SCI-adopted-February-2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf?m=1553776998070
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-SCI-adopted-February-2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf?m=1553776998070
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-SCI-adopted-February-2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf?m=1553776998070
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nationalplanning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nationalplanning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making


  

the plan review. However, planning inspector’s via the appeals process may 
begin to deem policies out of date over time if the plan review concludes that 
an update is not required. 

 
7.6  The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 gives the Secretary of State 

powers to intervene when a local authority does not have an up to date Local 
Plan. Section 27 (1) states that intervention can be made if the Secretary of 
State thinks that “a local planning authority are failing or omitting to do 

anything it is necessary for them to do in connection with the preparation, 
revision or adoption of a development plan document.”. Section 27 (2) states 

that the Secretary of State may “(a) prepare or revise (as the case may be) the 
document, or (b) give directions to the authority in relation to the preparation or 
revision of the document.” 

 
7.7  If a new Local Plan is taken forward, the National Planning Policy Framework 

requires that it will need to look ahead for a minimum of 15 years from the date 
of adoption. It must also identify sufficient land for housing for at least 10 years 
from the date of adoption and where possible for 11-15 years. As the current 

Local Plan period ends in 2031, an updated Local Plan would need to 
consider housing land supply beyond the current plan period. 

 
Background and key changes since 2016.  
 

7.8  The High Peak Local Plan was adopted on 14 April 2016 and covers the 
period up to 2031. It seeks to deliver an annual average of 350 homes per 
year which reflects economic growth aspirations. To support this growth, 45ha 

(gross) of land for employment is also identified. The spatial strategy for the 
Local Plan seeks to focus the majority of this growth in the main market towns 

of Buxton, Glossop, New Mills, Chapel-en-le-Frith and Whaley Bridge with 
more modest scale of development in the “Smaller Villages” such as Hayfield, 
Chinley and Peak Dale. 

 
7.10  The Local Plan was prepared under the NPPF as published in 2012 which has 

since been superseded several times. A new NPPF was issued in 2018 and 
subsequently updated in 2019 including a new method for assessing Local 
Housing Need. Further changes to the NPPF were introduced in 2021 with 

stronger focus on good design. 
 

7.11 Wider legislative changes will have further implications for any future iteration 
of the Local Plan. The 2021 Environment Act introduces a mandatory 
requirement for development to achieve a 10% net-gain in biodiversity from 

late 2023. Local Nature Recovery Strategies must also be prepared (likely at a 
county level) to provide spatial plan for ecological improvements. Both new 

obligations could be reflected in a new Local Plan.  
 
7.12 More recently, the publication of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill 

provided details of the Government’s planning reforms following the proposals 
set out in the 2020 Planning White Paper. Whilst some of the more 

controversial elements of the White Paper are not being progressed such as 
the designation of “growth areas” with permission in principle, a desire to 

Page 71



  

streamline plan-making and speed up the process is still at the heart of the 
reform.  

 

7.13 Proposals in the Bill include: local plans to be given even more weight when 
determining applications, National Development Management Policies will be 

set by Government for generic policies that are generally not refined at a local 
level e.g. heritage, ‘Gateway’ checks during production will help to spot and 
correct any problems at an early stage, new Local Plan Commissioners to 

support or take over plan-making if LPAs failing, a new duty for infrastructure 
providers to engage in the process, legal ‘duty to cooperate’ to be replaced 

with a policy alignment test, removal of 5 year housing land supply 
requirement for plans less than 5 years old (future NPPF update), greater use 
of digital tools and data to support community engagement, new 

“Supplementary Plans” where policies are required quickly, mandatory area-
wide Design Codes, Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) requirements 

replaced by "Environmental Outcomes Reports”, scope for voluntary spatial 
development strategies and S106 and CIL will largely be replaced with a 
“Infrastructure Levy” 

 
7.14 Notwithstanding the detail outlined in the Bill, it is subject to change following 

scrutiny in Parliament. Royal assent is currently expected around late 2022 to 
2023. Transitional arrangements that should clarify how and when local plans 
should reflect the new requirements of the eventual Act are expected shortly. 

Whilst there remains a degree of uncertainty, it is clear that Local Plans will 
fundamentally carry the same functions as at present, albeit in a more succicnt 
form and with a stronger focus on locally specific isues. Indeed, the 

Government is keen to ensure that the reforms do not lead to plan making 
stalling. Planning Minister Stuart Andrew recently stressed that local 

authotities should "keep going ... that is a really strong message from us as a 
department…” and that those already developing new local plans should 
"carry on because that work is valuable work anyway…“ 

 
7.15 The recent advice from Natural England that development within the 

catchment of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
(River Wye) must demonstrate nutrient neutrality is a further significant 
development that has immediate and longer terms implications for scope for 

development and supporting infrastructure. The matter is subject to a separate 
report. However, in essence, this new obligation will delay the delivery of new 

housing land until such time that appropriate mitigation either on or off-site has 
been implemented. Off-site mitigation will need to be co-ordinated with a 
strategy working with other partners in the catchment. Mitigation measures will 

also increase development costs which may in turn impact on the ability of 
developments to fund affordable housing and infrastructure.    

 
7.16 The advice directly impacts the Buxton area which is currently a focal point for 

housing growth in the adopted Local Plan. The implications of this for future 

housing provision in the town and the distribution of development across the 
Borough will need to be carefully considered as further details emerge.  

 
7.17 Housing land supply is another factor that has evolved since the adoption of 

the Local Plan. Whilst the adoption of the Local Plan in 2016 provided the 

Page 72



  

Council with a sufficient housing land supply for the first time, annual position 
statements published subsequently have shown a gradual decline in supply 
year on year (Table 1). As of 31 March 2021, the Council can only 

demonstrate a 4.79 year supply of housing.  
 

7.18 Furthermore, the average annual housing requirement of 350 has only been 
achieved twice since 2011. Completions in 2020/21 (249) were at their lowest 
since the adoption of the Local Plan.  Whilst the Covid-19 pandemic 

undoubtedly undermined housing delivery, the gradual decline in the supply 
from the pre-pandemic periods indicate that the availability of readily 

developable sites is declining. Under-supply against the average annual target 
also leads to a significant cumulative shortfall of 1086 (Table 2). As a 
proportion of the shortfall is added on to the five year housing land supply 

calculation, the requirement has grown over time making it more challenging 
to demonstrate a five year supply.  

 
Table 1: High Peak housing land supply (2017-2021) 

 

 

 
Table 2: Housing completions and cumulative shortfall since the start of the 

plan period 
 

 
 

Page 73



  

 
7.19 The Council has adopted a Growth Strategy which includes delivery of an 

‘Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme’ (developed following the adoption 

of the local plan). It demonstrates the Council’s commitment to delivering the 
current Local Plan and maximising community benefits by supporting 

developers and making use of Council owned assets, including: 
 

 Market Street, Buxton 

 Land west of Tongue Lane/Granby Road B, Buxton 

 Melandra Castle Road, Gamesley 

 Padfield Main Road, Hadfield (Roughfields) 

 Paradise Street, Hadfield 

 Adderley Place, Glossop 
 

7.20 To date this initiative has secured funding towards a new roundabout on the 
A6 at Fairfield that will help to unlock housing land at Hogshaw, 
Waterswallows, land west of Tongue Lane. New homes are also being brought 

forward on Granby Road A. Officers also regularly meet to review progress on 
housing allocations and those with permission to share information from 

landowners and agents, identify reasons for delay and take forward solutions 
to help ensure that housing land supply projections are met.  

 

7.21 Nevertheless, fundamental inputs into Council’s plans for housing in the form 
of development requirements and the allocation of new sites can only be 

achieved through a new Local Plan.  
 
Review process to date and updated evidence  

 
7.22 The Council undertook an initial assessment of the Local Plan in 2021. 

Following prior discussion at the Economy and Growth Select Committee on 
25 March, the Executive agreed to recommendations regarding the review of 
the Local Plan at a meeting held on 1 April 2021. This included the 

establishment of a new Local Plan Steering Group to consider the evidence 
and process of the review ahead of a further report back to the Executive in 

Spring 2022 to determine if the Local Plan needed to be updated, hence this 
report.  

 

7.23 The newly formed Local Plan Steering subsequently met in June 2021 to 
discuss the priorities for evidence needed to help the Council determine 

whether or not the Local Plan needed to be updated. This included updated 
assessment for the need for housing employment and retail for the Borough as 
well as emerging priorities and evidence in relation to climate change and 

biodiversity. 
 

7.24 A series of three further Local Plan Steering Group meetings were held in May 
2022 to provide and update on progress on key strands of the evidence base, 
emerging details of future planning reforms through the Levelling Up and 

Regeneration Bill and to provide an initial view on their implications for the 
Local Plan review.  

 

Page 74



  

7.25 A summary of the new evidence and likely implications for the Local Plan 
review as discussed with the Steering Group in May is provided below.  

 

 Housing and employment land requirements in the current Local Plan can be 
considered out of date. The emerging Housing and Economic Development 

Needs Assessment (HEDNA) indicates that housing need is between 260 
(Local Housing Need) to 364 (policy on-jobs growth) homes per year. The 
Local Housing Needs figure is significantly below the current Local Plan 

annual requirement of 350 and the Borough has only delivered 364 homes or 
more twice since 2011. The need for gypsies and travelers accommodation 

and for boat dwellers is to be confirmed. 

 For the first time since the adoption of the Local Plan, the Council cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply of housing land. Furthermore, the supply 

position has been gradually decreasing since 2017. The allocation of 
additional sites in a new Local Plan as well as the re-consideration of 

development requirements would address this situation.  

 The Retail and Town Centre Study does not identify a need to allocate land for 

a new retail. Greater flexibility may be required in planning policy to enable 
and actively plan for a more diverse and flexible range of uses in our town 
centres recognizing the relative shift away from retail. 

 New obligations set out in the Environment Act, including the mandatory 
requirement for development to achieve 10% net-gain in biodiversity are not 

reflected in the current Local Plan. Whilst 10% net-gain will be required 
irrespective of planning policies, an updated Local Plan could present an 
opportunity to ensure that net-gain more closely reflects the Council’s wider 

policy objectives. This would be informed by the emerging Biodiversity 
Strategy and Local Nature Recovery Strategy. 

 Emerging climate change guidance prepared with Vision Derbyshire could 
provide a platform upon which to set out more detailed and aspirational 
planning policies that more closely align with the Council’s Climate Change 

Emergency Declaration. However, scheduled enhancements to buildings 
regulations are also expected to require new homes are zero-carbon ready 

from 2025.  

 The recently announced requirement for development within the River Wye 

Peak District Dales SAC to demonstrate “nutrient neutrality” has immediate 
and longer terms implications for growth in the Buxton area. New policies to 
reflect the Council’s eventual approach to managing this situation would 

provide a clear and more robust solution. The spatial strategy (the distribution 
of development across the Borough) may also be need to be re-visited if it is 

demonstrated that Buxton is unable to sustain planned levels of growth.  

 Infrastructure plans have evolved since 2016 and they will have implications 
for planning. For instance, a decision on the A57 Link Roads Scheme is due to 

be made by the SoS and there is ongoing consideration of possible rail 
improvements on the Glossop/Hadfield rail line, the outcome of which will 

influence plans in Glossopdale. Equally, the outcome of the A6 Corridor Study 
will provide a strategy for transport improvements in Buxton and the Central 
Area.  

 The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill contains proposals that will shape the 
approach to future Local Plan and developer contributions.  

 
 

Page 75



  

  

Page 76



  

Conclusions 
 

7.26  A Local Plan does not become out-of-date automatically after five years. The 

adopted Local Plan will continue to form part of the statutory development plan 
for High Peak. Planning applications must be determined in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Due 
weight will be given to policies in the plan according to their consistency with 
the latest National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7.27  As highlighted in this report, the current Local Plan was prepared under the 

2012 NPPF which has since been superseded. Furthermore, additional 
revisions to national policy and legislation are also emerging. As such, the 
requirements for Local Plans have evolved. Other factors have also changed 

since the adoption of the Local Plan in 2016. Data as set out in the Council’s 
Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) provides a record of the effectiveness of 

policies measured against the indicators of the Local Plan. 
 
7.28 To facilitate the assessment of the Local Plan and to pull all of the above 

information together, the Local Plan Review Toolkit as developed by the 
Planning Advisory Service1 (PAS) has been applied. This comprises of two 

parts: 
 

 Part 1 – poses a series of questions to guide the Council’s decision as to 

whether the Local Plan needs to be fully or partially updated. (Appendix A) 

 Part 2 -  a checklist to assess the Local Plan against key requirements in the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and legislation (the findings of 
which feed into Part 1). (Appendix B). 

 

7.29 Part 1 concludes that whilst many of the current policies in the adopted Local 
Plan are still broadly in line with the latest NPPF and can therefore be viewed 

as up to date for development management purposes, Policy S3 (Strategic 
Housing Development), Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing and Economic 
Base) and Policy H4 (Affordable Housing) need to update development 

requirements and priorities in order to reflect the latest national policy and 
evidence.  

 
7.30 In addition, a new spatial strategy may be needed following further 

consideration of development requirements, site availability, infrastructure and 

nutrient neutrality. Such changes may in turn have consequential implications 
for other policies. Updated climate change and biodiversity policies may also 

present an opportunity to ensure that they more closely align with the 
Council’s own priorities as set in its climate change and biodiversity 
emergency declaration.  

 
7.31 Furthermore, the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill and subsequent Act may 

necessitate additional updates to policies depending on the timing of the 
implementation of the proposals, related regulations and transitional 
arrangements. The implications of this should be kept under close review. 

                                                 
1
 PAS is linked to the Local Government Association and directly funded by the Department of 

Levelling Up Housing and Communities with the aim of supporting local planning authorities. 

Page 77



  

 
 

Implications of declaring the Local Plan partially out of date 

 
7.32 Declaring part of the Local Plan out of date will have implications for future 

iterations of the five year housing land supply calculation, Housing Delivery 
Test results and weight to be given to policies when determining planning 
applications as set out below: 

 

 Housing Delivery Test – when the housing requirement is more than 5 years 

old and needs to be updated, the local housing need figure will apply (260). 
This would make it easier for the Council to pass the Housing Delivery Test.  
 

 5 year housing land supply – when the housing requirement is more than 5 
years old or deemed out of date, the local housing need will apply (260) rather 

than the Local Plan requirement of 350. 
 

 Policies - a plan does not become out-of-date automatically after 5 years. Due 

weight should be given to relevant policies according to their consistency with 
the National Planning Policy Framework. Less weight would be given to: 

o Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Development)  
o Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) 

o Policy H4 (Affordable Housing)  
 
 

Next steps 
 

7.33 If in line with the recommendations in this report the Council decides to update 
the Local Plan, it will also need to agree a new Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) which sets out the timetable for the preparation and adoption of the 

plan. 
 

7.34 If the Council decides to begin to develop a new Local Plan, it is proposed that 
the Local Plan Steering Group reconvenes to discuss the priorities moving 
forward in terms of further evidence gathering, wider engagement and the 

development of options and proposals for future policy. This would inform the 
timetable for plan preparation to be set out in the LDS. 

 
7.35 The LDS would also need to reflect the statutory requirements for plan 

preparation, including the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). Regulation 18 sets out the 
provision for consultation during the preparation of the Local Plan. Specific 

details for public consultation must also accord with the Council’s own 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). 

 

7.36 Regulation 19 then requires the subsequent publication of the version of the 
Local Plan that the Council considers to be “sound” to invite formal 
representations from the community and stakeholders.  

 
7.37 The Council can then decision whether the Local Plan, associated evidence 

and representations can be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate to hold an 

Page 78



  

Examination in Public. An Inspector will then assess the plan to determine if 
the plan is sound and legally compliant. This process is informed by a series of 
hearing sessions at which the Inspector’s “matters, issues and questions” are 

discussed.  
 

7.38 During this process, the Inspector may identify “main modifications” to the plan 
that will be necessary to make the plan sound. Any such modifications would 
be subject to further public consultation before the Inspector publishes their 

final report which will conclude if the plan is suitable for adoption with any 
necessary modifications. The Council may then decide to adopt the Local 

Plan.  
 
 

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



May 2022 

1 

HIGH PEAK LOCAL PLAN REVIEW    

PAS LOCAL PLAN ROUTE MAPPER TOOLKIT PART 1:  LOCAL PLAN REVIEW ASSESSMENT 
 

  

P
age 81



May 2022 

2 

 

 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

A PLAN REVIEW FACTORS   

A1. 

 

The plan policies still reflect current national planning policy 

requirements. 
 
 

 

Disagree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence): 

 
The High Peak Local Plan is based on the 2012 NPPF.  Part 2 of the PAS Toolkit 
has been completed to identify where updates to reflect the content of the 

2021 NPPF are needed.   
 
The assessment table shows that many of the plan policies are broadly in l ine 
with the 2021 NPPF.  However, there are areas may either need to be updated 

to bring them in l ine with national policy and new evidence or potentially local 
priorities.  These include: 
 

 High Peak Local Plan Policy S1a (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 

Development) repeats the requirements set out in the 2012 NPPF.   
Para 11 of the 2021 NPPF states that Local Plans should reflect the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. However, the 
NPPG confirms that there is no need for a plan to directly replicate 

the wording in paragraph 11 in a policy.  Therefore, this policy is not 
required. 
 

 New NPPF and NPPG now requires more detailed consideration of 

viability at the plan making stage in order to reduce viability related 

debates during the determination of planning applications (as per 
NPPF paras. 34 and 58).  

 

 Policy S3 Strategic Housing Development establishes the average 

annual housing requirement of 350 across the Borough and specifies 
the distribution of development across the sub-areas. NPPF para. 62 
requires that a Local Plan be informed by a local housing need 
assessment, conducted using the standard method in national 

planning guidance as a starting point.  The Local Housing Need figure 
for High Peak as identified in the draft Housing and Economic Land 
Needs Assessment (HELNA) is 260 homes per year. A policy on jobs 

P
age 82



May 2022 

3 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

growth scenario indicates a housing requirement of 364 is needed to 

boost growth in potential growth sectors . Neighbourhood Plan 
housing requirements for recently designated Neighbourhood Areas 
also need to be reflected in this policy.  

 

 Policy H3 (New Housing Development) should also include 

consideration of the specific types of housing need specified in NPPF 
Para 62 such as students, self-build housing and travellers. The draft 
HELNA and forthcoming Gyspy and Travellers Accommodation Needs 

Assessment (GTAA)  identifies new information regarding the need for 
these groups.  
 

 The definition of affordable housing in the 2021 NPPF is not reflected 

in Local Plan Policy H4 (Affordable Housing).  Para 63 states that 

provision of affordable housing should not be sought for schemes that 
are not major developments (i.e. 10+ dwellings  / 0.5ha+) and on 
qualifying sites at least 10% of the homes should be available for 
affordable home ownership.  The plan policy does not reflect this. 

Current policy also does not take account of the need for First Homes.  
 

 NPPF para. 83 requires the Local Plan to recognise and address the 

specific locational requirements of different employment sectors.  

Local Plan policies do not currently make this distinction. The new 
HELNA report does now provide some analysis of this that would 
inform future policy.  

 

 Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) states that the Council will  adopt 

strategies to mitigate and adapt to climate change, will  plan new 
development in locations and ways that reduce carbon emissions and 
will  adopt the principles in the energy hierarchy.  The policy is not 
prescriptive but seeks to encourage/support sustainable forms of 

development.  The policy could be revised to ensure it is more in l ine 
with local priorities.  Although it is not a strategic policy, it is sti l l an 
extremely significant part of the response to the climate change 

emergency.  To assist with this, the Council will  use the Derbyshire 
Climate Change SPD note and assessment tool metrics.  Thes e are due 

P
age 83



May 2022 

4 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

for completion in Summer 2022.  They have been prepared by the 

Climate Change and Planning Officer sub group of Vision Derbyshire.  
The guidance note will  provide an evidence base to inform the 
development of local plan policy.  The note identifi es opportunities 
for the future policy to be both more aspirational and specific than 

contained in the current Local Plan and the metrics is an assessment 
tool to indicate the degree development proposals have included 
climate change mitigation. 

 
 

A2. 

 

There has not been a significant change in local housing need numbers 
from that specified in your plan (accepting there will be some degree of 
flux).  

 
 

Disagree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 
sources): 
 

 Annual housing requirement in Local Plan = 350 dpa  

 Current annual local housing need = 260 dpa  

 New jobs growth scenario in HELNA = 364 dpa 

The current Local Housing Need figure is significantly less than that required in 

the Local Plan. However, whilst the Local Plan requirement takes account of, 

and plans for, jobs growth, the Local Housing Need figure is only based on the 

affordability of housing and demographic factors. The jobs growth scenario in 

the HELNA is broadly comparable with the current Local Plan requirement in 

that both are geared towards economic growth. However, HELNA indicates a 

modest increase in need to 364.  

 
Only a 4.79 year housing land supply can now be demonstrated (as at 1  April  
2021). The Council has passed the Housing Delivery Test each year (135% in 

2021 measurement) but this applies the local housing need figures rather than 
the higher Local Plan requirement. 
 
Furthermore, the annual housing requirement has only been met in 2 of the 5 

years since the adoption of the Local Plan. Completions in 2020/21 (249) were 
the lowest since prior to the adoption of the Local Plan in 2015/16. If this trend 
continues, there is a risk that the Council will  may not recover its 5 year 
housing land supply or pass the Housing Delivery Test in the coming years.  

P
age 84



May 2022 

5 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

 

Annual housing completions: 
2011/12 – 102 
2012/13 – 207 
2013/14 – 36 

2014/15 – 100 
2015/16 – 160 
2016/17 – 330 

2017/18 – 498 
2018/19 – 380 
2019/20 – 305 
2020/21 - 249 

 
There are no formal agreements in place for High Peak to accommodate any 
unmet housing needs from neighbouring authorities.  
 

A3. 

You have a 5-year supply of housing land 

 
 

Disagree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources): 
 
The Council has a 4.79-year housing supply as at April  2021.  Full  details can be 

found on the Council’s website at: 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/7175/High-Peak-5-year-Housing-Land-
Supply-April-
2021/pdf/High_Peak_5_year_Housing_Land_Supply_April_2021.pdf?m=16455

18690143 
 

P
age 85

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/7175/High-Peak-5-year-Housing-Land-Supply-April-2021/pdf/High_Peak_5_year_Housing_Land_Supply_April_2021.pdf?m=1645518690143
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/7175/High-Peak-5-year-Housing-Land-Supply-April-2021/pdf/High_Peak_5_year_Housing_Land_Supply_April_2021.pdf?m=1645518690143
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/7175/High-Peak-5-year-Housing-Land-Supply-April-2021/pdf/High_Peak_5_year_Housing_Land_Supply_April_2021.pdf?m=1645518690143
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/7175/High-Peak-5-year-Housing-Land-Supply-April-2021/pdf/High_Peak_5_year_Housing_Land_Supply_April_2021.pdf?m=1645518690143


May 2022 

6 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

A4. 

 

You are meeting housing delivery targets  

 
 

Disagree See commentary for A2. 

A5. 

Your plan policies are on track to deliver other plan objectives including 

any (i) affordable housing targets; and (ii) commercial floorspace/jobs 
targets over the remaining plan period. 
 
 

 
 

Disagree i) Affordable Housing 

 
Whilst providing an appropriate mix of housing types, sizes and tenures in 
sustainable and accessible locations that meets the needs of all  residents in 
the Borough is a plan objective, the Local Plan does not contain an affordable 

housing target for the plan period.  The 2014 SHMA’s estimate of affordable 
housing needs for the Borough indicates that High Peak has a net annual need 
of 878 dwellings per annum (dpa) based on the gross household formation 

approach.  It is clearly not possible to deliver this level of affordable housing, 
particularly as the annual housing requirement set out in the Local Plan is only 
350 dpa. 
 

Looking at affordable housing completion trends in the Council’s Annual 
Monitoring Reports since the Local Plan was adopted: 
2016/17 – 49 
2017/18 – 44 

2018/19 – 118 
2019/20 – 23  
2020/21 – 45  

 
18% of housing completions in 2020/21 were for affordable units. 
 
ii) Commercial Floor Space 

 
Looking at new employment floor space completion trends in the Council’s 

P
age 86



May 2022 

7 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

Annual Monitoring Reports since the Local Plan was adopted, there have been 

significantly more floorspace losses than gains for B Class uses : 
 2014-17 – 2459m2 completed [however a net loss of 10733m2 when 

floorspace losses also taken into account] 
 2017/18 – 2746m2 completed [no losses] 

 2018/19 – 403.58m2 completed [however 3823.42m2 net loss 

overall] 
 2019/20 – 6181.9m2 completed [2278.9m2 net gain overall  after 

deducting losses] 

 2020/21 – 9618m2 completed (4150m2 net gain after losses) 

 
The Local Plan makes provision for an additional 35.6ha of employment land 
by 2031.  A majority of the employment allocations in the plan are not coming 
forward.  The issues vary depending on location but the principal reason is that 

most of the allocated sites are too complex/time consuming for a business to 
develop themselves (multiple ownerships, ransom strips etc). This means that 
there isn’t an easy option of buying the land and then submitting a planning 

application – and that is even where a business has the capacity/desire and 
money to build their own – many would simply prefer a turn-key option with 
immediate availability.  Some land-owners may have unrealistic expectations 
on land values and delivery. 
 

New employment floor space coming forward tends to be in the countryside 
on ‘windfall’ sites , for example Pennine Aggregates between Buxton and Dove 

Holes.  Harpur Hill  and Chapel -en-le-Frith have also seen completions on 
windfall  sites. 
  
The Local Plan also includes support for the provision of additional retail 

convenience space at New Mills and Harpur Hill as part of a Local Centre.  The 
Council recently resolved to approve an application for a mixed-use scheme, 
including an Aldi foodstore at the Harpur Hill  Local Centre.  
 

 

P
age 87



May 2022 

8 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

A6. 

 

There have been no significant changes in economic conditions which 

could challenge the delivery of the Plan, including the policy 
requirements within it. 
 
 

 

Disagree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources):  
As explained above, there are issues with lack of delivery of the employment 
sites allocated in the Local Plan and delivery of B class floorspace in general 
over the plan period.  Feedback has indicated that the Local Plan is not 

meeting the needs of some of the businesses who wish to expand or relocate 
to other premises in the Borough.  Concerns have been expressed with the 
Local Plan in terms of there being insufficient sites available for industry to 

grow and remain in High Peak.  
 
Emerging employment development requirements from the Housing and 
Economic Land Needs Assessment indicates a  quantitative decline in needs.  
 
Where businesses wish to move to more modern premises, they are tending to 
move out of the Borough to neighbouring areas which can cater for this need, 
such as Greater Manchester and Cheshire East.  Sites in these areas tend to be 

easier for them to develop, i.e. of an appropriate size, flat and with the ability 
to buy a single-land option with an on-board developer.  
 

Feedback indicates that some existing businesses in High Peak are having to 
constrain their growth due to lack of suitable sites in the Borough to meet 
their needs.  Some are investing in second sites (primarily in Stockport or 
Poynton/Cheshire East).  However, there is clearly a risk that they will  move 

out of the Borough.  There is also a lack of quality ‘ready-made’ office buildings 
in the Borough to suit smaller IT / High Tech Businesses and companies are 
looking outside the Borough to fulfi l  this requirement. 

 
Although any long-term impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic are unknown, it 
may have longer term implications such as the demand for office space and 
home-working opportunities. The current Local Plan is based on a jobs growth 

scenario, which for the reasons given is not now being realised.  Also, as 
explained above, in the response to A2, the current annual housing need for 
the Borough is significantly lower than the annual housing requirement in the 
Local Plan.   

   
Unless a sustainable balance between housing and employment growth can be 

P
age 88



May 2022 

9 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

achieved, this may lead to an increase in out-commuting. This is l ikely to be to 

neighbouring Greater Manchester (where 30% of High Peak residents work 
according to the Council’s Growth Strategy) and Cheshire East, leading to more 
pressure on infrastructure like road congestion and congestion on rail  l inks.  
This will  also impact upon air quality – (a recent AQMA has been designated on 

the A57 linking Glossop to Tameside) and on climate change in general. 
 

A7. 

 

There have been no significant changes affecting viability of planned 
development. 
 

 

Agree  Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 
sources): 
 

The Council’s Infrastructure Funding Statements, shows that the 30% 
affordable housing target for larger sites is generally being achieved with 
current schemes such as Leek Road, Buxton, Batham Gate Road, Peak Dale and 
Hayfield Road, New Mills demonstrating this.   

 
The IFS also shows the current position with other developer requirements 
and from the information provided these appear generally deliverable. In 

2020/21, £540,669.22 was secured through S106 agreements on 
developments across the Brough for infrastructure. This included over £80k 
towards education from the Forge Works development and £319k towards 
education, £43k towards highways and c.£65k towards open space from the 

Hayfield Road, New Mills scheme.  

P
age 89



May 2022 

10 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

A8. 

Key site allocations are delivering, or on course to deliver, in accordance 

with the local plan policies meaning that the delivery of the spatial 
strategy is not at risk. 
 
 

Disagree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources): 
 
Key site allocations have generally delivered to date.  In terms of spatial 
distribution, the AMR 2020/21 data shows that since 2011, 36% of the housing 

completions have been in Glossopdale, 19% in Buxton and 44% in the Central  
Area.  It is notable that Buxton completions are lagging behind the other sub-
areas at present.  However, there are several large sites in the Harpur Hill  area 

of Buxton that will  help to address this trend in the short term. 
 
The Council has taken a pro-active approach to delivery through its 
‘Accelerated Housing Delivery’ programme which targets 6 of the allocated 

sites all  in the ownership or part ownership of the Council.  Two of these – 
Granby Road B/Land west of Tongue Lane and Market Street Depot are in 
Buxton.  Work is ongoing to secure development of these sites.  
  

However, there is sti l l a risk that delivery may tail  off in the future.  The target 
of 350 housing completions per annum, was exceeded in 2017/18 and 2018/19 
but has dropped to 249 in 2020/21.  This decline may in part due to the impact 

of the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
Some of the more complex sites l ike Paradise Street, Adderley Place and Land 
off Melandra Castle Road Glossop, Padfield Main Road, Hadfield, Market 
Street, West of Tongue Lane/Granby Road B and Hogshaw Site have not yet 

come forward.  Most of these are owned by the Borough Council, who are 
undertaking work (such as soft market testing and Homes England funding) to 
help bring them forward.  The construction of the Fairfield roundabout will 
help to unlock the sites clustered to the north of Buxton. However, the recent 

advice regarding nutrient neutrality is l ikely to mean that sites without full  
planning consent in the Buxton area will  experience delay and additional 
development costs to mitigate phosphate output to the River Wye. This could 

undermine the viability of some sites.  
 
There has been a lack of progress on a couple of small sites allocated in the 
Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan – Pickford Meadow and Park Road 

Factory and Bungalow. 

P
age 90



May 2022 

11 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

  A9. 

 

 

There have been no significant changes to the local environmental or 

heritage context which have implications for the local plan approach or 
policies.  
 

Disagree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources): 
 
The detail  given below explains that there have been significant changes  in the 
local environmental context since the Local Plan was adopted.  

 
A Climate Change Emergency has been declared by the Council  
 

 Two Air Quality Management Areas  have been designated in Glossopdale. 
 
Nutrient neutrality must now be demonstrated by developments within the 
catchment of the Peak District Dales SAC (River Wye). 

 
The 2021 Environment Act introduces a mandatory requirement for 10% bio-
diversity net gain from development from late 2023.  
 

Local Plan policy requires strengthening to reflect these designations , prove an 
appropriate policy response and to ensure mitigation measures for future 
development.   

 
The Environment Agency point out that flooding events have recently occurred 
in High Peak and the Council would need to update its Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment as part of any review of the Local Pl an.  All  of these factors could 

influence future patterns of development in High Peak.  In terms of heritage, 
the new Heritage Action Zone for Buxton Town Centre could be incorporated 
into Local Plan policy as well as reference to the specific heritage assets . For 

instance, Melandra Castle is now on the Heritage at Risk Register. 
 
 

P
age 91



May 2022 

12 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

A10. 

 

There are no new sites that have become available since the finalisation 

of the adopted local plan which require the spatial strategy to be re-
evaluated.  
 
 

Agree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources): 
 
Although there have been some windfalls on larger sites in High Peak, they are 
not vast sites and certainly not large enough to undermine the spatial strategy.   

 
A Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment is underway to 
assess the potential capacity of sites for both housing and employment uses 

which may identify some opportunities. 

 A11. 

 

Key planned infrastructure projects critical to plan delivery are on track 

and have not stalled / failed and there are no new major infrastructure 
programmes with implications for the growth / spatial strategy set out in 
the plan. 

 
 

Agree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources): 
 
Critical infrastructure generally is considered to be on track. 

  
The A6 roundabout at Fairfield is essential to support housing and 
employment land allocations in the current Local Plan at Hogshaw, Tongue 
Lane and Granby Road. The roundabout was approved by DCC in 2020 and 

construction is due to commence.  
 
The A57 link road project (formerly known as the Trans -Pennine Upgrade) is 

identified in the current Local Plan as a scheme which may address traffic 
issues on the A57 and A628. The project is classified as a Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Project (NSIP) for which a Development Consent Order (DCO) 
application is currently being considered by the Planning Inspectorate 

following the end of the recent examination. The Inspector must submit their 
recommendations to the SoS by 16

th
 August. The SoS will  then determine the 

application.  
 

Developer contributions towards infrastructure deemed necessary to support 
the Local Plan such as improvements to local schools and local highways 
improvements such as the fiveways junction in Buxton have been collected in 

l ine with policy and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  
 
However, other measures such as improvements identified in the 2014 A6 

P
age 92



May 2022 

13 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

Corridor Study (additional parking at stations etc.) has yet to come forward. 

Work is ongoing to determine and deliver improvements to the 
Glossop/Hadfield l ine, including the scope for Gamesley Station.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 93



May 2022 

14 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

A12. 

 

 

All policies in the plan are achievable and effective including for the 

purpose of decision-making. 
 
 
 

Disagree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources): 
 
In order to assess the effectiveness of plan policies for decision making, 
feedback has been sought from colleagues who use the policies e.g. 

Development Management and Legal.  They have identified issues with some 
of the policies including suggested minor wording amendments for clarity, 
updates to reflect changing circumstances (e.g. impacts of COVID-19, new 

designations l ike HAZ in Buxton) and identification of policies which could be 
amended so that they work more effectively. 
 
Policies which could be amended so they work more effectively 

 
Feedback received indicates that wording in Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) could 
be more pro-active to make a difference.  Currently, it is not clear what the 
policy requirements are and the BREEAM standards have not been used.  It is 

considered that in connection with the Council declaring a ‘Climate Change 
Emergency’ policy provisions should be a requirement not just encouraging / 
supporting sustainable developments .  The policy needs to be completely 

revised to ensure it is effective.  Although it is not a strategic policy, it is sti ll  an 
extremely significant part of the response to the climate change emergency.  
The wording needs to be clearer on policy requirements with objective, 
measurable standards where possible, so as to be more robustly implemented 

through development control decisions. Splitting it into separate sub-
categories to cover key themes would be appropriate, e.g. Zero carbon 
development / minimising greenhouse gas emissions in new development, 

District Heating, Renewable Energy and Climate Change Adaptation- measures 
to be resil ient to the impacts of climate change (such as retrofitting, water 
efficiency, sustainable design and construction and electric vehicle charging 
points). 

 
Feedback has indicated that policy wording could be improved to make the 
relationship between strategic policies and policies to protect the character of 
the countryside (EQ2, EQ3 and H1) clearer and more explicit.   

 
The wording in Policy H4 (Affordable Housing) could be improved.  It is 

P
age 94



May 2022 

15 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

frequently used to assess planning applications.  As well as requiring updates 

to reflect the 2021 NPPF, there is confusion with some aspects of the policy 
wording. Feedback has indicated that there is a need to change/check the size 
of the site area included as a threshold for 20% affordable housing. There is 
confusion around whether to use the site size or dwelling number to assess 

applications.  It is also considered that the Policy should provide additional 
detail  and clarification on the bedspace criterion and commuted sum 
calculation.   

 
Policy H5 (Rural Exceptions Sites) has been raised as an area of concern by 
policy users.  The AMR shows that there have been no applications submitted 
for rural exceptions sites for the last two monitoring periods, however officers 

are concerned that the scale of development under this policy requires 
clarification.  They consider that schemes of 30+ dwellings are not appropriate 
as exceptions schemes and query whether a size threshold should be included 
in the policy.  They also query whether applicants should be asked to provide 

information on which RSL is involved and the fundi ng in place. 
 
Town centres and retail ing is seeing rapid change which is l ikely to be 

accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Policy CF1 (Retail  and Town Centres) 
in l ine with national policy seeks to maintain and enhance the vitality and 
viability of town centres.  Feedback indicates that a lot of applications are 
being received for changes of use in the town centres so flexibil ity would be 

welcomed to allow for more of a mix of uses.  It has been suggested that 
alternative uses should be welcomed where it adds vitality and footfall  to the 
centre.  For example, new leisure, office, food/drink and clean micro-

manufacturing uses and upper floor conversions as long as it creates jobs, 
footfall  and does not impact negatively on neighbouring retail  uses.  They also 
suggest that new build residential accommodation could be welcomed in town 
centres where it adds vitality and footfall  and would not inhibit the function of 

the area as a centre for business, leisure and retail.  The retail  core of the town 
centre may need to shrink to respond to these trends.  This would a llow for 
changes of use of peripheral/edge of area retail  units where there is no longer 
retail  demand and / or the vacancy rate is high to allow residential or other 

uses.  In the current local plan, the town centre boundaries have in many cases 
increased in size to encompass the entire retail  area of the town and as retail  

P
age 95



May 2022 

16 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

has changed, this has left small edge of centre shops long term vacant. 

Supporting these to be converted to housing improves appearance of 
gateways, reduces our vacancy rates, and would stil l  protect the central area 
as would only apply for peripheral locations.    
 

Policy CF2 (Primary Shopping Frontages) needs to be updated to reflect the 
fact that there are now so many permitted changes under the GPDO including 
the recent introduction of a new E class covering commercial, business and 

service uses, which has replaced use classes A1, A2 and A3 (amongst others).  
This change will  address some of the flexibil ity issues raised, e.g. in Buxton 
town centre there have been applications raising concentration issues which 
have not been policy compliant.  This would now no longer apply as a change 

of use between A1 and A3 is now permitted development.  Also, where the 
policy states: “Proposals for residential use at ground floor level in primary 
frontages will  not be supported” this doesn’t take into account that there are 
some permitted changes to residential.  Neither of the policies support 

housing on the upper floors of buildings in town centres and this is supported 
in the NPPF.   
 

More Minor Wording Amendments Required 
 
Internal feedback has identified that other policies in the plan would benefit 
from minor re-wording and additional points of clarification to assist with 

interpretation as well as factual updates to reflect changing circumstances.  
For example, Derbyshire County Council have stated that they would wish to 
see some minor amendments to the wording of the Adopted Plan’s policies 

relating to education provision to be carried forward into a new Local Plan to 
reflect updated information. 

P
age 96



May 2022 

17 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

A13. 

There are no recent or forthcoming changes to another authority’s 

development plan or planning context which would have a material 
impact on your plan / planning context for the area covered by your local 
plan.  
 

 

Agree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources):  
 
In November 2020, the Council consulted with all  Duty to Co-operate bodies 
relevant to High Peak.  Each body was asked whether they considered there 

were any issues the Council should consider as part of a new Local Plan in 
addition to the strategic issues previously identified in the Council’s 2014 Duty 
to Co-operate Statement which was used as evidence in the 2016 Local Plan 

Examination.  Neighbouring authorities were also asked whether they are able 
to meet their own Local Housing Needs entirely in their plan area. 
 
Of those who responded, Cheshire East, Kirklees and Greater Manchester 

Combined Authority (through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework - 
GMSF) have confirmed that they are able to meet identified housing needs in 
their plan area. The recently submitted “Places for Everyone” strategic plan for 
Greater Manchester (excluding Stockport) seeks to meet Local Housing Need 

across the plan area. 
 
Tameside MBC also request that any updated High Peak Local Plan continues 
to consider and support a full  Mottram, Hollingworth and Tintwistle by-pass 
road.  

 
High Peak Borough shares a common Green Belt boundary with the Greater 
Manchester Green Belt that adjoins it in parts of Tameside and Stockport 

Metropolitan Boroughs. Green Belt and the potential need for Green Belt 
Review is a key strategic cross-boundary issue that will  require collaboration 
between HPBC and DCC (and adjoining authorities in Greater Manchester) 
through the preparation of a new Local Plan. 

 
Cheshire East agree with the list of existing strategic issues and highlight 
ongoing work with their Local Transport Plan.  They also state that 

investigations are being undertaken with partners in relation to recorded flood 
events which took place in their area in June / July 2019 during a period of 
extreme weather and point out that sustainable water management and the 
reduction of flood risk are naturally key considerations that should be part of 

the preparation of any Local Plan. 

P
age 97



May 2022 

18 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

 
Derbyshire County Council, Derby City Council, all  the district and borough 

councils in Derbyshire (including HPBC) and the Peak District National Park 
Authority have agreed in principle to work jointly and collaboratively to 
prepare a non-statutory Strategic Planning Framework for Derby and 
Derbyshire. It is intended that the Framework will  set out a consensus of 

agreed key strategic objectives and priorities for how Derbyshire will  grow 
over the next 30 years to 2050 and will  also inform the Derbyshire local 
planning authorities’ approach to strategic iss ues in the Local Plan reviews that 
emerge in the next few years. This project was paused until  further details of 

the Government’s reforms for planning were known.  
 
Derbyshire Dales District Council and the Peak District National Park Authority 

are both in the early stages of their own respective Local Plan reviews. It is too 
early to determine if their Local Plans will have a material impact on High Peak. 
Nevertheless, co-operation will  be needed with the National Park Authority in 
particular on matters such as housing delivery, nutrient neutrality, landscape 

protection, green infrastructure and potentially biodiversity net-gain.  
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 98



May 2022 

19 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

 A14. 

 

 

There are no local political changes or a revised / new corporate strategy 

which would require a change to the approach set out in the current plan.  
 
 
 

Disagree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 

sources): 
 
High Peak Borough Council’s most recent Corporate Plan, which post-dates the 
adoption of the Local Plan. The Council declared a Climate Change Emergency 

and pledges to work towards a carbon neutral High Peak by 2030.  This is 
within the current Local Plan period (which runs to 2031).  As explained in the 
response to A12 of this document, Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) could be more 

closely aligned to the declaration.  
 
In response to the Council’s consultation with Duty to Co-operate bodies, 
Derbyshire County Council has stated that climate change should be a more 

prominent consideration in the Local Plan and should be included on the list of 
key strategic issues, recognising the need to take a county-wide approach to 
reducing emissions in l ine with the Paris Agreement and the l egal requirement 
to reduce emissions by 100% by 2050, as set out in the Derbyshire 

Environment and Climate Change Framework to which HPBC is party to. 
Aligned to this is the fact that DCC will  be developing a county-wide Natural 
Capital Strategy which has implications for biodiversity net gain that will  need 

to be reflected in the policy approach in the new Local Plan. 
 
Another theme of the Corporate Plan is an increased emphasis on thriving 
town centres.  As detailed in the response to A12, Town Centre and Retail  

Policy in the plan would benefit from an update to offer a more flexible 
approach to maintain the vitality and viability of town centres in the Borough.   
 

Another Corporate Plan priority is the increased supply of affordable housing.  
In response to A12 it is acknowledged that the Local Plan affordable housing 
policy (H4) would benefit from amendments to ensure it is working effectively.  
The response to A5 states that affordable housing completions are tail ing off in 

High Peak, though does point out that there are l ikely to be increased numbers 
coming forward as a result of recent planning approvals.  
 
The High Peak Growth Strategy was also published after the adoption of the 

Local Plan.  One of its purposes is to act as a delivery plan for some of the key 
allocations in the Local Plan to help drive investment into the High Peak 

P
age 99



May 2022 

20 

 Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement 

economy.  This is through accelerated housing and enterprise growth.  To 

accelerate the delivery of housing sites, the Growth Strategy proposes that the 
Council takes a proactive lead through the mechanism of planning (an open for 
business approach), finance (maximising the benefits of Council resources), 
inward investment and property development (cross subsidising the 

development of residential sites in the Council’s ownership).   

 
  

P
age 100



May 2022 

21 

 

ASSESSING WHETHER OR NOT TO UPDATE YOUR PLAN 
POLICIES 

YES/NO 
(please 
indicate 
below) 

 

 A15. 

You AGREE with all of the statements above 
 

 
  

No If no go to question A16.   
 

If yes, you have come to the end of the assessment.  However, you must be 
confident that you are able to demonstrate and fully justify that your existing 
plan policies / planning position clearly meets the requirements in the 

statements above and that you have evidence to support your position.  
 
Based on the answers you have given above please provide clear explanation 
and justification in section A17 below of why you have concluded that an 

update is not necessary including references to evidence or data sources that 
you have referenced above.  Remember you are required to publish the 
decision not to update your local plan policies.  In reaching the conclusion 

that an update is not necessary the explanation and justification for your 
decision must be clear, intelligible and able to withstand scrutiny. 
 

   A16. 

You DISAGREE with one or more of the statements above and the 
issue can be addressed by an update of local plan policies 

 
 
 
 

Yes  
If yes, based on the above provide a summary of the key reasons why an 

update to plan policies is necessary in section A17 below and complete 
Section B below.  
 
 

     A17. 

 

Decision: Update plan policies  
 
Reasons for decision on whether or not to update plan policies (clear evidence and justification will be required where a decision not 
to update has been reached):  
 
In light of the responses above, an update to plan policies is recommended. The housing requirement in the Local Plan differs significantly 
from the latest Local Housing Need figures and is less than the equivalent job-growth scenario in the Housing and Economic Land Needs 
Assessment. The Council can also no longer demonstrate a five year supply of housing land. There are several subjects where the 2021 
NPPF introduces new national policy which is not reflected in the Local Plan. Furthermore, whilst many other aspects of the Local Plan are 
still broadly in line with the 2021 NPPF, it is considered that some policies will benefit from an update to reflect wider changes such as the 

P
age 101



May 2022 

22 

designation of AQMAs, the Council’s declaration of a climate change and biodiversity emergency and the need to demonstrate nutrient 
neutrality in the Buxton area.  Potential amendments to the development requirements and allocations may also necessitate changes to 
the spatial strategy and wider development management policies.  
 
 
 

 
B. POLICY UPDATE FACTORS 
 

YES/NO 
(please 
indicate 
below)  

Provide details explaining your answer in the context of your plan / 
local authority area 

B1 
Your policies update is likely to lead to a material change in the 
housing requirement which in turn has implications for other plan 
requirements / the overall evidence base. 

 

YES Local housing need is 260 homes per year rather than 350 as set out in the 
adopted Local Plan.  
Conversely, the jobs growth housing scenario is higher than the Local Plan 

requirement at present.  

B2 
The growth strategy and / or spatial distribution of growth set out in 

the current plan is not fit for purpose and your policies update is 
likely to involve a change to this. 
 

NO There is no current over-riding evidence to confirm that the spatial strategy 

must be revised. However, this will  need to be kept under review in l ight of 
consideration of the availability of suitable and available sites, infrastructure 
and the implications of nutrient neutrality.  

B3 
Your policies update is likely to affect more than a single strategic 

site or one or more strategic policies that will have consequential 
impacts on other policies of the plan. 
 

YES 

The potential for new development requirements and new priorities is l ikely to 

affect the strategic policies  of the Local Plan and may have consequential 
impacts on other policies and sites.  

     
You have answered yes to one or more questions above.  YES 

You are likely to need to undertake a full update of your spatial strategy and 
strategic policies (and potentially non-strategic policies). Use your responses 

above to complete Section B4. 
 

      

 
 
You have said no to all questions (B1 to B3) above 

 
 

 

If you are confident that the update can be undertaken without impacting on 
your spatial strategy and other elements of the Plan, you are likely to only 
need to undertake a partial update of policies.  Complete Section B4 to 

indicate the specific parts / policies of the plan that are likely to require 
updating based on the answers you have given above.  

    B4 

 

Decision: Full Update of Plan Policies  
 
Reasons for scope of review:  
 

P
age 102



May 2022 

23 

 The current housing (including affordable housing) and employment land requirements can be considered out of date. A re-

assessment of development requirements and other strategic policies may have consequential impacts on other elements of the 

Local Plan and it should therefore be considered holistically.  

 Our assessment of policies and feedback from consultees suggests that several key policy areas would benefit from an update 
even when they can be considered broadly in line with the 2021 NPPF 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

May 2022 

1 

HIGH PEAK LOCAL PLAN REVIEW 

PAS LOCAL PLAN ROUTE MAPPER TOOLKIT PART 2:  LOCAL PLAN FORM & CONTENT CHECKLIST 
 
 
The following table sets out a checklist of the key requirements for the content and form of local plans as set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
This part of the toolkit deals only with the local plan content requirements specified in the NPPF. Toolkit Part 1 provides more detail on 
carrying out a review of the need to update policies within your plan.   
 
 
Key: 
New plan-making requirement of the NPPF 2019 and/or NPPF 2021 not contained within the previous 2012 version  
Revised plan-making requirement of the NPPF, containing some changes from the 2012 version 
Requirement of the NPPF which has not changed from the 2012 version in relation to plan-making 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 105



  

May 2022 

2 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 General Requirements  

1.  

Include any relevant material that is set out in a government 
policy statement(s) for the area for example a national policy 
statement(s) for major infrastructure and written ministerial 
statements. 

NPPF Para 
5, 6 

N/A for High Peak.  

2.  

Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development 
and the UN Sustainable Development Goals. 
 
 

 

NPPF Para 
7, 8, 9, 16 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Principles) sets the broad 
principles for sustainable development that frame the more specific 
policies in the Local Plan. It covers a wide range of matters to support 
sustainable communities and tackle climate change including making 
effective use of land, landscape character, the natural and historic 
environment, transport, energy efficiency, renewable energy, flood 
risk. 
 
Monitoring data indicates that the plan is supporting sustainable 
development as envisaged by Policy S1. 
 
However, some national policy requirements have evolved since Policy 
S1 was prepared. These include a stronger emphasis on setting 
minimum density standards and good design.   
 
Policy S1 is still broadly in line with the NPPF.  However, re-
consideration of the policy as part of an update to the Local Plan 
would enable it to be refined and to reflect other potential 
amendments to policy and new priorities in the Corporate plan e.g. 
tacking climate change and supporting town centres.  The UN 

P
age 106



  

May 2022 

3 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

sustainable development goals have been agreed since the Local Plan 
was adopted so these will also require incorporation into an updated 
policy.   

3.  

Apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development. NPPF Para 
11 

Results: - NPPG confirms that policy is not required – delete policy 
 
Policy S1a (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development) 
repeats the requirements set out in the 2012 NPPF.  
 
Para 11 of the 2021 NPPF states that Local Plans should reflect the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. However, the 
NPPG confirms that there is no need for a plan to directly replicate the 
wording in paragraph 11 in a policy1. 
 
The presumption in favour of sustainable development will apply 
irrespective of Local Plan policy. 

4.  

Provide a positive vision for the future; a framework for 
addressing housing needs and other economic, social and 
environmental priorities.  

NPPF Para 
15 

Results: - In line with NPPF 
 
The plan sets out a positive spatial vision for the Borough to 2031.  It 
provides a framework for: 

 maintaining the traditional Peak District character of the 
market towns and villages;  

 complementing but not competing with Greater Manchester 
and Sheffield with out-commuting reflecting a sustainable 
balance of living and working;  

                                                 
1
 NPPG, Paragraph: 036 Reference ID: 61-036-20190723 

P
age 107



  

May 2022 

4 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 enhancing prosperity through the growth of job opportunities; 

 strengthening the local economy and facilities in market towns 
and larger villages; 

 promoting the sustainability of the villages and countryside; 

 protecting and enhancing the landscape; 

 enhancing and expanding multifunctional green infrastructure; 
 maximising the use of previously developed land; 

 growing the tourist economy; 

 promoting healthy and sustainable communities; 
 improving transport facilities in Glossopdale and  

 mitigating and responding to climate change. 

 

5.  

Plans should be: 
Aspirational and deliverable 
Contain clear and unambiguous policies 
Accessible through the use of digital tools 
Serve a clear purpose avoiding duplication 

NPPF Para 
16 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise 
 
The plan is aspirational but the Council can no longer demonstrate a 
five year supply of housing. Therefore, it cannot be deemed 
deliverable at present. The policies are generally clear but feedback 
from internal colleagues has identified areas which would benefit from 
fine tuning of the wording for clarity: Policy EQ1, address the 
interrelationship between strategic policies to protect character of 
countryside reflected in policies EQ2, EQ3 and the LP inspectors bolt 
on to policy H1, Policy EQ3, Policy H1 and Policy H4.  The plan is 
accessible on the Council’s website as a PDF with the policies map on 
Aurora, an interactive map.  All plan policies serve a clear purpose, 
though Policy S1a, ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ 
repeats wording in the NPPF and could be deleted if the plan were to 
be reviewed. 

 

P
age 108



  

May 2022 

5 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 Plan Content   

6.  

Include strategic policies to address priorities for the 
development and use of land. They should set out an overall 
strategy for the pattern, scale and design quality of places. 
 

 

NPPF Para 
17, 20 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with potential 
amendments 
 
Policy S2 (Settlement Hierarchy) defines each settlement in the 
Borough as towns, larger villages, smaller villages with other places 
falling within the other rural areas based on the size and sustainability 
of the settlement to support growth, the policy also defines town and 
local centres for retail planning purposes.  
 
The new NPPF provides multiple references to support the use of 
settlement hierarchies:  
 
NPPF Para 69 – Refers to housing sites within existing settlements 
NPPF Para 72 – Refers to entry-level exception sites, suitable for first 
time buyers (or rent) unless the need for such homes is already being 
met within LPA. These sites should be on land which is not already 
allocated for housing and adjacent to existing settlements & offer one 
or more type of affordable housing. 
NPPF Para 73 – Refers to larger scale development – adjacent to 
existing villages and towns 
NPPF Para 79 – Rural housing  
NPPF Para 86 – requires Local Plans to define a network and hierarchy 
of town centres as per Policy S2. 
 
Monitoring data indicates that Policy S2 is successful in focussing 
growth in the settlements in line with the spatial strategy.  
 

P
age 109



  

May 2022 

6 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

The settlement hierarchy is considered to support sustainable 
development. However, the policy should form part of the review to 
enable full consideration of potential development opportunities in 
the context of updated assessments of development needs and land 
availability and corporate priorities to tackle climate change, support 
town centres and reflect the implications of nutrient neutrality. Covid-
19 may also lead to new patterns of development in the future. 
 
Clarification of terms such as “moderate” and “limited” would be 
beneficial to help interpretation at the application stage. 
 
Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Development) is covered in Part 10 of this 
document. 
 
Policy S5 (Glossopdale Sub-Area Strategy) sets out the strategy for the 
Glossopdale sub-area in terms of seeking to promote the sustainable 
growth of the area whilst promoting and maintaining the distinct 
identity of its settlements, providing an increasing range of 
employment opportunities, promoting the growth of a sustainable 
tourist economy and meeting the housing needs of the local 
community.   
 
Consistent with NPPF although need to update particular policy areas 
to reflect changing local circumstances, such as: 
 

 The policy does refer to delivery of the Glossop Design and 
Place-making Strategy, though the design topic will be 
carefully considered in light of new NPPF policy around the 
National Model Design Guide and Design Codes. 

P
age 110



  

May 2022 

7 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 Consider making ref to Growth Strategy  

 Update with the latest on the A57 link road (Mottram Bypass) 
(consider feeding in issues arising from Glossop Gateway 
Masterplan work on A57 corridor in particular GI, cycle 
networks, business growth opportunities.) 

 Recent Air Quality Management Area designation in Glossop 
and Hadfield. 

 Feasibility work has been undertaken for the potential new 
railway station at Gamesley and improvements on the 
Glossop/Hadfield line.   

 Latest position in relation to school capacity 

 Wording in relation to any sites which have since been 
developed (Woods Mill, Charlestown Works) 

 School capacity and specific sites included within the policy 
may have changed.  Reflect Glossopdale School Extension  

 Assess recommendations from Retail, Leisure and Town 
Centre Study for incorporation into policy e.g. ensure that 
policies have sufficient flexibility in their wording to 
accommodate a wider variety of commercial, leisure and 
residential uses in town centres to reflect changing trends. 

 Part 2 of the policy – link back to Policy S2 to explain scale of 
housing. 
 

Policy S6 (Central Sub-Area Strategy) details the strategy for the 
Central Sub area to promote the sustainable growth of the area in line 
with the settlement hierarchy and to protect the character of area. Has 
4 key themes; 
 

P
age 111



  

May 2022 

8 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 Promoting and maintaining the identity of the towns includes New 
Mills green wedge, Peak Forest tramway and GI & industrial legacy 
sites 

 Meeting housing needs, refers to mixed development at Britannia 
Mill 

 Encouraging local employment growth refers to supporting higher 
technology business and mixed use on the industrial legacy sites, 
tourism opportunities with the Buxworth Canal Basin, Peak Forest 
Canal and the Peak Forest Tramway  

 Supporting enhancements to community services and 
infrastructure and connectivity. Three sites safeguarded for 
education, support for A1 convenience store in New Mills, 
transport improvement s from A6 Corridor Study- additional 
station parking at New Mills Newtown, Chinley & Chapel, new 
station at Chapel on “Great Rocks” line and improved pedestrian 
and cycle access to/from train stations 

 
Seems generally consistent with NPPF, is specific to the Central sub 
area.  Need to update particular policy areas to reflect changing 
circumstances such as: 
 

 The policy makes no reference to design quality in the sub-
area - the design topic needs to be carefully considered in 
light of new NPPF policy around the National Model Design 
Guide and Design Codes. 

• The Growth Strategy needs reflecting in the policy. 
• Aspirations for A6 Growth Corridor 
• Focus on manufacturing, bio-pharma, aggregates & 

logistics 

P
age 112



  

May 2022 

9 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

• Latest status of sites e.g. Sites Britannia Mill & Furness 
Vale sites + canal basin 

• Heritage led regeneration Whaley Bridge Canal Basin (Goyt 
Bridge) & Torr Vale Mill 

• Also need to consider nutrient neutrality advice and the 
River Wye in conjunction with Natural England.  The 
catchment covers part of Doves Holes in the Central Area.  

 
 
Town Centres  

• The Central Area has smaller centres and need to have a 
clear role as important for providing retail, leisure 
community & business clusters for local residents 

• Need to consider potential alternative uses where it adds 
to vitality & footfall to centres through conversions of 
existing buildings for shared use, leisure, workspace or 
community uses.  

• Consider uses on edge of retail areas potential to support 
residential or other uses where no longer retail demand. 

• Town centre enhancements improved pedestrian & cycle 
connectivity in town centres (Growth Strategy) 

• Revise reference to the need for A1 convenience store in 
New Mills as this is not a recommendation in new Town 
Centres, Retail and Leisure Study. 

 
Transport Issues 

• Connectivity canal network link & cycle path to 
Manchester Velodrome. Peak Forest tramway- Dove Holes 
to Chapel (Growth Strategy) 

P
age 113



  

May 2022 

10 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

• Car parking provision at New Mills Newtown Station & 
Chapel Station (Growth Strategy) 

• South Manchester Rail Study 2019 supports station at 
Chapel reopening passenger train line, improved services 
Manchester- Buxton line (at least to New Mills) & 
Manchester–Sheffield line with potential for new line 
linking Hazel Grove to New Mills Hope Valley Fast Services 

• Outcomes from emerging A6 Corridor Study update 
  
Education 

• School capacity and specific sites allocated for education in 
the policy may have changed. 

 
Need to reference Green Infrastructure 
 
Neighbourhood Plans  

• Chapel (made) 
• Whaley Bridge (in preparation) 

 
Policy S7 (Buxton Sub-Area Strategy) sets out the strategy for the 
Buxton area in terms of protecting and enhancing its unique character, 
providing for the housing needs of the community, encouraging local 
employment opportunities and supporting its role as a service centre.  
 
Seems consistent with NPPF although need to update particular policy 
areas such as:  

 The policy does refer to implementing the Buxton Design 
and Place making Strategy, though the design topic will be 
carefully considered in light of new NPPF policy around the 

P
age 114



  

May 2022 

11 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

National Model Design Guide and Design Codes. 
• Refer to Water in Buxton SPD (to address 2 issues: 

phosphates in the River Wye & protection of supply of 
mineral water). The mineral water catchment zone is 
outdated. There are new Core and Extended Protection 
Areas which are referred to in the SPD. (More recent work 
on the Crescent identified these new areas). 

• Also need to consider nutrient neutrality advice and the 
River Wye in conjunction with Natural England.  

• Future High Street Fund & High Streets Heritage Action 
Zone Fund. 

• Focus on health and well-being and completion of The 
Crescent. 

 
Update: 

• The Crescent position 
• Design 
• Water quality and supply 
• Local Centre Harpur Hill 
• Fairfield Link road / roundabout 
• Improvements to school capacity? 
• Incorporate relevant outcomes from the forthcoming 

update of the A6 Corridor Study (due for completion in 
November 2022) 
 

7.  
Outline which policies are ‘strategic’ policies NPPF Para 

21 
Results: - In line with NPPF 
 
The chapter headings and policy prefixes clearly state which policies 

P
age 115



  

May 2022 

12 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

are strategic (S1 – S7). 

8.  

Strategic policies should look ahead over a minimum 15-year 
period from adoption. Where larger scale developments are 
proposed that form part of the strategy for the area, policies 
should be set within a vision which looks further ahead (at 
least 30 years).  

NPPF Para 
22, having 
regard to 
the 
transitional 
provisions 
at NPPF 
para 221 

Results: - In line with NPPF – Retain with amendments 
 
The plan period runs to 2031 and the plan was adopted in 2016 so the 
strategic policies look ahead for a 15-year period from adoption.  
Larger scale developments n/a in this plan. 
 
However, a plan update triggered by new development requirements 
would mean that other strategic policies would may to be revised to 
ensure that they look ahead 15 years.  

9.  

Indicate broad locations for development on a key diagram, 
and land use designations and allocations on a policies map. 

NPPF Para 
23 

Results: - In line with NPPF - Retain. 
 
A key diagram is included on page 19.  Policies maps accompany the 
Local Plan. 

10.  

Strategic policies should provide a clear strategy for bringing 
sufficient land forward, and at a sufficient rate, to address 
objectively assessed needs over the plan period. 

NPPF Para 
23 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise 
 
Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Development) sets the overall housing 
requirement for the Local Plan and the respective sub-areas. It also 
provides a breakdown of how the requirement will be met from site 
allocations, windfall allowances and neighbourhood plan 
contributions. Since the adoption of the Local Plan, the new NPPF has 
introduced new approaches to assessing housing needs, defining the 
deliverability of housing sites and measuring delivery. However, NPPF 
para. 20 still requires Local Plan to set the strategic policies for the 
area, including employment land. 
 
Although the Council has passed the Housing Delivery Test, it cannot 

P
age 116



  

May 2022 

13 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

currently demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply.  The housing 
requirement and spatial distribution of growth need to be reviewed to 
take account of the new method of assessing housing needs, any 
unmet housing needs in neighbouring areas and land availability. The 
High Peak Housing and Economic Needs Assessment has just been 
published and will inform housing policy for a new Local Plan. 
 
The definition of “deliverable” housing sites has also changed since the 
Local Plan was adopted.  
 
Policy includes NP housing requirement for Chapel.  Figures also need 
setting for Whaley Bridge and Chinley, Buxworth and Brownside 
Parishes, plus any other Neighbourhood Areas designated during the 
preparation of the Local Plan. 
 
Needs to link with policy H1.  Refers to small sites. 
 
Policy S4 (maintaining and enhancing an economic base) establishes 
the overall requirement for employment land (B1, B2 & B8 uses) 
across the Borough and for the Chapel Neighbourhood Area. The 
policy also sets out strategic priorities and vision for employment 
growth, including; support for the LEP, growth in knowledge-based 
industry, start-ups, home-working, visitor economy and rural 
diversification.   
 
NPPF para. 20 requires Local Plan to set the strategic policies for the 
area, including employment land. NPPF para 82 requires Local Plan to 
set the economic vision and strategy for the area. Policy S4 reflects 
these requirements.  

P
age 117



  

May 2022 

14 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 
Although the policy wording is in line with the NPPF, an update to the 
employment land requirement may be required to reflect any 
corresponding revision to housing needs and the new Housing and 
Economic Land Needs Assessment.  

 

11.  
Include non-strategic policies to set out more detailed 
policies for specific areas.  

NPPF Para 
18, 28 

Results: - In line with NPPF - Retain. 
 
‘Development Management’ policies are included in the plan. 

12.  

Set out contributions expected from development, and 
demonstrate that expected contributions will not undermine 
the deliverability of the Plan. 

NPPF Para 
34, 58 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain with amendments 
 
Policy CF7 (Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy) 
establishes the principle of the use of planning obligations and states 
that further guidance will be published in a Developer Contributions 
SPD (which is currently underway).  The policy also commits to review 
the Infrastructure Delivery Plan to ensure that infrastructure 
requirements are clearly identified. Work to update the IDP document 
started in March 2022 and is currently ongoing.  The potential for the 
introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy is identified – its 
introduction subject to viability and consideration by the Council.  
 
The new NPPF still identifies S106 and CIL as key funding sources for 
infrastructure and measures to address the impact of development. 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No. 2) 
Regulations 2019 now removes the pooling restrictions that previously 
limited the number of S106 agreements that could contribute towards 
a single project. 

P
age 118



  

May 2022 

15 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 
However, new NPPF and NPPG now requires more detailed 
consideration of viability at the plan making stage in order to reduce 
viability related debates during the determination of planning 
applications. 
 
The new NPPF also expects more detailed consideration of viability at 
the plan making stage. More detailed and prescriptive policy 
requirements are therefore likely to be required.  
 
More detail required in the plan or an SPD on required contributions. 
 
Policy CF3 (Local Infrastructure Provision) is intended to outline the 
strategic approach to infrastructure provision and enable necessary 
infrastructure improvements to support the borough.  
 
Appears consistent with NPPF & NPPG. NPPF para20 states that 
strategic policies should make sufficient provision for infrastructure. 
para28 states that non-strategic policies can include the provision of 
infrastructure and community facilities at a local level. Para34 
‘developer contributions’ states that plans should set out the 
contributions expected from development which includes other 
infrastructure (such as that needed for education, health, transport, 
flood and water management, green and digital infrastructure).  NPPG 
has updated planning obligations guidance.  

13.  
Local Plans and development strategies are examined to 
assess if they have been positively prepared, justified, 
effective and consistent with national policy.  

NPPF Para 
35 

Local Plan was independently examined prior to adoption. 

P
age 119



  

May 2022 

16 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 Housing  

14.  

Be informed by a local housing need assessment, conducted 
using the standard method in national planning guidance as a 
starting point. Any housing needs which cannot be met 
within neighbouring areas should also be taken into account 
when establishing the amount of housing to be planned for 
within the plan.  

NPPF Para 
61 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise 
 
Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Development) sets out the housing 
requirement for the plan period which is based on the 2014 Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).  
 
Para 61 of the NPPF states that in order to determine the minimum 
number of homes needed, strategic policies should be informed by a 
local housing need assessment, conducted using the standard method 
in national planning guidance – unless exceptional circumstances 
justify an alternative approach.  
 
The latest Local Housing Need is 260 homes per year for High Peak 
compared to 350 per annum in the Local Plan.  A new local housing 
need assessment has recently been completed which uses the 
standard method as a starting point and also considers economic 
factors. 

15.  

Identify the size, type and tenure of housing needed for 
different groups. 

NPPF Para 
62 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain with amendments 
 
Policy H3 (New Housing Development) sets out the requirements for 
new residential development which includes affordable housing, 
housing mix and space standards based on the evidence in the SHMA 
or successor documents  i.e. the new Strategic Housing and Economic 
Land Needs Assessment. 

 
Para 62 of the NPPF requires that the size type and tenure of housing 

P
age 120



  

May 2022 

17 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

needed for different groups in the community should be assessed and 
reflected in planning policies.  
 
This policy should also include consideration of the specific types of 
housing need specified in Para 62 such as students, self-build housing 
and reflect the new Strategic Housing and Economic Land Needs 
Assessment. 
 
Policy H6 (Gypsy Travellers and Travelling Showpeople). Is a criteria 
based policy informed by the findings of the Derby, Derbyshire, Peak 
District National Park Authority and East Staffordshire Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment 2015. This study is currently 
being updated to inform any future requirement. 

16.  

Where a need for affordable housing is identified, specify the 
type of affordable housing required. 

NPPF Para 
63 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise  
 
The definition of affordable housing has changed since the 2012 NPPF. 
Policy H4 (Affordable Housing) sets out types of affordable housing 
required, how affordable housing will be delivered across the borough 
and which sites will be required to make a contribution but needs 
adjusting to reflect the new definition. 

 

17.  

Expect at least 10% of the total number of homes to be 
available for affordable home ownership, unless this would 
exceed the level of affordable housing required in the area, 
or significantly prejudice the ability to meet the identified 
affordable housing needs of specific groups. A minimum of 
25% of all affordable homes should be First Homes, subject 

NPPF Para 
65 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise  
 
Policy H4 (Affordable Housing) sets out types of affordable housing 
required, how affordable housing will be delivered across the borough 
and which sites will be required to make a contribution. 
 

P
age 121



  

May 2022 

18 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

to the transitional requirements set out in the Planning 
Practice Guidance.   

There are inconsistencies with NPPF.   
 
NPPG provides guidance on how to calculate affordable housing need 
see section on ‘Housing needs of different groups’.  
 
Para 64 states that provision of affordable housing should not be 
sought for schemes that are not major developments…. Glossary 
defines ‘major’ development as 10 or more homes or sites area of 
0.5ha or more. The policy currently requires affordable housing on 
sites of 5 homes or more. In practice, the Council has already been 
applying the NPPF threshold due to this conflict. 
 
To support the re-use of brownfield land or vacant buildings 
reused/redeveloped any affordable housing should be reduced by a 
proportionate amount.  
 
Para 65 states that where major development involving the provision 
of housing is proposed at least 10% of the homes to be available for 
affordable home ownership. Exceptions are listed such as % affordable 
housing, specialist such as elderly/students, self-build.  10% affordable 
home ownership may not equate with 20% intermediate on site. 
 
Updated PPG states that to achieve ‘starter homes’ S106 affordable 
housing should not be sought.  It also states that a minimum of 25% of 
all affordable homes should be First Homes. 
 
Policy also refers to Affordable Housing SPD which needs updating.  
 
The Housing and Economic land Needs Assessment recommends a 

P
age 122



  

May 2022 

19 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

new affordable housing mix of 65% affordable rent/ 35% homes to 
purchase. This contrasts with the current mix in the Local Plan  80% 
rented accommodation / 20%  intermediate housing. Essentially, more 
affordable homes for purchase are required.  

 

18.  

Set out a housing requirement for designated neighbourhood 
areas which reflects the overall strategy for the pattern and 
scale of development and any relevant allocations. 

NPPF Para 
66 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – retain with amendments   
 
This is covered in Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Development), which 
includes the NP housing requirement for Chapel-en-le-Frith.  However, 
since the plan was adopted other parts of the Borough have decided to 
produce a plan.  Therefore, the policy needs updating to include 
figures for Whaley Bridge and Chinley, Buxworth and Brownside 
Parishes, Hayfield and Buxton (all of which have come forward since 
the adoption of the plan) plus any other Neighbourhood Areas 
designated during the preparation of the Local Plan.   

19.  

Identify a supply of specific, deliverable sites for years one to 
five of the plan period, and specific, developable sites or 
broad locations for growth, for years 6-10 and, where 
possible, for years 11-15 of the plan. 

NPPF Para 
68 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF 
 
The Council cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of 
housing land.  

20.  

Identify land to accommodate at least 10% of the housing 
requirement on sites no larger than one hectare; unless it 
can be demonstrated that there are strong reasons why the 
10% target cannot be achieved. 

NPPF Para 
69 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF 
 
Of the 32 allocated housing sites in the plan, 6 are less than 1ha (which 
equals 19%). 

 

P
age 123



  

May 2022 

20 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

21.  

Support the development of entry level exception sites, 
suitable for first time buyers, unless the need for such homes 
is already being met within the authority’s area.  

NPPF Para 
72 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF 
 
Bullet point d) of Policy H3 (New Housing Development) states: 
“Ensuring new residential development includes a proportion of 
housing suitable for newly forming local households”. 
 
Policy H5 (Rural Exception Sites) allows for affordable housing on rural 
exception sites.  Affordable housing includes intermediate housing for 
people to buy.    

22.  
Support the supply of homes through utilising masterplans, 
design guides and codes where appropriate to support larger 
scale developments.  

NPPF Para 
73 

n/a for this Local Plan.  Will be considered if applicable for a new Local 
Plan. 

23.  

Include a trajectory illustrating the expected rate of housing 
delivery over the plan period, and requiring a buffer of 10% 
where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a 
five year supply of deliverable sites through an annual 
position statement or recently adopted plan. 

NPPF Para 
74 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – revise in light of updated 
housing evidence 
 
Para 74 of the NPPF states that strategic policies should include a 
trajectory illustrating the expected rate of delivery over the plan 
period and should identify and update annually a supply of specific 
deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth 
of housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted 
strategic policies or against their local housing need where the 
strategic policies are more than five years old.  
 
A housing trajectory is included in Local Plan Appendix 2 illustrating 
the expected rate of housing delivery over the plan period.  However, 
it is now out of date. 
 
An annual housing land supply statement is provided on the Council’s 

P
age 124



  

May 2022 

21 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

website: https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/847/Monitoring  

 
The trajectory illustrating the expected rate of housing delivery over 
the plan period will need to be revised in the light of new evidence 
(see Question 14). 

 

24.  

Be responsive to local circumstances and support rural 
housing developments that reflect local needs.  

NPPF Para 
78 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with 
amendments 
 
Policy S2 (Settlement Hierarchy) sets out the types of development 
which would be allowed in larger villages and smaller villages, 
indicating that development which meets local rural needs may be 
acceptable. 
Policy EQ3 (Rural Development) sets out the strategy for managing 
new development in the rural area outside of settlement boundaries.  
It sets out the circumstances where development will be supported 
and the forms of new residential development that will be allowed. 
 
Paras 78-80 Rural Housing - supports rural exception sites to meet 
identified needs and whether some market housing justified. Housing 
should be located where it will enhance/maintain vitality. Policies 
should avoid the development of isolated homes in the countryside 
unless it meets one of the exceptions - these include ‘subdivision’ and 
‘exceptional quality design’.  
 
NPPG (Housing Needs of Different Groups para 10) provides advice on 
how need for isolated homes in the countryside for essential rural 
workers can be assessed. 

P
age 125

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/847/Monitoring


  

May 2022 

22 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 
Paras 84-85 – sites to meet local business and community needs in 
rural areas may have to be found in locations that are not well served 
by public transport.  
 
Fine tuning to the policy wording to make the policy more effective 
have been suggested by users of the policy as follows:  

 Leaves interpretation of ‘sustainable locations’ in bullet 2 open 
and a little bit vague.  Could this be defined?  Linked over to 
Policy S2? 

 Cross over with Policy E6 promoting Peak District Tourism and 
Culture.  Here it refers to ‘supporting tourism and provision for 
visitors which is appropriate to the settlements and 
countryside’. 

 Applications for new agricultural buildings. - sometimes 
difficult to understand how the size of a barn correlates with 
an increase in the number of animals.  

 Is reference to ‘help sustain agricultural enterprises’ too 
ambiguous? Should we be asking for more evidence to 
demonstrate need? Currently officers use DEFRA guidance to 
try assess scale required but can be difficult. 

 Need to consider farm diversification for employment uses – 
(micro-manufacturing, offices).  A couple of these have been 
blocked in recent years citing an increase in potential traffic 
(even though minimal) and it seems a little contrary to restrict 
this use, but to allow holiday let.  Maybe add in more flexibility 
here to support farm income and address lack of micro 
business space for businesses in rural areas? 

 The interrelationship between strategic policies to protect 

P
age 126



  

May 2022 

23 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

character of countryside reflected in policies EQ2, EQ3 and the 
LP inspectors bolt on to policy H1, the difficulty has been that 
developers ignore all these other policies when they are 
adjoining the BUAB and simply say, we adjoin. 

 
Policy H5 (Rural Exception Sites) sets out exceptional circumstances in 
which proposals for exception sites would be supported.   
 
Appears to be consistent with NPPF21 Para78.  
 
NPPG states that LPA’s can support opportunities to bring forward 
rural exceptions sites by working proactively with landowners and 
other delivery partners. 
 

25.  

Identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, 
especially where this will support local services. 

NPPF Para 
79 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with 
amendments 
 
Policy S2 (Settlement Hierarchy) sets out the types of development 
which would be allowed in larger villages and smaller villages, 
indicating that development which meets local rural needs may be 
acceptable.  (Full analysis of this policy is undertaken in paragraph 6 of 
this document). 
 
Policy EQ3 (Rural Development) sets out circumstances where rural 
development will be supported.  (Full analysis of this policy is 
undertaken in paragraph 24 – above). 
 
Policy H2 (Housing Allocations) lists sites that are allocated for 

P
age 127



  

May 2022 

24 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

housing or mixed-use development.  It appears consistent with NPPF 
and NPPG.  Housing sites are allocated in the larger villages of 
Hadfield, Chinley and Furness Vale and the smaller village of Birch 
Vale. 
 
NPPF21 para 73 (d) refers to a realistic assessment of likely rates of 
delivery, given the lead–in times for large scale sites.  Policy H2 will 
need updating to reflect the up to date position of allocated sites and 
inclusion of new sites if required. Anticipated rate of development for 
specific sites is already included in the trajectory. 
 
Council’s Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme target 6 of the 
allocated sites which are in the ownership or part ownership of the 
Council.   

26.  

Avoid the development of isolated homes in the countryside 
unless specific circumstances are consistent with those set 
out in the NPPF.  

NPPF Para 
80 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ3 (Rural Development) sets out the strategy for managing 
new development in the rural area outside of settlement boundaries.  
It sets out the circumstances where development will be supported 
and the forms of new residential development that will be allowed.  
(Full analysis of this policy is undertaken in paragraph 24 of this 
document). 
 
Policies should avoid the development of isolated homes in the 
countryside unless it meets one of the exceptions - these include 
‘subdivision’ and ‘exceptional quality design’. Could add these to HPLP 
EQ3? 

 

P
age 128



  

May 2022 

25 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 Economy  

27.  

Create conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and 
adapt. 

NPPF Para 
81 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise 
 
Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) achieves 
this by allocating employment land, supporting proposals meeting the 
strategic priorities of the LEP, encouraging and making provision for a 
greater presence of high value and knowledge based businesses in the 
plan area, encouraging and making provision for start-up businesses, 
supporting the appropriate improvement, enhancement and 
expansion of existing businesses, improving workforce skills by 
encouraging the provision of new training facilities on employment 
sites, encouraging flexible working practices, supporting new 
agricultural development and farm diversification.  
 
Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Development) makes provision for the 
amount of housing based on a jobs growth scenario. 
 
However, most of the employment allocations in the plan have stalled 
and are not coming forward. The Housing and Economic Land Neds 
Assessment also identifies new development needs for both 
employment land and housing.  
(for full policy analysis see paragraph 10 of this document) 

28.  

Set out a clear economic vision and strategy which positively 
and proactively encourages sustainable economic growth, 
having regard to Local Industrial Strategies and other local 
policies for economic development and regeneration. 

NPPF Para 
82 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise 
 
Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) sets out a 
clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively 
encourages sustainable economic growth, having regard to the 

P
age 129



  

May 2022 

26 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

strategic priorities of the Local Enterprise Partnership. 
 

The policy does not make reference to Local Industrial Strategies as 
the Draft LIS was not published at the time the plan was adopted. 
(for full policy analysis see paragraph 10 of this document) 

29.  

Set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local and inward 
investment to match the strategy and to meet anticipated 
needs over the plan period. 

NPPF Para 
82 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise 
 
Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) details 
employment land requirements in the Borough over the plan period. 
However, the policy does not make the distinction as to whether they 
are for local or inward investment. 
(for full policy analysis see paragraph 10 of this document) 

 
Policy E2 (Employment Land Allocations) identifies sites to meet the 
employment land requirements in the Borough. 

30.  

Seek to address potential barriers to investment, such as 
inadequate infrastructure, services or housing, or a poor 
environment. 

NPPF Para 
82 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy E5 (Regenerating an Industrial Legacy) seeks to maximise the 
potential of constrained employment sites where the infrastructure 
and / or premises are no longer suited to meeting the needs of 
modern businesses in their present form by encouraging 
redevelopment / reuse of sites no longer conducive to meeting the 
needs of modern businesses in their present form, stimulating 
investment on constrained sites to encourage their beneficial re-use, 
encouraging mixed use developments which retain or create 
employment opportunities on site, particularly those that support local 
economic growth sectors. 

P
age 130



  

May 2022 

27 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 
The policy may need to specify that re-use is only acceptable for uses 
that are needed in area/Borough (para 122b/123). 

 
The policy is likely to need an update to the list of sites to reflect any 
recent development. 

31.  

Be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in 
the plan, allow for new and flexible working practices (such 
as live-work accommodation), and to enable a rapid response 
to changes in economic circumstances. 

NPPF Para 
82 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise 
 
Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) includes a 
bullet “encouraging flexible working practices via home-working where 
there is no adverse impact on residential amenities, and allowing the 
development of live-work units on residential and mixed use sites”. 
 
(for full policy analysis see paragraph 10 of this document) 

32.  

Recognise and address the specific locational requirements 
of different sectors. This includes making provision for 
clusters or networks of knowledge and data-driven, creative 
or high technology industries; and for storage and 
distribution operations at a variety of scales and in suitably 
accessible locations. 

NPPF Para 
83 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 

 
Policy E2 (Employment Land Allocations) allocates land for 
employment use though it does not cover specific locational 
requirements of different sectors.  Additional policy wording would be 
required to address this. 

 
Policy E1 (New Employment Development) supports new business 
and industrial developments in sustainable locations that contribute 
towards the creation and retention of a wide range of jobs, education 
and training opportunities.   
 
The policy requires additional wording to reflect allowance for 

P
age 131



  

May 2022 

28 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

flexibility to new sectors, e.g. storage and distribution.  The policy 
needs to reference that development will also be assessed in line with 
Local Industrial Strategies (LIS) where they exist. 
 
Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) makes 
reference to specific employment sectors like high-value and 
knowledge based businesses, small-scale and start-up businesses but it 
does not detail where in the Borough these should go.  There is an 
argument that this approach could be overly restrictive for a small 
Borough like High Peak with a lot of environmental constraints so this 
would need to be carefully considered. 

33.  

Enable the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of 
business in rural areas, both through conversion of existing 
buildings and well-designed new buildings. 

NPPF Para 
84 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy E1 (New Employment Development) includes a bullet stating: 
“supporting business development within the countryside that accords 
with Local Plan Policy EQ3”. 
(for full policy analysis see paragraph 32 of this document) 

 
Policy EQ3 (Rural Development) includes two relevant bullets: 
“supporting the redevelopment of a previously developed site and / or 
the conversion of existing buildings for employment use provided it 
does not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of 
the rural area” and 
“supporting proposals for agriculture and related development which 
help sustain existing agricultural enterprises, including small scale farm 
shops selling local produce, complementary farm diversification and 
new agricultural buildings that maintain the landscape quality and 
character of the countryside” 

P
age 132



  

May 2022 

29 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

(for full policy analysis see paragraph 24 of this document) 

 

34.  

Enable the development and diversification of agricultural 
and other land-based rural businesses. 

NPPF Para 
84 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ3 (Rural Development) includes two relevant bullets: 
“supporting proposals for agriculture and related development which 
help sustain existing agricultural enterprises, including small scale farm 
shops selling local produce, complementary farm diversification and 
new agricultural buildings that maintain the landscape quality and 
character of the countryside” and 
“supporting equestrian development where it does not have an 
adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the area”. 
 
(for full policy analysis see paragraph 24 of this document) 

 

35.  

Enable sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments 
which respect the character of the countryside. 

NPPF Para 
84 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy E6 (Supporting Peak District Tourism and Culture) supports the 
development of Peak District tourism and culture by (amongst other 
things) supporting tourism and provision for visitors which is 
appropriate to the settlements and countryside and consistent with 
environmental objectives, allowing the provision of new visitor and 
cultural attractions and facilities without prejudice to the character of 
the Peak District; supporting new tourist provision and initiatives in 
towns and villages and in the countryside where proposals accord with 
Policy EQ3; and requiring that caravan, camping and chalet sites are 
sited in locations so as not to be prominent in the landscape and can 

P
age 133



  

May 2022 

30 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

be accommodated without adverse impact upon the character or 
appearance of the landscape. 

 
Consider whether the policy needs to be more positive about rural 
tourism to better reflect NPPF paragraph 84.  The third, fourth and 
fifth bullet points of the policy could make specific reference to 
‘sustainable location’. 

 
Policy E7 (Chalet Accommodation, Caravan and Camp Site 
Developments) only permits development proposals for these uses 
where the development would not have a prominent and adverse 
impact on the character and appearance of the immediate or wider 
landscape and any visual impact would be well screened and any 
permanent structures would not be visible even during winter months 
when viewed from areas outside the sites to which the public has 
access. 
 
It may be appropriate to clarify that Policy E6 would also apply. 

 

36.  

Enable the retention and development of accessible local 
services and community facilities, such as local shops, 
meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, 
public houses and places of worship. 

NPPF Para 
84 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF - retain 

 
Policy CF5 (Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and 
Facilities) seeks to ensure that facilities and services that provide for 
the needs of the community are retained and improved where 
possible and allows for new facilities in accessible locations. 
 
Appears consistent with NPPF21. Para 93 (c) guards against the 
‘unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where 

P
age 134



  

May 2022 

31 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day 
needs’. NPPG doesn’t seem to specifically include reference to this 
area. 

37.  

Recognise that sites to meet local business and community 
needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or 
beyond existing settlements, and in locations that are not 
well served by public transport. 

NPPF Para 
85 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ3 (Rural Development) includes the following bullet: 
“supporting rural employment in the form of home working, 
commercial enterprises and live-work units where a rural location can 
be justified.” 
(for full policy analysis see paragraph 24 of this document) 
 
Policy CF5 (Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and 
Facilities) includes a bullet stating: 
“new facilities should preferably be located within defined built up 
areas where they are most accessible.  In exceptional cases facilities 
may be located adjacent to these areas where it can be demonstrated 
that this is the only practical option and where a site is well related 
and connected to the existing settlement.” 
 
Policy CF6 (Accessibility and Transport) includes bullets stating: 
“ensuring the development of social, cultural and community facilities 
in locations that allow for ease of access by multiple methods of 
transportation” & “requiring that facilities are well related to public 
transport infrastructure and provide high standards of accessibility to 
all sectors of the community”. 
 
Need to ensure that the wording of these policies are consistent and 
reflect Para 85 of the NPPF.  

P
age 135



  

May 2022 

32 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 
(For full policy analysis, see paragraph 36 of this document) 

38.  Town centres  

39.  

Define a network and hierarchy of town centres and promote 
their long-term vitality and viability. 

NPPF Para 
86 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy S2 (Settlement Hierarchy) defines each settlement in the 
Borough as towns, larger villages, smaller villages with other places 
falling within the other rural areas based on the size and sustainability 
of the settlement to support growth, the policy also defines town and 
local centres for retail planning purposes. (The policy is fully reviewed 
in paragraph 6 of this document). 
 
The NPPF provides multiple references to support the use of 
settlement hierarchies.  In relation to town centres, NPPF Para 86 – 
requires Local Plans to define a network and hierarchy of town centres 
as per Policy S2. 
 
The new High Peak Retail, Town Centres and Leisure Study (2022) 
reviews the town centre hierarchy set out in the LP and recommends 
that this should be retained going forward. 
 
Clarification of terms such as “moderate” and limited” would be 
beneficial to help interpretation at the application stage. 

 
Policy CF1 (Retail and Town Centres) sets out how the Council will 
seek to maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of town centres 

P
age 136



  

May 2022 

33 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

and local centres (as defined in the plan) in accordance with their 
function, scale and identified development needs. 
 
The wording is consistent with 2021 NPPF (paras. 86-91). 
 
However, the policy wording will need updating to reflect the 
outcomes of the new retail study/ deletion of references to the old 
retail study in the context of any new allocations / need / thresholds. 
 
Mention Future High Street Fund in Buxton in supporting text.  Also, 
mention latest trends regarding the High Street / Town Centres.  
Update details about catchment zones etc. with data from new retail 
study. 
 
Monitoring data shows that all the High Peak Town Centres are below 
the national average retail unit vacancy rates.  However, there may be 
more surplus floorspace after the COVID 19 lockdown period if 
businesses decide not to re-open.  (This monitoring data will follow in 
the 2021 AMR).  Therefore, more flexibility is likely to be required in 
the policy wording, though any changes will be supported by evidence. 

40.  

Define the extent of town centres and primary shopping 
areas, and make clear the range of uses permitted in such 
locations. 

NPPF Para 
86 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy CF1 (Retail and Town Centres) defines the extent of the town 
centres and Buxton Primary Shopping Area by making reference to the 
policies maps.  The wording also makes clear the range of uses 
permitted in such locations. (For full policy analysis see paragraph 39 
of this document). 
 

P
age 137



  

May 2022 

34 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

The new retail study makes recommendations regarding town centre 
boundaries and primary shopping areas which would also be 
considered when reviewing the policy. 
 
The wording is consistent with 2021 NPPF (paras. 86-91). 

41.  

Retain and enhance existing markets and, where appropriate, 
re-introduce or create new ones. 

NPPF Para 
86 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Markets are not specifically referred to in the ‘Retail and Town 
Centres’ policy, though they do exist in High Peak and this is reflected 
in the settlement hierarchy set out in Policy S2, with market towns 
being the top tier.  Also, Policy S5, covering the Glossopdale Sub-area 
makes reference to “supporting the refurbishment and enhancement 
of Glossop Market Hall”.  If the plan is reviewed consideration will be 
given to the specific inclusion of markets in the town centres policy. 

42.  

Allocate a range of suitable sites in town centres to meet the 
scale and type of development likely to be needed, looking at 
least ten years ahead.  

NPPF Para 
86 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy CF1 (Retail and Town Centres) allocates sites as recommended 
by the Council’s Retail Study, looking at least 10 years ahead from the 
start of the plan period. (For full policy analysis see paragraph 39 of 
this document).  The new retail study covers the period to 2041 and 
recommendations from this document will need to be incorporated 
into future policy. 

43.  

Where suitable and viable town centre sites are not available 
for main town centre uses, allocate appropriate edge of 
centre sites that are well connected to the town centre.  

NPPF Para 
86 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy CF1 (Retail and Town Centres) – policy wording fulfils these 
requirements.  In New Mills the need for additional A1 convenience 
floorspace has been identified but no town centre or edge of centre 

P
age 138



  

May 2022 

35 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

site has been allocated.  Therefore, the policy states that: ‘out of 
centre proposals will therefore be supported in accessible locations 
that are well connected to New Mills Town Centre by public transport 
and which comply with the impact and sequential tests set out in this 
policy.’  In Harpur Hill the policy allows for a mix of town centre uses of 
less than 2500m2 in total - within the local centre defined on the 
policies map. (For full policy analysis see paragraph 39 of this 
document). 
 
(NB new retail evidence is now available and recommendations from 
this document would be incorporated into a revised policy). 

44.  

Recognise that residential development often plays an 
important role in ensuring the vitality of centres and 
encourage residential development on appropriate sites. 

NPPF Para 
86 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – revise  
 
Residential development in town centres is not covered in Policy CF1.  
In order to comply with the NPPF, the policy would benefit from 
wording promoting housing on upper floors in primary shopping areas 
and other parts of the town centre where vitality and viability of the 
centre would not be jeopardised.  (For full policy analysis see 
paragraph 39 of this document). 

45.  Healthy and safe communities  

46.  

Achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which promote 
social interaction, are safe and accessible, and enable and 
support healthy lifestyles.   

NPPF Para 
92 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – but would benefit from 
separate new policy covering ‘Health and Wellbeing’. 
 
This topic is mentioned in several plan polices - S1 (Sustainable 
Development Principles) and CF3 (Local Infrastructure Provision).  
Health and wellbeing is also reflected in the key themes and spatial 
vision for the Local Plan.  However, as this subject has evolved in a 

P
age 139



  

May 2022 

36 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

planning context in the last five years and is now more prominent, it 
may be appropriate to assess the need for a stand-alone policy to 
cover health and well-being. 

 

47.  

Plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, 
community facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, 
sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses 
and places of worship) and other local services to enhance 
the sustainability of communities and residential 
environments. 

NPPF Para 
93 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF - Retain. 
 
Policy CF5 (Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and 
Facilities) seeks to ensure that facilities and services that provide for 
the needs of the community are retained and improved where 
possible.  The policy wording includes ‘supporting proposals which 
protect, retain or enhance existing community facilities including multi 
use and shared schemes…..’  Policy wording appears consistent with 
NPPF21. 
(For full policy analysis see paragraph 36 of this document) 

48.  

Take into account and support the delivery of local strategies 
to improve health, social and cultural well-being for all 
sections of the community. 

NPPF Para 
93 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy CF3 (Local Infrastructure Provision) is intended to outline the 
strategic approach to infrastructure provision and enable necessary 
infrastructure improvements to support the borough.  

 
Policy wording includes: ‘supporting the proposals that help to deliver 
the Derbyshire Health and Well-being Strategy’. 
 
(For full policy analysis see paragraph 12 of this document) 

 

49.  
Guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and 
services, particularly where this would reduce the 

NPPF Para 
93 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 

P
age 140



  

May 2022 

37 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs. Policy CF5 (Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and 
Facilities) seeks to ensure that facilities and services that provide for 
the needs of the community are retained and improved where 
possible.  Monitoring data indicates that the policy has been successful 
in limiting losses of facilities and those that were lost were 
demonstrated to be no longer commercially viable and had similar 
facilities nearby in line with the policy wording.  
 
(For full policy analysis see paragraph 36 of this document) 

50.  

Ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able 
to develop and modernise, and are retained for the benefit 
of the community. 

NPPF Para 
93 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF - retain 
 
Policy CF5 (Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and 
Facilities) seeks to ensure that facilities and services that provide for 
the needs of the community are retained and improved where 
possible.  The policy allows for multi-use and shared community 
facilities to come forward.  Monitoring data indicates that the policy 
has been successful in achieving planning permission for improvement 
of existing facilities or the provision of new facilities. A small number 
(7) resulted in losses - the majority related to uses that were 
demonstrated to be no longer commercially viable and there were 
similar facilities nearby. 
 
(For full policy analysis see paragraph 36 of this document) 

51.  

Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of 
housing, economic uses and community facilities and 
services. 

NPPF Para 
93 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF - retain 
 
Policy CF5 (Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and 
Facilities) requires new facilities to be located ‘preferably within 
defined built up areas where they are most accessible.  In exceptional 

P
age 141



  

May 2022 

38 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

cases facilities may be located adjacent to these areas where it can be 
demonstrated that this is the only practical option and where a site is 
well related and connected to an existing settlement.’ 
 
(For full policy analysis see paragraph 36 of this document) 

52.  
Consider the social, economic and environmental benefits of 
estate regeneration. 

NPPF Para 
94 

N/A for High Peak 

53.  

Plan positively to meet school place requirements and to 
encourage development which will widen choice in 
education.  

NPPF Para 
95 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
The sub-area strategy policies, S5 (Glossopdale), S6 (Central Area) and 
S7 (Buxton) all include a commitment to work with partner 
organisations to enable improvements to school capacity in that area.  
The details set out in the policies will need revisiting with the 
Education Authority to ensure they are still relevant for that area. 

54.  

Work proactively and positively with promoters, delivery 
partners and statutory bodies to plan for public service 
infrastructure.  

NPPF Para 
96 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
The sub-area strategy policies, S5 (Glossopdale), S6 (Central Area) and 
S7 (Buxton) all include a commitment to work with partner 
organisations to enable improvements to infrastructure in that area.  
The details set out in the policies will need revisiting with the relevant 
organisations to ensure they are still applicable for that area. 

55.  

Promote public safety and take into account wider security 
and defence requirements. 

NPPF Para 
97 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 

 
Policy EQ6 (Design and Place Making) requires all development to be 
well designed and of a high quality that responds positively to both its 
environment and the challenge of climate change, whilst also 

P
age 142



  

May 2022 

39 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

contributing to local distinctiveness and sense of place. 
 
Monitoring of Policy EQ6 shows that it is a key policy for assessing the 
impact of the development on residential amenity, the surrounding 
area and where appropriate the host building as part of planning 
applications and subsequent appeals. 
 
The importance of design standards is emphasised in the new NPPF.  
The creation of high-quality buildings and places is ‘fundamental’ to 
what the planning and development process should achieve.  Revised 
NPPG has also recently been published as well as a national design 
guide. 
 
It would be appropriate to amend the policy to further reflect the 
strength of wording set out in the NPPF.   
 
Also, although the policy requires that developments are designed to 
minimise opportunities for anti-social or criminal behaviour and 
promote safe living environments, it does not go as far as taking into 
account wider security and defence requirements and it would be 
appropriate to add in wording to cover this issue. 

 

56.  

Provide open space, sports and recreational facilities which 
meets the needs of the local area. Consider how they can 
deliver wider benefits for nature and support efforts to 
address climate change. 

NPPF Para 
98 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy CF4 (Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities) sets out how 
the Council will protect, maintain and where possible enhance open 
space, sports and recreation facilities. It sets out the approach to 
developer contributions and also designates land as Local Green Space 

P
age 143



  

May 2022 

40 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

in accordance with the sub-area strategies. 
 
Appears consistent with NPPG.  NPPF 21 adds the consideration of 
how open space, sports and recreational facilities can deliver wider 
benefits for nature and support efforts to address climate change.  
Amendments to policy wording to take this into consideration should 
be considered. 
 
Policy CF4 requires updating to reflect updated evidence base and 
standards: bullet 2 refers to the ‘Peak Sub Region Open Space, Sport 
and Recreation Study 2012 and successor documents’ and bullet 3 
refers to the standards in the above document. 

57.  

Protect and enhance public rights of way and access. NPPF Para 
100 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Sub-area strategy policies for Glossopdale, Central Area and Buxton 
(S5, S6 and S7).  Each of these policies includes sustainable transport 
solutions for those parts of the Borough which walking and cycle 
routes. (see paragraph 6)  
Policy EQ8 (Green Infrastructure) seeks to develop, protect and 
enhance networks of Green Infrastructure and states it will protect & 
extend existing long distance trails and development of Greenways in 
accordance with West Derbyshire and High Peak Greenway Strategy 
and with partnership working help create better access routes linking 
settlements to the surrounding countryside for tourism and 
recreation. Need to prepare a GI Strategy. 
Policy CF6 (Accessibility and Transport) seeks to promote sustainable 
forms of transport and includes the following bullet: ‘promoting the 
maintenance and introduction of appropriate facilities to support 

P
age 144



  

May 2022 

41 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders, ensuring that development 
supports the use of local cycleway and pathway networks to improve 
choice of travel and ensuring safe access to developments on foot and 
by bicycle. Policy could refer to access to the countryside. 
The following Strategic Development Site policies include reference to 
protecting or enhancing existing public rights of way or access. 
DS1 Woods Mill promotes the development of a riverside path and 
links to the town centre Manor Park and existing footpaths 
DS17 Land at Hogshaw references provision of pedestrian and cycle 
routes 

58.  Transport  

59.  

Should actively manage patterns of growth in support of 
objectives in Para 104. Significant development should be 
focused on locations which are/can be made sustainable. 
Opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions 
will vary between urban and rural areas - this should be 
taken into account in plan-making.  

NPPF Para 
105 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy S2 (Settlement Hierarchy) defines each settlement in the 
Borough as towns, larger villages, smaller villages with other places 
falling within the other rural areas based on the size and sustainability 
of the settlement to support growth. 
 
Sub-area strategy policies for Glossopdale, Central Area and Buxton 
(S5, S6 and S7) are also relevant.  Each of these policies includes 
sustainable transport solutions for those parts of the Borough. 
 
(For full policy analysis of all policies mentioned see paragraph 6 of this 
document) 

60.  

Support an appropriate mix of uses across an area, and 
within larger scale sites, to minimise the number and length 
of journeys needed for employment, shopping, leisure, 

NPPF Para 
106 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 

 
Policies S2, S5, S6 and S7 as described above include the hierarchy for 

P
age 145



  

May 2022 

42 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

education and other activities. development in the Borough and a mix of uses in each sub-area.  This 
ensures that most new development takes place in the towns and 
larger settlements to minimise the number and length of journeys 
needed to access employment and other facilities. 

 
(For full policy analysis of all policies mentioned see paragraph 6 of this 
document) 

61.  

Identify and protect, where there is robust evidence, sites 
and routes which could be critical in developing 
infrastructure to widen transport choice and realise 
opportunities for large scale development. 

NPPF Para 
106 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy S5 (Glossopdale Sub-area Strategy) includes a bullet point 
stating: 
“working with partner organisations and developers to address 
congestion along the A57 and A628 to improve transport links to 
surrounding areas and to enable transport improvements and 
mitigation measures identified in the High Peak Transport Study and in 
the Trans Pennine Feasibility Study (subject to further consideration).  
Transport Assessments in support of developments in the Glossopdale 
area should be scoped with Highways England and the highway 
authority in order to determine whether the assessment should 
consider impacts on the A57 / A628 junction and to identify mitigation 
measures as appropriate.” And another bullet stating: 
“protecting land for a new railway station at Gamesley as identified on 
the Policies Map.  This includes land for access and parking.” 
Policy S6 (Central sub-area Strategy) includes a bullet point stating: 
“Working with partner organisations and developers to enable 
transport improvements and mitigation measures identified by the A6 
Corridor Study and the High Peak Transport Study including:- 
additional parking to serve New Mills Newtown, Chinley and Chapel-

P
age 146



  

May 2022 

43 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

en-le-Frith Railway stations; new railway station at Chapel-en-le-Frith 
on ‘Great Rocks’ line; and improved pedestrian and cycling access to / 
from train stations in the Central Area. 
Policy S7 (Buxton Sub-area Strategy) includes: 
“safeguarding the route of the proposed Fairfield Link Road as 
identified on the Policies Map.  The road will provide access to new 
development at Hogshaw and Fairfield.  The road will be funded by 
developer contributions.”  It also includes “Working with partner 
organisations and developers to enable transport improvements and 
mitigation measures identified by the A6 Corridor Study and the High 
Peak Transport Study including:- additional parking to serve Buxton 
Station on land to the north of Station Road and improved pedestrian 
and cycling access to / from Buxton Station.” 
(For full policy analysis of all policies mentioned see paragraph 6 of this 
document) 

62.  

Provide for attractive and well-designed walking and cycling 
networks with supporting facilities such as secure cycle 
parking (drawing on Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plans). 

NPPF Para 
106 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy CF6 (Accessibility and Transport) includes the following bullet: 
‘promoting the maintenance and introduction of appropriate facilities 
to support cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders, ensuring that 
development supports the use of local cycleway and pathway 
networks to improve choice of travel and ensuring safe access to 
developments on foot and by bicycle.’  The word ‘secure’ in the 
context of cycle parking is not used but the policy could be amended 
to address this. 

63.  
Provide for any large-scale transport facilities that need to be 
located in the area and the infrastructure and wider 
development required to support their operation, expansion 

NPPF Para 
106 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
(See response to Part 61 – ABOVE) 

P
age 147



  

May 2022 

44 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

and contribution to the wider economy. 

64.  
Recognise the importance of maintaining a national network 
of general aviation airfields. 

NPPF Para 
106 

N/A for High Peak 

65.  

Provide adequate overnight lorry parking facilities, taking 
into account any local shortages. 

NPPF Para 
109 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – new requirement to be considered 
in next plan review 
 
The Local Plan is not in line with this as it is a new requirement in the 
NPPF and has not previously been considered.  It will be as part of any 
plan review. 

66.  

In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in 
plans, it should be ensured that: appropriate opportunities to 
promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been 
– taken up, given the type of development and its location; 
safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all 
users, the design of streets, parking areas, other transport 
elements and the content of associated standards reflects 
current national guidance including the National Design 
Guide and the National Model Design Code; and any 
significant impacts from the development on the transport 
network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway 
safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable 
degree.   

NPPF Para 
110 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 

 
When considering allocation options for the emerging 2016 Local Plan, 
officers considered issues of resultant congestion around potential 
sites. As this work is now dated, this will need to be refreshed in the 
light of potential new allocations. 
 
Policy CF6 (Accessibility and Transport) already contains expectations 
that schemes are located where the highway network can satisfactorily 
accommodate traffic generated by the development, be integrated 
within existing or proposed transport infrastructure etc.  However, the 
requirement that the design of streets, parking areas and other 
transport elements and content of associated standards reflects the 
National Design Guide and National Model Design Code is not covered 
in the policy as this post-dates it. 

P
age 148



  

May 2022 

45 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

67.  

Development should only be prevented on highways grounds 
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, 
or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe.  

NPPF Para 
111 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 

 
Policy CF6 (Accessibility and Transport) doesn’t refer to the “severe” 
test explicitly. It is considered that the 4th and 15th bullets (which 
expect development schemes’ traffic impacts to be reasonably 
absorbed by existing highway networks without reference to any 
residual impacts being acceptable) need to be amended slightly to 
reflect para 111 NPPF. 

68.  Communications  

69.  

Support the expansion of electronic communications 
networks, including next generation mobile technology (such 
as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections, setting out how 
high-quality digital infrastructure is expected to be delivered 
and upgraded over time.  

NPPF Para 
114 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy CF3 (Local Infrastructure Provision) is intended to outline the 
strategic approach to infrastructure provision and enable necessary 
infrastructure improvements to support the borough.  The policy 
includes the following wording: ‘supporting improvements to 
telecommunications and high-speed broadband infrastructure that 
does not have an inappropriate impact on the landscape or 
townscape’.  This is broadly compliant with para. 114 though it could 
perhaps be worded more positively.  Consideration could be given to 
increasing requirements in this respect if the Local Plan is reviewed. 

 

70.  Making effective use of land  

71.  

Promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for 
homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the 
environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. 

NPPF Para 
119 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with 
amendments 
 
Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Principles) sets the broad 

P
age 149



  

May 2022 

46 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

principles for sustainable development that frame the more specific 
policies in the Local Plan. It covers a wide range of matters to support 
sustainable communities and tackle climate change including making 
effective use of land, buildings and brownfield land, landscape 
character, the natural and historic environment, transport, energy 
efficiency, renewable energy, flood risk. However, some national 
policy requirements have evolved since Policy S1 was prepared. These 
include a stronger emphasis on setting minimum density standards 
and good design. Could be stronger emphasis on safe and healthy 
living conditions. (See paragraph 46). 
 
Policy S2 (Settlement Hierarchy) sets out the types of development 
which would be allowed in towns larger villages and smaller villages, 
indicating development should be focused in the main towns and 
larger settlements to promote sustainable development and to protect 
the countryside. (see paragraph 6). 
Policy S3 sets the overall housing requirement for the Local Plan and 
the respective sub-areas. It also provides a breakdown of how the 
requirement will be met from site allocations, windfall allowances and 
neighbourhood plan contributions. (see paragraph 10). 
Policy S4 (maintaining and enhancing an economic base) establishes 
the overall requirement for employment land (B1, B2 & B8 uses) 
across the Borough and for the Chapel Neighbourhood Area. (see 
paragraph 10). 
Policy EQ2 (Landscape Character) sets out how the Council will seek to 
protect, enhance and restore the landscape character of the plan area 
for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to the economic, 
environmental and social well-being of the Borough. Most of the policy 
wording is in line with NPPF, however the word ‘restore’ does not 

P
age 150



  

May 2022 

47 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

appear in the NPPF 21.  NPPF Para 174 – refers to ‘protect and 
enhance ‘ only. 
Policy EQ3 Rural Development sets out the strategy for managing new 
development in the rural area outside of settlement boundaries. (see 
paragraph 24).  
Policy EQ6 Design & Place Making requires all development to be well 
designed and of a high quality that responds positively to both its 
environment and the challenge of climate change, whilst also 
contributing to local distinctiveness and sense of place. Design is a key 
principle in the NPPF.  Additional references around increased 
densities, health and well-being and outstanding or innovative design 
and possibly enabling increased use of electric vehicles by designing in 
charging points into new schemes would be beneficial to reflect latest 
national policy and advice from Environmental Health regarding air 
quality.  The policy could provide more emphasis on the need to 
ensure healthy and safe living conditions. 

72.  

Set out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively 
assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible 
of previously-developed or ‘brownfield’ land. 

NPPF Para 
119 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF 
 
Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Principles) sets the broad 
principles for sustainable development that frame the more specific 
policies in the Local Plan. It covers a wide range of matters to support 
sustainable communities Making effective use of land, buildings and 
reuse of brownfield land. 
Policy S3 sets the overall housing requirement for the Local Plan and 
the respective sub-areas. It also provides a breakdown of how the 
requirement will be met from site allocations, windfall allowances and 
neighbourhood plan contributions. A number of the site allocations 
are brownfield or mixed use sites. 

P
age 151



  

May 2022 

48 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

S6 – (Central Sub-area Strategy Policy) details the strategy for the 
Central Sub area to promote the sustainable growth of the area in line 
with the settlement hierarchy and to protect the character of area. 
Includes reference to mixed use development at Britannia Mill and 
encouraging mixed use development on the industrial legacy sites. 

73.  

Encourage multiple benefits from both urban and rural land, 
including through mixed use schemes and taking 
opportunities to achieve net environmental gains. 

NPPF Para 
120 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with 
amendments  
 
EQ5 (Biodiversity) recognises the importance of protecting sites for 
biodiversity and the need to identify local ecological networks. Policy 
only refers to net gain “where possible”. 
Policy EQ8 (Green Infrastructure) seeks to develop, protect and 
enhance networks of Green Infrastructure and states it will protect & 
extend existing long distance trails and development of Greenways in 
accordance with West Derbyshire and High Peak Greenway Strategy 
and with partnership working help create better access routes linking 
settlements to the surrounding countryside for tourism and 
recreation. Policy could refer to air quality/healthy lifestyles  & 
biodiversity. GI projects could be used as offsite biodiversity net gain. 
There is a need to prepare a GI Strategy. 
Policy CF6 (Accessibility and Transport) seeks to promote sustainable 
forms of transport and includes the following bullet: ‘promoting the 
maintenance and introduction of appropriate facilities to support 
cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders, ensuring that development 
supports the use of local cycleway and pathway networks to improve 
choice of travel and ensuring safe access to developments on foot and 
by bicycle. Policy could refer to access to the countryside.   

P
age 152



  

May 2022 

49 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

74.  

Recognise that some undeveloped land can perform many 
functions, such as for wildlife, recreation, flood risk 
mitigation, cooling/shading, carbon storage or food 
production. 

NPPF Para 
120 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with 
amendments.  
 
Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) Policy was not prescriptive but sought to 
encourage/support sustainable forms of development. Does not 
reference undeveloped land or food production. It is considered that 
in connection with the Council declaring a ‘Climate Change Emergency’ 
policy provisions should be a requirement not just encouraging / 
supporting sustainable developments.  The policy needs to be revised 
and the wording needs to be clearer on policy requirements. (See 
paragraph 91). 
Policy EQ3 (Rural Development) sets out the strategy for managing 
new development in the rural area outside of settlement boundaries 

Supports proposals for agriculture and related development which 
help sustain existing agricultural enterprises. Policy could be amended 
to refer to food production and new agricultural development.  
EQ5 (Biodiversity) recognises the importance of protecting sites for 
biodiversity and the need to identify local ecological networks. Need to 
refer to biodiversity net gain. 
Policy EQ8 (Green Infrastructure) details requirements for 
protecting/enhancing GI including wildlife corridors. Refers to climate 
change and flood risk management and allotments. (See paragraph 
73). 
Policy EQ11 (Flood Risk Management) includes reference to 
development reinstating the natural floodplains, retaining 
watercourses and SUDS “making use of the role that trees, woodland 
and other green infrastructure can play in flood alleviation and water 
quality control.” (see paragraph 91). 
Policies could be strengthened to recognise the role of undeveloped 

P
age 153



  

May 2022 

50 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

land. 

75.  

Give substantial weight to the value of using suitable 
brownfield land within settlements for homes and other 
identified needs, and support appropriate opportunities to 
remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or 
unstable land. 

NPPF Para 
120 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with 
amendments 
 
Policy E5 (Regenerating an Industrial Legacy) identifies a number of 
constrained employment sites and encourages their redevelopment. 
Some of which are within settlements. The policy is likely to need an 
update to the list of sites to reflect any recent development. 
Policy H1 (Location of Housing Development) sets out how housing 
provision will be facilitated, how housing supply will be monitored and 
where the council will give consideration to approving other 
sustainable housing sites. Includes specific reference to “Promoting 
the effective reuse of land by encouraging housing development 
including redevelopment, infill, conversion of existing dwellings and 
the change of use of existing buildings to housing, on all sites suitable 
for that purpose.” Policy could specifically refer to brownfield land.  
Policy EQ10 (Pollution Control and Unstable Land) states the Council 
will protect people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and 
polluted environments by ensuring new developments avoid potential 
adverse effects or effects are mitigation. Wording could be changed to 
more weight to the value of improving  despoiled, degraded, derelict, 
contaminated or unstable land. 

76.  
Promote and support the development of under-utilised land 
and buildings. 

NPPF Para 
120 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with 
amendments  
 

P
age 154



  

May 2022 

51 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Principles) sets the broad 
principles for sustainable development that frame the more specific 
policies in the Local Plan. It covers a wide range of matters to support 
sustainable communities including making effective use of land, 
buildings and brownfield land. 
Policy E5 (Regenerating an Industrial Legacy) identifies a number of 
constrained employment sites and encourages their redevelopment. 
The policy is likely to need an update to the list of sites to reflect any 
recent development. 
Policy H1 (Location of Housing Development) Includes specific 
reference to “Promoting the effective reuse of land by encouraging 
housing development including redevelopment, infill, conversion of 
existing dwellings and the change of use of existing buildings to 
housing, on all sites suitable for that purpose.” Does not refer to 
support the development of under-utilised land and buildings. 
Wording could be changed. 

77.  

Support opportunities to use the airspace above existing 
residential and commercial premises for new homes. 

NPPF Para 
120 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – needs revising 
 
Residential development in town centres is not covered in Policy CF1.  
In order to comply with the NPPF, the policy would benefit from 
wording promoting housing on upper floors in primary shopping areas 
and other parts of the town centre where vitality and viability of the 
centre would not be jeopardised.  (For full policy analysis see 
paragraph 39 of this document). Policy H1 does not refer to airspace 
above existing properties. Consideration needs to be given as to 
whether this would be appropriate in the Plan area. 

78.  
Reflect changes in the demand for land. NPPF Para 

122 
Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF  
 

P
age 155



  

May 2022 

52 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Land Development) states housing 
delivery will be in accordance with a Housing Implementation Strategy 
reviews of the SHLAA and progress monitored in the Annual 
Monitoring Report (AMR). 
Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) states the 
provision of employment land and floorspace will be monitored 
annually. 
Policy H1 (Location of Housing Development) states the Council will 
monitor housing delivery through the AMR and its housing trajectory. 
Chapter 7 details how the Plan will be implemented and monitored 
including monitoring indicators and targets. 
Policies could include details of which monitoring indicators would 
lead to consideration of a review of polices if there was a change in the 
demand for land. 

79.  

Support development that makes efficient use of land, taking 
into account the need for different types of housing and 
other forms of development, local market conditions, the 
availability and capacity of infrastructure and services, the 
character and setting of the area, and the importance of 
securing well-designed, attractive and healthy places.   

NPPF Para 
124 

See paragraphs 12, 15, 55, 71, 80 

 

80.  

Avoid homes being built at low densities where there is an 
existing or anticipated shortage of identified housing needs, 
and where appropriate include the use of minimum density 
standards. Area-based character assessments, design guides, 
design codes and masterplans are appropriate tools to use to 
help to ensure land is used efficiently while also creating 
beautiful and sustainable places.  

NPPF Para 
125 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – needs revising 

 
Whilst the Plan supports the effective use of land (see paragraph 71) 
there is no reference to minimum density standards in the Plan or 
considering density levels in relation to housing delivery.  Also, 
consideration would need to be given to the use of area-based 
character assessments, design guides, design codes and masterplans, 

P
age 156



  

May 2022 

53 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

where appropriate. 

81.  Design  

82.  

Set out a clear design vision and provide maximum clarity 
about design expectations through the preparation of design 
codes or guides consistent with the National Design Guide 
and National Model Design Code, and which reflect local 
character and design preferences. Design codes and guides 
can either form part of a plan or be supplementary planning 
documents.  

NPPF Para 
127, 128 & 
129 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ6 (Design and Place Making) requires all development to be 
well designed and of a high quality that responds positively to both its 
environment and the challenge of climate change, whilst also 
contributing to local distinctiveness and sense of place. 
 
Monitoring of Policy EQ6 shows that it is a key policy for assessing the 
impact of the development on residential amenity, the surrounding 
area and where appropriate the host building as part of planning 
applications and subsequent appeals. 
 
The importance of design standards is emphasised in the new NPPF.  
The creation of high-quality buildings and places is ‘fundamental’ to 
what the planning and development process should achieve.  Revised 
NPPG has also recently been published as well as a national design 
guide. 
 
It would be appropriate to amend the policy to further reflect the 
strength of wording set out in the NPPF.   
 
Additional references around increased densities (para 130c), health 

P
age 157



  

May 2022 

54 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

and well-being (para 130f) and outstanding or innovative design (para 
134b) and possibly enabling increased use of electric vehicles by 
designing in charging points into new schemes (para 112) would be 
beneficial to reflect latest national policy and advice from 
Environmental Health regarding air quality.  Also making it clear that 
bad design will be refused as per NPPF para.134.  Reference to the 
National Design Guide would be appropriate in supporting text and the 
use of design codes requires consideration. 

83.  

Ensure that developments will function well and add to the 
overall quality of the area, are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping, are sympathetic to local character and history, 
including the surrounding built environment and landscape 
setting, establish or maintain a strong sense of place, 
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and 
sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development, and 
create places that are safe, accessible and inclusive.   

NPPF Para 
130 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ6 (Design and Place Making) covers these points but to 
further strengthen the wording, would benefit from the amendments 
listed above. 

84.  

Ensure new streets are tree-lined, that opportunities are 
taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments, that 
appropriate measures are in place to secure the long-term 
maintenance of newly-planted trees, and that existing trees 
are retained wherever possible.  

NPPF Para 
131 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 

 
Policy EQ9 (Trees, woodland and hedgerows) – policy currently 
requires new developments where appropriate to provide tree 
planting and soft landscaping including where possible the 
replacement of any trees that are removed at a ratio of 2:1.  The policy 
would require amending to include a reference to tree lined streets 
and measures to secure the long-term maintenance of newly planted 
trees. 

85.  Green Belt  

P
age 158



  

May 2022 

55 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

86.  

Ensure proposals for new Green Belts demonstrate why 
development management policies would not be adequate, 
any major changes in circumstances to warrant the creation 
of a new Green Belt, the consequences for sustainable 
development, the need for Green Belt to support adjoining 
areas, and how new Green Belt would meet other objectives 
of the Framework.  

NPPF Para 
139 

N/A (No new Green Belt areas proposed in the plan). 

87.  

Establish the need for any changes to Green Belt boundaries, 
having regard to their intended permanence in the long 
term, so they can endure beyond the plan period. Even when 
exceptional circumstances are demonstrated strategically to 
take land out of the Green Belt, it is still necessary to 
demonstrate that exceptional circumstances exist at the site 
level. 

NPPF Para 
140 

N/A (No new Green Belt areas proposed in the plan).  It is not known 
at this stage whether a review of green belt boundaries will be 
necessary for a future plan. 

88.  

Give first consideration to land which has been previously-
developed and/or is well-served by public transport, 
including increasing density within town and cities centres. 
Set out the ways in which the impact of removing land from 
the Green Belt can be offset through compensatory 
improvements to the environmental quality and accessibility 
of remaining Green Belt land. 

NPPF Para 
141 & 142 

N/A (No new Green Belt areas proposed in the plan).  It is not known 
at this stage whether a review of green belt boundaries will be 
necessary for a future plan. 

89.  

Where Green Belt boundaries are being defined, they should 
be clearly outlined and be consistent with the plan’s strategy 
for meeting identified requirements for sustainable 
development.  

NPPF Para 
143 

N/A (No new Green Belt areas proposed in the plan).  It is not known 
at this stage whether a review of green belt boundaries will be 
necessary for a future plan. 

90.  Climate change, flooding and coastal change  

P
age 159



  

May 2022 

56 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

91.  

Take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to 
climate change, taking into account the long-term 
implications for flood risk, coastal change, water supply, 
biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating from 
rising temperature. 

NPPF Para 
153 

Results: - Not in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
It is considered that in connection with the Council declaring a Climate 
Change Emergency policy provisions should be strengthened reflect 
the priority the Council has regarding climate change. 
Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Principles) sets the broad 
principles for sustainable development that frame the more specific 
policies in the Local Plan. It covers a wide range of matters to support 
sustainable communities and tackle climate change including making 
effective use of land, buildings and brownfield land, landscape 
character, the natural and historic environment, transport, energy 
efficiency, renewable energy, flood risk. However, some national 
policy requirements have evolved since Policy S1 was prepared. These 
include a stronger emphasis on setting minimum density standards 
and good design and climate change. 
 

Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) approach based on the energy hierarchy. 

States the Council will adopt strategies to mitigate and adapt to 

climate change, will plan new development in locations and ways that 

reduce carbon emissions and will adopt the principles in the energy 

hierarchy. Policy was not prescriptive but sought to 

encourage/support sustainable forms of development.  The policy 

needs to be revised to ensure it is more effective.  Although it is not a 

strategic policy, it is still an extremely significant part of the response 

to the climate change emergency.  The wording needs to be clearer on 

policy requirements. To assist with this, the Council will use the 

Derbyshire Climate Change guidance note and assessment tool 

metrics.  These are due for completion in Summer 2022.  They have 

P
age 160



  

May 2022 

57 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

been prepared by the Climate Change and Planning Officer sub group 

of Vision Derbyshire.  The guidance note will provide an evidence base 

to inform the development of local plan policy.  The note identifies 

opportunities for the future policy to be both more aspirational and 

specific than contained in the current Local Plan and the metrics is an 

assessment tool to indicate the degree development proposals have 
included climate change mitigation. 

EQ5 (Biodiversity) recognises the importance of protecting sites for 
biodiversity and the need to identify local ecological networks. Policy 
does not refer to biodiversity net gains.  (Refer to paragraph 98 of this 
document for details of evidence base work going forward).  

Policy EQ8 (Green Infrastructure) details requirements for 
protecting/enhancing GI including wildlife corridors. Refers to climate 
change and flood risk management and allotments. (See paragraph 
73). 
Policy EQ11 (Flood Risk Management) includes reference to 
development reinstating the natural floodplains, retaining 
watercourses and SUDS “making use of the role that trees, woodland 
and other green infrastructure can play in flood alleviation and water 
quality control.” (see paragraph 94).  

92.  
Support appropriate measures to ensure the future resilience 
of communities and infrastructure to climate change 
impacts. 

NPPF Para 
153 

As above. 

93.  
Increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon 
energy and heat by providing a positive strategy for energy 
from these sources, identifying suitable areas for renewable 

NPPF Para 
155 

As above. 

P
age 161



  

May 2022 

58 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

and low carbon energy sources, and identifying opportunities 
for development to draw its energy supply from 
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply 
systems and for co-locating potential heat customers and 
suppliers. 

94.  

Manage flood risk from all sources and apply a sequential, 
risk based approach to the location of development. 

NPPF Para 
160 & 161 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policies with 
amendments 
 
Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Principles) a strategic policy 
requiring (amongst other things) that all new development addresses 
flood risk mitigation / adaptation, ensuring for example that 
sustainable drainage systems are considered at the outset within 
proposals (and to comply with legislative requirements). 
 
Policy EQ11 (Flood Risk Management) manages flood risk by only 
permitting development within areas at risk from flooding if it passes 
the sequential test (as per the NPPF) and the most vulnerable parts of 
the development are located in the areas of lowest risk, where 
necessary an exception test demonstrates that the proposed 
development can be accommodated with an acceptable degree of 
safety, a site specific FRA shows the site is adequately protected from 
flooding / the scheme has adequate flood defences or flood risk 
management measures, it does not damage or inhibit existing flood 
defence and flood risk management structures / measures and will not 
cause or worsen flooding on the site or elsewhere.  Culverting of a 
watercourse will not normally be permitted, wherever possible SUDS 
will be expected to contribute towards wider sustainable 
considerations. 

P
age 162



  

May 2022 

59 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 
Policy EQ11 is broadly in line with retained position of NPPF except: 
• Amend section on SUDS to express that these will be expected 
“where appropriate”, or similar to reflect NPPF para 168 which 
requires that major developments should incorporate suds (unless 
inappropriate).  
 
The policy doesn’t specify any thresholds and states where possible. 
Also refers to technical guidance to NPPF which has now been 
replaced by the NPPG so this needs updating. 
Policy could expand on surface water run off. 

95.  

Steer new development to those areas with the lowest risk of 
flooding from any source. If this is not possible, the exception 
test may have to be applied, informed by the potential 
vulnerability of the site and of the development proposed. 
Where this is the case, sites needs to demonstrate that the 
development would provide wider sustainability benefits 
outweighing the flood risk and that the development would 
be safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere 
(and where possible will reduce flood risk overall).  

NPPF Para 
162, 163, 
164 and 
NPPF Annex 
3 

As above.  Ensure that this is integrated into Policy EQ11. 

96.  
Avoid inappropriate development in vulnerable areas and 
not exacerbating the impacts of physical changes to the 
coast. 

NPPF Para 
171 

N/A High Peak is not a coastal area. 

97.  Natural environment  

98.  
Contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 
by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of 

NPPF Para 
174 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 

P
age 163



  

May 2022 

60 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

biodiversity or geological value and soils, recognising the 
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 
wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services.   

Policy EQ2 (Landscape Character) sets out how the Council will seek to 
protect, enhance and restore the landscape character of the plan area 
for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to the economic, 
environmental and social well-being of the Borough. 
 
Most of the policy wording is in line with NPPF, however the word 
‘restore’ does not appear in the NPPF 21 (or 2012 version).  NPPF Para 
174 – refers to ‘protect and enhance ‘only.  
 
The word ‘restore’ was added at the time the Borough Council was 
working with Derbyshire Dales on a joint plan.  Suggest deletion of this 
due to non-conformity with NPPF. 
 
NPPG (Natural Environment) 
Paragraph: 036 Reference ID: 8-036-20190721 makes reference to the 
cumulative impacts of development on the landscape needing to be 
considered carefully.  Perhaps this could be emphasised more in the 
policy and / or supporting text? 
 
Consider reflecting Historic Environment Landscape Character more in 
the policy. 
 
Policy EQ5 (Biodiversity) sets out to conserve the biodiversity and 
geological resources of the Plan Area by conserving and enhancing 
sites of international, European, and national importance and 
encouraging development to include measures to contribute positively 
to the overall biodiversity of the Plan Area.  
Policy broadly in line with retained position of NPPF except: 
 

P
age 164



  

May 2022 

61 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

NPPF para 180b states SSSI development should not normally be 
permitted except  where the benefits of the development in the 
location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact, and any 
broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest; however current EQ5 does not state this exception.  The 
policy needs to clarify when SSSI development would be acceptable. 
 
Para 174d states all decisions should minimise impacts on and provide 
net gains for biodiversity; current EQ5 does not goes as far as this.  
Policy could specify net gains in biodiversity expected in all schemes 
(even in advance of new Environment Act). 
 
Para 180c states development whose primary objective is to conserve 
or enhance biodiversity should be supported – current EQ5 does not 
specify this. 
 
The Council has recently invited Derbyshire Wildlife Trust to 
commission a Biodiversity Strategy for the High Peak area.  This will 
identify a list of sites within High Peak Borough which are considered 
optimal for the provision of off-site biodiversity net gain and provide 
recommendations for the wording of policies, such as for site 
allocations in a future Local Plan.  

99.  

Plans should: distinguish between the hierarchy of 
international, national and locally designated sites, take a 
strategic approach to maintaining and enhancing networks of 
habitats and green infrastructure, and plan for the 
enhancement of natural capital at a catchment or landscape 
scale across local authority boundaries. 

NPPF Para 
175 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ5 (Biodiversity) distinguishes between the hierarchy of 
international, national and locally designated sites. 

 
Policy EQ8 (Green Infrastructure) details requirements for 

P
age 165



  

May 2022 

62 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

protecting/enhancing GI including wildlife corridors. Refers to climate 
change. States we will work with partners to map GI network including 
ecological networks. 
 
 NPPF (2021)  
• Para 175 states that plans should take a strategic approach to 
maintaining and enhancing networks of habitats and GI. 
 
Planning Practice Guidance 
• Strategic policies should identify location of existing/proposed 
GI & policies for their protection/enhancement 
• Policies should be informed by GI Strategies which identify 
existing provision & any gaps. 
 
The Environment Act 2021 requires biodiversity gain of at least 10% to 
be a condition of planning permission in England. This 10% gain must 
be calculated using the Secretary of State’s biodiversity metric.   
 
The policy is broadly in line with NPPF.  References to air quality (NPPF 
para 186)/healthy lifestyles, climate change (NPPF para 154) & 
biodiversity. GI projects could be used as offsite biodiversity net gain. 
 
Need to prepare a GI Strategy 
 
GI needs to be referenced in the Strategic policies. Sub Area policies 
with details from new GI Strategy or details of existing GI. 

100.  
Great weight should be given to National Parks, the Broads 
and the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The scale and 

NPPF Para 
176 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 

P
age 166



  

May 2022 

63 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

extent of development within these designated 
areas should be limited. Development within their setting 
should be sensitively located and designed to avoid or 
minimise adverse impacts on the designated areas.  

Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Principles) – bullets 4 and 5  
cover taking account of the Peak District character in terms of 
landscape, townscape, roles and settings of different areas and 
settlements in the High Peak and protecting and enhancing 
surrounding areas including the PDNP.  
Policies S5, S6, S7 (Glossopdale, Central Area and Buxton sub-area 
strategies) – wording to ensure that development protects and / or 
enhances the landscape character and the setting of the PDNP. 
Policy EQ2 (Landscape Character) – requires that development 
proposals protect and / or enhance the character, appearance and 
local distinctiveness of the landscape and landscape setting of the 
PDNP. 

 
Policy wording would benefit from amendment to use the words 
‘avoid or minimise adverse impacts’ within the policy in line with NPPF 
wording. 

101.  
Conserve the special character and importance of Heritage 
Coast areas.  

NPPF Para 
178 

N/A (no coast in High Peak) 

102.  

Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich 
habitats and wider ecological networks, promote the 
conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority 
habitats, ecological networks and the protection and 
recovery of priority species, and identify and pursue 
opportunities for securing measurable net gains for 
biodiversity. 

NPPF Para 
179 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ8 (Green Infrastructure) details requirements for 
protecting/enhancing GI including wildlife corridors. Refers to climate 
change. States we will work with partners to map GI network including 
ecological networks.  Need to prepare a GI Strategy. 
 
Policy EQ5 (Biodiversity) Para 174d states all decisions should 
minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity; current 

P
age 167



  

May 2022 

64 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

EQ5 does not go as far as this.  The Environment Act 2021 requires 
biodiversity gain of at least 10% to be a condition of planning 
permission in England. This 10% gain must be calculated using the 
Secretary of State’s biodiversity metric.  Any new Local Plan policy 
would need to reflect this.   

103.  

Ensure that a site is suitable for its proposed use taking 
account of ground conditions, any risks arising from land 
instability and contamination, and the likely effects of 
pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment.    

NPPF Para 
183 & 185 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ10 – (Pollution Control and Unstable Land) protects people 
and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted 
environments by controlling developments deemed to result in air 
pollution, pollution of watercourses / groundwater, noise / vibration, 
light intrusion, land contamination or other nuisance.  It also requires 
that sites are suitable for their proposed use by taking account of 
ground conditions and land instability.   
 
Policy broadly in line with retained position of NPPF except: 

 Amend to reflect circumstances within which development 
harm to nature conservation sites may be justified. 

 

 The policy states “The Council will not permit any proposal that 
has an adverse effect on a European site” – however para 180 
NPPF sets out the limited circumstances this may be 
acceptable.  Note that recent case law from the EU Court of 
Justice (People Over Wind and Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta 
etc) clarify a position in relation to the requirement for 
appropriate assessment under the Habitats Directive when 
screening environmentally harmful schemes. 

 

P
age 168



  

May 2022 

65 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 The policy could reference Ground Water Protection Zones 
[paras 153/174(e) NPPF refers to consideration of water 
supply]. 

 

104.  

Sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant 
limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into 
account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and 
Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual 
sites in local areas.   

NPPF Para 
186 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ10 – (Pollution Control and Unstable Land) protects people 
and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted 
environments by controlling developments deemed to result in air 
pollution, pollution of watercourses / groundwater, noise / vibration, 
light intrusion, land contamination or other nuisance.  It also requires 
that sites are suitable for their proposed use by taking account of 
ground conditions and land instability.   
 
NPPF para 186 refers to Air Quality Management Areas / Clean Air 
Zones and policies should reflect them.  The Council has designated 2  
AQMAs with associated action plans in the Borough. Therefore, this 
policy (or a standalone policy) will need to be updated to clarify the 
extent of the designations; applicable limit values; and relevant policy 
actions pertaining to future development within them.   

105.  

Ensure that new development can be integrated effectively 
with existing businesses and community facilities.   

NPPF Para 
187 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
This is covered in Policy EQ6 ‘Design and Place Making’ which includes 
wording stating: 
“…Requiring that development achieves a satisfactory relationship to 
adjacent development and does not cause unacceptable effects by 
reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shadowing, overbearing effect, 

P
age 169



  

May 2022 

66 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

noise, light pollution or other adverse impacts on local character and 
amenity”. 

106.  Historic Environment  

107.  

Set out a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage 
assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats. 

NPPF Para 
190 

Results: - Broadly in line with NPPF – retain policy with amendments 
 
Policy EQ7 (Built and Historic Environment) sets out how the Council 
will conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their 
significance taking into account the desirability of sustaining and 
enhancing their significance and ensuring that development proposals 
contribute positively to the character of the built and historic 
environment in accordance with the sub-area strategies (S5, S6 and 
S7).  Particular protection is given to designated and non-designated 
heritage assets and their settings.  The policy wording is in line with 
NPPF para 190.  However, the policy would benefit from some 
amendments to reflect other paragraphs in the historic environment 
chapter of the NPPF. 

 
NPPF para 192 states that LPA’s should maintain or have access to a 
‘historic environment record. This should contain up-to-date evidence 
about the historic environment in their area’.  Mention Historic 
Environment record in policy or supporting text. 
 
The terms ‘substantial harm’ and ‘less than substantial harm’ are not 
fully explained in the policy.  Consider amending this / cross 
referencing to NPPF paras 201, 202. 
 
The policy refers to ‘local list of buildings of architectural or historic 

P
age 170



  

May 2022 

67 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

interest’. Need to update reference in policy and evidence base. 
 
Check list of Article 4 directions included in policy is still current.   
 
Mention HAZ funding for Buxton in supporting text. 
 
It is considered that the policy may benefit from being stripped back to 
include High Peak specific references only with a cross reference to the 
NPPF to cover national policy as this in an area covered in detail within 
the NPPF. 

108.  Minerals  

109.  
Provide for the extraction of mineral resources of local and 
national importance. 

NPPF Para 
210 

N/A (Derbyshire County Council and Derby City Council are responsible 
for waste and minerals plan preparation in Derbyshire (excluding the 
Peak District National Park)). 

110.  

Take account of the contribution that substitute or secondary 
and recycled materials and minerals waste would make to 
the supply of materials, before considering extraction of 
primary materials. 

NPPF Para 
210 

N/A 

111.  
Safeguard mineral resources by defining Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas and Mineral Consultation Areas. 

NPPF Para 
210 

N/A 

112.  
Encourage the prior extraction of minerals, where practical 
and environmentally feasible, if it is necessary for non-
mineral development to take place. 

NPPF Para 
210 

N/A 

113.  
Safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for: the bulk 
transport, handling and processing of minerals, the 

NPPF Para 
210 

N/A 

P
age 171



  

May 2022 

68 

 
A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF 

Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

manufacture of concrete and concrete products and the 
handling, processing and distribution of substitute, recycled 
and secondary aggregate material. 

114.  

Set out criteria or requirements to ensure that permitted and 
proposed operations do not have unacceptable adverse 
impacts on the natural and historic environment or human 
health 

NPPF Para 
210 

N/A 

115.  
Recognise that some noisy short-term activities, which may 
otherwise be regarded as unacceptable, are unavoidable to 
facilitate minerals extraction 

NPPF Para 
210 

N/A 

116.  
Ensure that worked land is reclaimed at the earliest 
opportunity, taking account of aviation safety, and that high-
quality restoration and aftercare of mineral sites takes place. 

NPPF Para 
210 

N/A 

 

P
age 172



Document is Restricted

Page 173

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 189

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 191

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Revised Corporate Enforcement Policy and Environmental Enforcement Policy
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	5 In-Person/Remote Committee Meetings Update
	6 Scrutiny Review
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	7 Review of Age Designation Accommodation & Older Persons Services Report
	Appendix A

	8 Appointment to Outside Bodies
	9 High Peak Local Plan Review
	Appendix A
	Appendix A

	12 Update on the Norse Joint Venture
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


